
CIRCULAR DATED 24 FEBRUARY 2021
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If you are in any doubt in relation to this Circular or as to the action you should take, you should 
consult your stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser 
immediately.

If you have sold or transferred all your issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company, you 
should immediately forward this Circular to the purchaser or transferee or to the bank, stockbroker, solicitor or 
other agent through whom the sale or transfer was effected for onward transmission to the purchaser or transferee. 
However, such documents should not be forwarded or transmitted to any jurisdiction outside of Singapore, 
Australia, China, Germany, Indonesia, Malaysia, New Zealand, Taiwan, Thailand and the United Kingdom.

The Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited assumes no responsibility for the correctness of any of the 
statements made, reports contained or opinions expressed in this Circular.

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 197600165Z)

CIRCULAR TO SHAREHOLDERS

in relation to the

 GENERAL OFFER 

by

W CAPITAL MARKETS PTE. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 201813270E)

for and on behalf of

EMET GRACE LTD.
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands) 

(Company Registration No.: MC-367608)

to acquire all the issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company
other than those already held, directly or indirectly, by the Offeror (as defi ned herein) 

as at the date of the Offer (as defi ned herein)

Independent Financial Adviser to the Independent Directors of the Company

PRIMEPARTNERS CORPORATE FINANCE PTE. LTD.
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No.: 200207389D)

SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD NOTE THAT THE OFFER DOCUMENT (AS DEFINED HEREIN) STATES THAT 
ACCEPTANCES  SHOULD BE RECEIVED BY THE CLOSE OF THE OFFER AT 5.30 P.M. (SINGAPORE 
TIME) ON 10 MARCH 2021, OR SUCH LATER DATE(S) AS MAY BE ANNOUNCED FROM TIME TO TIME 
BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE OFFEROR. ACCORDINGLY, SHAREHOLDERS WHO WISH TO ACCEPT THE 
OFFER MUST DO SO BY SUCH TIME AND DATE.
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DEFINITIONS

In this Circular, the following defi nitions apply throughout unless the context otherwise requires or unless 
otherwise stated:

“ACRA” : The Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority of Singapore

“Appraised Assets” : Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 9.1 of Appendix B to this 
Circular

“Business Day” : A day (other than Saturday, Sunday or a gazetted public holiday) on 
which commercial banks are open for business in Singapore

“CDP” : The Central Depository (Pte) Limited (Company Registration No.: 
198003912M), a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

“Circular” : This circular to Shareholders dated 24 February 2021 from the Company 
containing, amongst other things, the Recommendation from the 
Independent Directors to Shareholders and the advice of the IFA to the 
Independent Directors

“Closing Date” : 10 March 2021, or such later date(s) as may be announced from time to 
time by or on behalf of the Offeror, being the last day for the lodgement 
of acceptances of the Offer

“Code” : The Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers

“Companies Act” : The Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore

“Company” : Penguin International Limited (Company Registration No.: 197600165Z), 
a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and listed on the 
Mainboard of the SGX-ST

“Company Securities” : (i) The Shares; (ii) securities which carry voting rights in the Company; 
and (iii) convertible securities, warrants, options (including any options 
granted under any employee share scheme of the Company) and 
derivatives in respect of the Shares or securities which carry voting rights 
in the Company

“Constitution” : The constitution of the Company

“CPF” : The Central Provident Fund

“CPFIS” : CPF Investment Scheme

“CPFIS Investors” : Investors who purchase Shares using their CPF contributions pursuant 
to the CPFIS

“Directors” : The directors of the Company as at the Latest Practicable Date

“FAA” : Form of Acceptance and Authorisation  for Offer Shares which forms 
part of the Offer Document and which is issued to Shareholders whose 
Shares are deposited with CDP 

“FAT” : Form of Acceptance and Transfer for Offer Shares which forms part of 
the Offer Document and which is issued to Shareholders whose Shares 
are not deposited with CDP 
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“FY” : In respect of the Company, fi nancial year ended or ending (as the case 
may be) on 31 December of a particular year as stated

“FY2020 Results” : The unaudited consolidated financial statements of the Group for 
FY2020

“Group” : The Company and its subsidiaries from time to time

“IFA” : PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No.: 
200207389D), a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore and 
the independent fi nancial adviser to the Independent Directors in respect 
of the Offer

“IFA Letter” : Letter dated  24 February 2021 from the IFA to the Independent 
Directors containing, amongst other things, the advice of the IFA to the 
Independent Directors in respect of the Offer, as set out in Appendix A to 
this Circular 

“Independent Directors” : The Directors who are considered independent for the purposes of 
making the Recommendation, namely:

(i) Mr. Ong Kian Min;

(ii) Mr. Paul Tan Poh Lee;

(iii) Mr. Leow Ban Tat; and

(iv) Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong

“Independent Valuers” : The following:

(i) ALC Consulting Services Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration 
No.: 200601206K), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore;

(ii) Robert Khan & Co Pte Ltd (Company Registration No.: 
199305890G), a company incorporated in the Republic of 
Singapore; and

(iii) Muttaqin Bambang Purwanto Rozak Uswatun dan Rekan 
(Company Registration No.: 09.03.6.66.00048 ), a company 
incorporated in the Republic of Indonesia 

“Latest Practicable 
 Date”

:  1 5 February 2021 , being the latest practicable date prior to the printing 
of this Circular 

“Listing Manual” : The listing manual of the Mainboard of the SGX-ST in force as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

“Market Day” : A day on which the SGX-ST is open for trading of securities

“MGO Offer 
 Announcement”

: The announcement released by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, 
on 1 February 2021, that the Offer had been converted from a voluntary 
conditional general offer to a mandatory conditional general offer
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“Offer” : The  general offer, for and on behalf of the Offeror, to acquire all the Offer 
Shares  on the terms and subject to the conditions set out in the Offer 
Document and the Relevant Acceptance Forms

“Offer Announcement” : The announcement in connection with the  voluntary conditional cash 
offer released by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, on the Offer 
Announcement Date

“Offer Announcement 
 Date”

: 21 January 2021, being the date of the Offer Announcement

“Offer Document” : The offer document dated 10 February 2021 issued by WCM, for and on 
behalf of the Offeror, in respect of the Offer 

“Offer Price” : S$0.65 in cash for each Offer Share

“Offer Shares” : All the Shares, other than those Shares held, directly or indirectly, by the 
Offeror as at the date of the Offer

“Offeror” : Emet Grace Ltd. ( Company Registration No.: MC-367608), a company 
incorporated in the Cayman Islands

“Offeror Securities” : (i) The Offeror Shares; (ii) securities which carry voting rights in the 
Offeror; and (iii) convertible securities, warrants, options and derivatives 
in respect of the Offeror Shares or securities which carry voting rights in 
the Offeror

“Offeror Shares” : Issued  ordinary shares in the capital of the Offeror

“Overseas 
 Shareholders”

: Shareholders with neither a mailing address nor a corporate action 
mailing address in Singapore, as shown on the Register or, as the case 
may be, in the records of CDP

“Recommendation” : The recommendation in respect of the Offer as required under the Code

“Register” : The register of Shareholders maintained by the Share Registrar

“Relevant Acceptance 
 Forms”

: The FAA and/or the FAT

“SFA” : The Securities and Futures Act, Chapter 289 of Singapore

“SGX-ST” : Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (Company Registration 
No.: 197300970D), a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

“SGXNET” : A system network used by listed companies to send information and 
announcements to the SGX-ST or any other system networks prescribed 
by the SGX-ST

“SGX RegCo” : Singapore Exchange Regulation Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration 
No.: 201709600D), a company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore 

“Share Registrar” : Boardroom Corporate & Advisory Services Pte. Ltd. (Company 
Registration No.: 196800531W), a company incorporated in the Republic 
of Singapore and the share registrar of the Company located at 50 
Raffl es Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623
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“Shareholders” : The holders of Shares, including persons whose Shares are deposited 
with CDP or who have purchased Shares on the SGX-ST

“Shares” : Issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the share capital of the Company

“SIC” : The Securities Industry Council of Singapore

“SRS” : The Supplementary Retirement Scheme

“SRS Investors” : Investors who have purchased Shares using their SRS contributions 
pursuant to the SRS

“S$” : Singapore dollars, being the lawful currency of Singapore

“Valuation Reports” : The valuation reports  issued by the Independent Valuers , in relation 
to the independent valuations commissioned by the Company of the 
Appraised Assets 

 “Valuation Report 
 Extracts”

: The extracts of the Valuation Reports, as set out in Appendix F to this 
Circular 

“WCM” : W Capital Markets Pte. Ltd. (Company Registration No.: 201813270E), a 
company incorporated in the Republic of Singapore

“75% Acceptance 
Condition”

: Shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Section 8.2(a) of this Circular

“%” or “per cent.” : Percentage or per centum

Acting in Concert and Associates. Unless otherwise defi ned, the expression  “acting in concert” and 
the term “associates” shall have the same meanings as ascribed to them respectively in the Code.

Announcements and Notices. References to the making of an announcement or the giving of notice 
by the Company shall include the release of an announcement by the Company or its agents, for and on 
behalf of the Company, to the press or the delivery of or transmission by telephone, facsimile, SGXNET 
or otherwise of an announcement to the SGX-ST. An announcement made otherwise than to the SGX-ST 
shall be notifi ed to the SGX-ST simultaneously.

Depository Related Terms. The terms “Depositor”, “Depository Agent” and “Depository Register” 
shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in Section 81SF of the SFA.

Expressions. Words importing the singular shall, where applicable, include the plural and vice versa and 
words indicating a specifi c gender shall, where applicable, include the other genders (male, female or 
neuter). References to persons shall, where applicable, include corporations.

Headings. The headings in this Circular are inserted for convenience only and shall be ignored in 
construing this Circular.

Rounding. Any discrepancies in fi gures included in this Circular between the listed amounts and their 
totals are due to rounding. Accordingly, fi gures may have been adjusted to ensure that totals or sub-totals 
shown, as the case may be, refl ect an arithmetic aggregation of the fi gures that precede them.

Shareholders. References to “you”, “your” and “yours” in this Circular are, as the context so determines, 
to Shareholders (including persons whose Shares are deposited with CDP or who have purchased the 
Shares on the SGX-ST).
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Statutes. Any reference in this Circular to any enactment or statutory provision is a reference to that 
enactment or statutory provision for the time being amended, modifi ed, supplemented or re-enacted. Any 
word defi ned in the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA, or any such statutory or 
regulatory modifi cation thereof and not otherwise defi ned in this Circular shall, where applicable, have 
the meaning assigned to it under the Companies Act, the Code, the Listing Manual, the SFA or that 
modifi cation thereof, as the case may be, unless the context otherwise requires.

Subsidiary, wholly owned subsidiary and related corporation. References to “subsidiary”, “wholly 
owned subsidiary” and “related corporation” shall have the meanings ascribed to them respectively in 
Sections 5, 5B and 6 of the Companies Act.

Time and date. Any reference to a time of day and date in this Circular shall be a reference to Singapore 
time and date, unless otherwise stated.

Total Number of Shares and Percentage of Shares. In this Circular, the total number of Shares as 
at the Latest Practicable Date is  220,169,774  (based on the results of the instant information search 
of the Company dated the Latest Practicable Date conducted with ACRA). Unless otherwise specifi ed, 
all references to a percentage shareholding in the capital of the Company in this Circular are based on 
 220,169,774  Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.  

Reproduced Statements. Statements which are reproduced in their entirety or as excerpts from the 
Offer Document, the IFA Letter, the Valuation Report Extracts, the FY2020 Results and the Constitution 
are set out in this Circular within quotes and in italics, and all capitalised terms and expressions used 
within these reproduced statements and not defi ned herein shall have the same meanings ascribed to 
them in the Offer Document, the IFA Letter, the Valuation Report Extracts, the FY2020 Results and the 
Constitution respectively.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE ON FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Circular are or may be 
forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements include but are not limited to those using words 
such as “aim”, “seek”, “expect”, “anticipate”, “estimate”, “believe”, “intend”, “project”, “plan”, “strategy”, 
“forecast” and similar expressions or future or conditional verbs such as “will”, “if”, “would”, “should”, 
“could”, “may” and “might”. These statements refl ect the Company’s current expectations, beliefs, hopes, 
intentions or strategies regarding the future and assumptions in light of information available as at the 
Latest Practicable Date. Such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance or 
events and involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties. Accordingly, actual results may differ 
materially from those described in such forward-looking statements. Shareholders should not place undue 
reliance on such forward-looking statements, and the Company assumes no obligation to update publicly 
or revise any forward-looking statement.

Given the risks and uncertainties that may cause the actual results, performance or achievements of 
the Company and/or Group to be materially different than expected, expressed or implied by the 
forward-looking statements in this Circular, Shareholders are advised not to place undue reliance 
on those statements. Further, the Company disclaims any responsibility to update any of those 
forward-looking statements or publicly announce any revisions to those forward-looking statements to 
refl ect future developments, events or circumstances for any reason, even if new information becomes 
available or other events occur in the future, subject to compliance with all applicable laws and/or any 
regulatory or supervisory body or agency.
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INDICATIVE TIMETABLE

Date of despatch of Offer Document : 10 February 2021 (Wednesday)

Date of despatch of this Circular : 24 February 2021 (Wednesday)

Closing Date and Time : 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 10 March 2021, or such later 
date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on 
behalf of the Offeror, being the last day for the lodgement of 
acceptances  of the Offer.

Date of settlement of consideration 
for valid acceptances of the Offer

: In respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete 
and valid in all respects and are received on or before the 
date on which the Offer becomes or is declared to be 
unconditional in all respects, within seven (7) Business Days 
of that date.

In respect of acceptances of the Offer which are complete 
and valid in all respects and are received after the Offer 
becomes or is declared to be unconditional in all respects, 
within seven (7) Business Days of that date.
 
Please refer to paragraph 1 of Appendix IV to the Offer 
Document, for further information.
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LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)

(Company Registration Number: 197600165Z)

Directors Registered Offi ce

 Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (Executive Chairman)  18 Tuas Basin Link
Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (Managing Director) Singapore 638784
Mr. Ong Kian Min (Lead Independent and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Paul Tan Poh Lee (Independent and Non-executive Director)
Mr. Leow Ban Tat (Independent and Non-executive Director)
Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong (Finance and Administration Director)
 

24 February 2021

To: The Shareholders of the Company

Dear Sir / Madam

 GENERAL OFFER BY W CAPITAL MARKETS PTE. LTD. FOR AND ON BEHALF OF EMET GRACE 
LTD. FOR THE OFFER SHARES

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Offer Announcement. On 21 January 2021, WCM announced, for and on behalf of the Offeror, 
that the Offeror intends to make a voluntary conditional cash offer to acquire the Offer Shares at a 
price of  S$0.65 for each Offer Share.

 A copy of the Offer Announcement is available for download from SGXNET at www.sgx.com. The 
Offer Announcement was also advertised in The Straits Times on 25 January 2021.

1.2 MGO Offer Announcement. On 1 February 2021, WCM announced, for and on behalf of the 
Offeror, that:

 (a) as of the date of the MGO Offer Announcement, the total number of Shares owned, 
controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it 
amounted to 66,211,448 Shares, representing approximately 30.07% of the total number of 
Shares;

 (b) accordingly, pursuant to Rule 14.1 of the Code, the Offeror has incurred an obligation to 
make a mandatory conditional cash offer for all the Offer Shares; and

 (c) the proposed voluntary conditional cash offer by the Offeror for the Offer Shares referred to 
in the Offer Announcement shall be converted to a mandatory conditional cash offer by the 
Offeror for the Offer Shares.

 A copy of the MGO Offer Announcement is available for download from SGXNET at www.sgx.com.

1.3 Offer Document. Shareholders should by now have received a copy of the Offer Document and 
Relevant Acceptance Forms issued by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, setting out, inter 
alia, the terms and conditions of the Offer. The principal terms and conditions of the Offer are set 
out in paragraph 2 of the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to read the terms and 
conditions of the Offer set out in the Offer Document carefully.

 A copy of the Offer Document is available for download from SGXNET at www.sgx.com.
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1.4 Independent Financial Adviser. The Company has appointed PrimePartners Corporate Finance 
Pte. Ltd. as the independent fi nancial adviser to advise the Independent Directors in respect of the 
Offer.

1.5 Independent Directors.  Under the Code, the Independent Directors are required to make a 
Recommendation to Shareholders as to whether Shareholders should accept or reject the Offer.

1.6 Purpose of this Circular. The purpose of this Circular is to provide Shareholders with relevant 
information pertaining to the Offer and to set out the Recommendation of the Independent 
Directors and the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors with regard to the Offer.

 Shareholders should read the Offer Document, this Circular and the IFA Letter set out in 
Appendix A carefully and consider the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors and 
the Recommendation of the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer before deciding 
whether to accept or reject the Offer.

 If you are in any doubt in respect of this Circular or as to the action you should take, you 
should consult your stockbroker, bank manager, accountant, solicitor, tax adviser or other 
professional adviser immediately.

2. THE OFFER

2.1 Offer and Offer Shares. Subject to the terms and conditions set out in the Offer Document, the 
Offer is made by WCM, for and on behalf of the Offeror, for all the Offer Shares on the principal 
terms set out in paragraph 2 of the Offer Document, extracts of which are reproduced in italics 
below.

 Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions used in the extracts below shall have the 
same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document.

2.2 Offer Price. Paragraph 2.2 of the Offer Document states the following:

“2.2 Consideration

For each Offer Share: S$0.65 in cash (the “Offer Price”)  ”

2.3 No Encumbrances. Paragraph 2.3 of the Offer Document states the following:
 

“2.3 No Encumbrances

 The Offer Shares will be acquired (a) fully paid; (b) free from all liens, equities, mortgages, 
charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and other third party rights and interests 
of any nature whatsoever (collectively, the “Encumbrances”); and (c) together with all 
rights, benefi ts and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer Announcement Date 
and thereafter attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain all dividends, 
other distributions and return of capital which may be announced, declared, paid or 
made thereon by the Company on or after the Offer Announcement Date (collectively, the 
“Distributions”)).”

2.4 Adjustment for Distributions. Paragraph 2.4 of the Offer Document states the following:

“2.4 Adjustment for Distributions

 Without prejudice to the foregoing, the Offer Price has been determined on the basis that 
the Offer Shares will be acquired with the right to receive any Distribution that may be 
announced, declared, paid or made by the Company on or after the Offer Announcement 
Date.
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 If any Distribution is announced, declared, paid or made by the Company on or after the 
Offer Announcement Date, the Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Offer Price payable 
to a Shareholder who validly accepts or has validly accepted the Offer by an amount 
equivalent to such Distribution.”

2.5 Conditional Offer. Paragraph 2.5 of the Offer Document states the following:

“2.5  Conditional Offer

 The Offer is conditional upon the Offeror having received, by the Closing Date, valid 
acceptances in respect of such number of Offer Shares which, when taken together with 
the Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting 
in concert with it (either before or during the Offer and pursuant to the Offer or otherwise), 
will result in the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it holding such number of 
Shares carrying more than 50% of the voting rights attributable to the issued share capital 
of the Company as at the Closing Date (the “Acceptance Condition”).

 Accordingly, the Offer will not become or be capable of being declared unconditional 
as to acceptances until the Closing Date, unless at any time prior to the Closing Date, 
the Offeror has received valid acceptances (which have not been withdrawn) in respect 
of such number of Offer Shares which, when taken together with the Shares owned, 
controlled or agreed to be acquired by or on behalf of the Offeror and persons acting in 
concert with it (either before or during the Offer and pursuant to the Offer or otherwise), 
will result in the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it holding such number of 
Shares carrying more than 50% of the voting rights attributable to the issued share capital 
of the Company as at the Closing Date.

 Save for the Acceptance Condition, the Offer will be unconditional in all other 
respects.”  

2.6 Warranty. Paragraph 2.6 of the Offer Document states the following:

“2.6 Warranty

 Acceptance of the Offer will be deemed to constitute an unconditional and irrevocable 
warranty by the accepting Shareholder that each Offer Share tendered in acceptance of 
the Offer is sold by the accepting Shareholder, as or on behalf of the benefi cial owner(s) 
thereof, (a) fully paid; (b) free from all Encumbrances; and (c) together with all rights, 
benefi ts and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer Announcement Date and 
thereafter attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain all Distributions).”

2.7 Duration of the Offer. Paragraph 2.7 of the Offer Document states the following:

“2.7 Duration of the Offer

 (a) Closing Date

  Except insofar as the Offer may be withdrawn with the consent of the SIC and every 
person released from any obligation incurred thereunder, the Offer will remain open 
for acceptances by Shareholders for a period of at least 28 days from the date on 
which this Offer Document is posted.

  Accordingly, the Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 10 March 
2021 or such later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on 
behalf of the Offeror.



12

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

 (b) Offer to Remain Open for 14 Days after being Declared Unconditional as to 
Acceptances

  Pursuant to Rule 22.6 of the Code, if the Offer becomes or is declared to be 
unconditional as to acceptances, the Offer will remain open for acceptance for not 
less than 14 days after the date on which it would otherwise have closed, in order 
to give those Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer the opportunity to do 
so. This requirement does not apply if, before the Offer becomes or is declared to 
be unconditional as to acceptances, the Offeror has given notice in writing to the 
Shareholders at least 14 days before the specifi ed Closing Date that the Offer will 
not be open for acceptance beyond that date, provided that such notice may not be 
given, or if already given, shall not be capable of being enforced in a competitive 
situation. If a declaration that the Offer is unconditional as to acceptances is 
confirmed in accordance with paragraph 2(a) of Appendix IV to this Offer 
Document, such period of not less than 14 days during which the Offer shall remain 
open for acceptance will run from the date of such confi rmation, or the date on 
which the Offer would otherwise have expired, whichever is later.

 (c) Final Day Rule

  Pursuant to Rule 22.9 of the Code, the Offer (whether revised or not) will not be 
capable of becoming or being declared to be unconditional as to acceptances after 
5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the 60th day after the date that this Offer Document 
is posted or of being kept open after the expiry of such period, unless it has 
previously become or been declared to be unconditional as to acceptances, except 
with the permission of the SIC. The SIC will consider granting such permission 
in circumstances, including but not limited to, where a competing offer has been 
announced.

 (d) Revision

  Pursuant to Rule 20.1 of the Code, the Offer, if revised, will remain open for 
acceptance for a period of at least 14 days from the date of despatch of the written 
notifi cation of the revision to Shareholders. In any case, where the terms of the 
Offer are revised, the benefi t of the Offer (as so revised) will be made available to 
each of the Shareholders, including those who had previously accepted the Offer.

 (e) Subsequent Closing Date

  If there is an extension of the Offer, pursuant to Rule 22.4 of the Code, any 
announcement of an extension of the Offer will state the next closing date or if the 
Offer is unconditional as to acceptances, a statement may be made that the Offer 
will remain open until further notice. In the latter case, those Shareholders who 
have not accepted the Offer will be notifi ed in writing at least 14 days before the 
Offer is closed.

 (f) No Obligation to Extend Offer

  The Offeror is not obliged to extend the Offer if the Acceptance Condition is not 
fulfi lled by the Closing Date(s).”
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2.8 Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings. As stated in  paragraph 5 of the Offer Document, each of 
Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir and Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong has given an irrevocable undertaking 
to the Offeror, as reproduced in italics below :

“5.1 Details of the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, JHYP holds 46,792,849 Shares, representing 
approximately 21.25% of the total number of Shares and JTTC holds 666,666 Shares, 
representing approximately 0.30% of the total number of Shares. Each of JTTC and JHYP 
has executed a Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking dated 21 January 2021 in favour of 
the Offeror, pursuant to which each of them has undertaken, inter alia, to accept the Offer 
in respect of all the Shares held by him.

 Details of the Promoters’ shareholding in the Company which will be tendered in 
acceptance of the Offer by each Promoter pursuant to his Promoter’s Irrevocable 
Undertaking are as follows:

Promoter

Number of Shares to be 
tendered in acceptance 

of the Offer
Percentage of the total 

number of Shares (1)

JHYP 46,792,849(2) 21.25%

JTTC 666,666 0.30%

Total 47,459,515  21.56%

 Notes:

 (1) Based on the Company’s issued share capital of 220,169,774 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date.

 (2) Includes the WBK Shares, which were transferred by WBK to JHYP on 27 January 2021, for a nominal 
consideration of S$1.00 in aggregate.

5.2 Termination of the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings

 Each Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking will terminate or lapse if the Offer is withdrawn 
or lapses, or fails to become or be declared to be unconditional in all respects for 
whatever reason, other than due to a breach by the relevant Promoter of any of his 
obligations under such Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking.

5.3 No Other Irrevocable Undertakings

 Save for the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings, as at the Latest Practicable Date, 
neither the Offeror nor any person acting in concert with the Offeror has received any 
irrevocable undertaking from any other party to accept or reject the Offer.

5.4 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the number of Shares owned, controlled or agreed 
to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it, together with the 
total number of Shares to which the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings relate, is an 
aggregate of 69,421,748 Shares, representing approximately 31.53% of the total number 
of Shares.”

3. FURTHER DETAILS OF THE OFFER

 Appendix IV to the Offer Document sets out further details on the (a) settlement of the 
consideration for the Offer; (b) requirements relating to the announcement of the level of 
acceptances of the Offer ; and (c) right of withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer.

4. PROCEDURES FOR ACCEPTANCE

 Appendix V to the Offer Document sets out the procedures for acceptance of the Offer.
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5. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY

 The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was listed 
on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 October 1997.

 The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner and operator of 
aluminium high-speed craft. The Group owns and operates a fl eet of crewboats and passenger 
ferries, and designs and builds a variety of high-speed craft at the Group’s shipyards in Singapore 
and Batam, Indonesia. These include patrol boats, fi re fi ghting search-and-rescue vessels, 
windfarm support vessels and security vessels. 

 Additional information on the Company is set out in Appendix B to this Circular.

6. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS

 The following information on the Offeror and its shareholders has been extracted from paragraph 
4 of the Offer Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and 
expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer 
Document.

“4.1 The Offeror

 The Offeror is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands on 3 November 2020. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has an issued 
share capital of S$1,000 comprising 10,000 ordinary shares (the “Offeror Shares”), which 
are held by the shareholders of the Offeror as follows:

Shareholders of the Offeror Shareholding Percentage

Fairy, L.P. (acting by its general partner, Fairy Ltd.) 
 (the “Sponsor”)

40%

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (“JHYP”) 55%

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (“JTTC”) 5%

Total 100%

 The board of directors of the Offeror comprises JHYP, JTTC and Mr. Tan Keng Soon 
(Keith) (Founding Partner of Dymon Asia Capital Ltd. (the holding company of the Dymon 
group) and Chairman of the Dymon Asia Private Equity Investment Committee).

4.2 The Sponsor

 The Sponsor is a special purpose vehicle incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands on 9 October 2020, which is wholly-owned by Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. 
Asia) II Ltd. (as general partner for and on behalf of Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) 
Fund II, L.P.) (“Dymon Asia”). Dymon Asia is managed by Dymon Asia Private Equity 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a Singapore-based fund manager that manages Dymon Asia 
Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund, L.P., which has committed capital of S$300 million and 
Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P., a fund with commitments of US$450 
million.

4.3 The Promoters

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, JHYP and JTTC (collectively, the “Promoters” and 
each, a “Promoter”) hold an aggregate of 47,459,515 Shares, representing approximately 
21.56% of the total number of Shares, details of which are set out below:

 (a) JHYP holds 46,792,849 Shares, representing approximately 21.25% of the total 
number of Shares; and
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 (b) JTTC holds 666,666 Shares, representing approximately 0.30% of the total number 
of Shares.

 As mentioned in paragraph 4.3 of the Offer Announcement, JHYP and his wife, Mdm. 
Wong Bei Keen (“WBK”) had, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into a deed of 
undertaking in favour of the Offeror (the “Deed of Transfer”), pursuant to which WBK 
had, inter alia, irrevocably undertaken to transfer to JHYP as soon as practicable after 
the Offer Announcement Date but in any event prior to the date of despatch of this Offer 
Document, the 3,333,333 Shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd on her 
behalf (the “WBK Shares”), for a nominal consideration of S$1.00 in aggregate. As at the 
Latest Practicable Date, the WBK Shares have been transferred from WBK to JHYP and 
constitute part of the Shares held by JHYP as set out in paragraph 4.3(a). 

 As mentioned in paragraph 1 of Appendix I to this Offer Document, JHYP and JTTC are 
the directors and key management personnel of the Company.

4.4 Consortium Arrangements

 The Sponsor and the Promoters (collectively, the “Offeror Shareholders”) have agreed 
to form a consortium through the Offeror to undertake the Offer. The Offeror Shareholders 
had, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into the following arrangements 
(collectively, the “Consortium Arrangements”):

 (a) a shareholders’ agreement (the “SHA”) to, inter alia, regulate the relationship of the 
Offeror Shareholders inter se as shareholders of the Offeror and in the conduct of 
the business and affairs of the Offeror (including the Offer).

  As the Offeror and the Offeror Shareholders intend and desire that there be 
continuity of management and minimal interruption to the business of the Company, 
the Offeror and the Offeror Shareholders had agreed under the SHA that after the 
completion of the Offer and subject to the Company having been delisted following 
the completion of the Offer, the Company shall enter into a new service agreement 
(each, a “New Service Agreement”) with each Promoter. Each New Service 
Agreement will be on substantially the same terms as their respective existing 
service agreement, and will commit the relevant Promoter to a minimum initial term 
of four (4) years from the date of the New Service Agreement; and

 (b) each of the Promoters had provided an irrevocable undertaking in favour of the 
Offeror (each, a “Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking” and collectively, the 
“Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings”) pursuant to which he will undertake and/
or agree, inter alia:

  (i) to accept the Offer in respect of all the Shares held by him, details of which 
are set out in paragraph 4.3 above;

  (ii) that the total cash consideration payable by the Offeror for such acceptance 
by him in respect of the Shares held by him (each, the “Set-Off Amount” 
and collectively, the “Set-Off Amounts”) will be regarded as an interest-free 
shareholder loan extended by him to the Offeror, such that no cash 
consideration shall be payable by the Offeror to him pursuant to his 
acceptance of the Offer in respect of such Shares; and

  (iii) to waive his rights under Rule 30 of the Code to receive any cash settlement 
or payment for the acceptance of the Offer.

 Pursuant to the terms of the SHA, the Offeror Shareholders have agreed, inter alia, that:

 (A) save for the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings and the Deed of Transfer, all 
matters relating to the Offer will require the unanimous approval of the Sponsor and 
the Promoters;
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 (B) each Promoter shall contribute to the Offeror his respective shareholding 
proportion inter se of the funds that will be utilised for the Transaction (the “Total 
Commitment”) which shall comprise (1) the Set-Off Amount and (2) a cash amount 
representing the amount by which his shareholding proportion inter se of the Total 
Commitment exceeds the Set-Off Amount. The Sponsor shall contribute to the 
Offeror its shareholding proportion inter se of the Total Commitment in cash;

 (C) following the completion of the Transaction:

  (1) a portion of the Total Commitment as set out in the foregoing paragraph 
4.4(B) will be converted into additional Offeror Shares for the Sponsor and 
the Promoters in accordance with their respective shareholding proportion 
inter se; and

  (2) the remaining amount of the Total Commitment after the deduction of the 
amount set out in paragraph 4.4(C)(1) above will remain as shareholder 
loans;

 (D) save for the pledging of the Offeror Shares as security in connection with the 
(1) loans extended by the Sponsor to the Promoters to fi nance part of the Total 
Commitment and (2) external loans and credit facilities to be obtained by the 
Offeror to repay the shareholder loans described in paragraph 4.4(C)(2) above (the 
“External Financing”), each Promoter undertakes to the Sponsor that, as long as 
the Sponsor holds Offeror Shares during the period commencing on the date of the 
SHA and ending on the third (3rd) anniversary of the completion of the Transaction, 
such Promoter shall not dispose of or create encumbrances over the Offeror Shares 
that he owns without the prior approval of the Sponsor;

 (E) following the completion of the Transaction, the number of directors on the board 
of directors of the Offeror (the “Offeror Directors”) shall not be more than fi ve (5). 
Under the SHA, the Sponsor shall be entitled to request the appointment of two (2) 
Offeror Directors and the Promoters (acting jointly) shall be entitled to request the 
appointment of three (3) Offeror Directors, who shall include JHYP and JTTC; and

 (F) in the event the Company remains listed following the close of the Offer, subject to: 

  (1)  the repayment in full of the loans extended by the Sponsor and the release 
and discharge of the charges over the Promoters’ Offeror Shares in favour of 
the Sponsor as set out in paragraph 4.4(D) above; 

  (2)  the External Financing (if taken up by the Offeror) having been repaid in full 
by the Offeror; 

  (3)  all applicable laws; and 

  (4)  any instrument, contract, document or agreement to which the Offeror is a 
party or by which its assets are bound (including the SHA), 

  the Offeror Shareholders shall (at the Sponsor’s option) procure that the Offeror 
makes an in-specie distribution of all the Shares then held by the Offeror to the 
Promoters and the Sponsor in their respective shareholding proportion inter se 
by way of dividend, to the extent permitted under applicable laws (the “In-Specie 
Distribution”). Thereafter, each Promoter undertakes to the Sponsor that during 
the period commencing on the date of the completion of the In-Specie Distribution 
and ending on the fi fth (5th) anniversary of the close of the Offer, the Promoters 
shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, charge, pledge, grant an option over, or otherwise 
dispose of or create encumbrances over the Shares that they own without the prior 
written approval of the Sponsor.

 The SIC has confi rmed that the Consortium Arrangements do not constitute special deals 
for the purpose of Rule 10 of the Code.
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4.5 Shareholding in the Offeror

 The shareholding in the Offeror will be maintained at the shareholding proportions set out 
in paragraph 4.1 above until the close of the Offer.”

7. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER

 The full text of the rationale for the Offer has been extracted from paragraph 6 of the Offer 
Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions 
used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document. 
Shareholders are advised to read the extract below carefully.

“6.1 Low Trading Liquidity of Shares

 The trading volume of the Shares has been low, with an average daily trading volume1 

of approximately 173,350 Shares, 104,798 Shares, 120,123 Shares and 279,521 Shares 
during the respective one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period 
and twelve (12)-month period up to and including 18 December 2020 (the “Last Trading 
Day”), being the last full Market Day immediately before the Company released the 
announcement in respect of a possible transaction involving the Shares on 21 December 
2020 (the “Holding Announcement Date”). Each of these represents less than 0.13% of 
the total number of Shares for any of the aforementioned relevant periods.

 The Offer therefore provides Shareholders who fi nd it diffi cult to exit the Company as a 
result of the low trading volume of the Shares with an opportunity to liquidate and realise 
their investments in the Shares at a premium over the prevailing market prices which 
would otherwise not be available given the low trading liquidity of the Shares.

6.2 Offer Price at a Premium over the Last Transacted Share Price

 The Offer Price represents a premium of 30.00% over the last transacted price per Share 
of S$0.500 on 18 December 2020, being the last Market Day on which the Shares were 
transacted prior to the Holding Announcement Date.

 When compared to the benchmark prices of the Shares up to and including the Last 
Trading Day, the Offer Price also represents a premium of approximately 35.70%, 42.54%, 
44.44% and 17.54% over the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) per Share for the 
one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-month and twelve (12)-month periods, respectively.

 The Offer presents Shareholders with a clean cash exit opportunity to realise their entire 
investment in the Shares at a premium over the prevailing trading prices of the Shares 
without incurring brokerage and other trading costs.

6.3 Greater Management Flexibility

 The Offeror is making the Offer with a view to delisting the Company from the Mainboard 
of the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of compulsory acquisition that may arise under 
Section 215(1) of the Companies Act. The Offeror believes that privatising the Company 
will give the Offeror and the management of the Company more fl exibility to manage the 
business of the Company, optimise the use of its management and capital resources and 
facilitate the implementation of any operational change.

6.4 Compliance Costs of Maintaining Listing

 In maintaining its listed status, the Company incurs compliance and associated costs. In 
the event that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able to 
save on expenses relating to the maintenance of a listed status and focus its resources on 
its business operations.

1 Calculated by using the total volume of Shares traded divided by the number of Market Days with respect to the 
one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period and twelve (12)-month period respectively up 
to and including the Last Trading Day.”
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                                                                8. THE OFFEROR’S INTENTIONS REGARDING LISTING STATUS AND COMPULSORY 
ACQUISITION

8.1 Offeror’s intentions. The full text stating the Offeror’s intentions relating to the listing status 
and compulsory acquisition of the Company has been extracted from paragraph 8 of the Offer 
Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and expressions 
used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer Document. 
Shareholders are advised to read the extract below carefully.

“8.1 Listing Status

 Pursuant to Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual, upon an announcement by the Offeror that 
acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer that bring the holdings in Shares 
of the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it to above 90% of the total number of 
Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury), the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of 
the Shares in the Ready and Unit Share markets until it is satisfi ed that at least 10% of 
the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury) are held by at least 
500 Shareholders who are members of the public.

 Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual provides that where the Offeror succeeds in garnering 
acceptances exceeding 90% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held 
in treasury), thus causing the percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding any 
Shares held in treasury) held in public hands to fall below 10%, the SGX-ST will suspend 
trading of the Shares only at the close of the Offer.

 Under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the Shares held in public 
hands falls below 10%, the Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact, 
and the SGX-ST may suspend trading of all the Shares. Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual 
states that the SGX-ST may allow the Company a period of three (3) months, or such 
longer period as the SGX-ST may agree, to raise the percentage of the Shares held in 
public hands to at least 10%, failing which the Company may be removed from the Offi cial 
List of the SGX-ST.

8.2 Compulsory Acquisition

 Pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, in the event that the Offeror acquires 
not less than 90% of the total number of Shares (other than those already held by the 
Offeror, its related corporations or their respective nominees as at the date of the Offer 
and excluding any Shares held in treasury), the Offeror will be entitled to exercise the 
right to compulsorily acquire all the Shares from Shareholders who have not accepted the 
Offer, at a price equal to the Offer Price (the “Compulsory Acquisition”).

 In addition, pursuant to Section 215(3) of the Companies Act, if the Offeror acquires such 
number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by it, its related corporations and 
their respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total number of Shares, the 
Shareholders who have not accepted the Offer will have a right to require the Offeror to 
acquire their Shares at the Offer Price. Such Shareholders who wish to exercise such a 
right are advised to seek their own independent legal advice.

8.3 Offeror’s Intentions

 The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does 
not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, 
if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and 
does not intend to take any step for the public fl oat to be restored and/or for any 
trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, inter 
alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in 
treasury) are held in public hands.
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 In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek a voluntary delisting of the 
Company from the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual 
(collectively, the “Voluntary Delisting Rules”). Without prejudice to the foregoing, if the 
Offeror receives, as at the Closing Date, valid acceptances of the Offer from Shareholders 
(other than persons acting in concert with the Offeror) (the “Independent Shareholders”) 
representing at least 75% of the total number of Shares held by the Independent 
Shareholders and subject to substantive compliance with the other requirements set out in 
the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the Offeror intends to seek the SGX-ST’s waiver from strict 
compliance with such Voluntary Delisting Rules.

 In the event that the public fl oat is lost and the Offeror is unable to exercise its rights of 
Compulsory Acquisition or the Company is unable to meet the requirements set out in 
the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the trading of the Shares may be subjected to a prolonged 
period of suspension.

 Subject to normal business conditions and other than in the normal course of business, 
the Offeror does not intend to (a) make major changes to the business of the Company 
or its management team; (b) re-deploy the fi xed assets of the Company; or (c) discontinue 
the employment of the employees of the Group. Nonetheless, the Offeror retains 
the fl exibility at any time to consider any options or opportunities which may present 
themselves and which the Offeror may regard to be in the interests of the Company.”

8.2 SGX RegCo’s regulator’s column in relation to delisting. In the event that the Company loses 
its free fl oat pursuant to the Offer but the following conditions are met, SGX RegCo may take the 
view that the delisting requirements under the Listing Manual are substantively complied with and 
will consider waiving strict compliance with such delisting requirements:

 (a) as at the close of the Offer, the Offeror has received acceptances from independent 
Shareholders (i.e. Shareholders excluding the Offeror and parties acting in concert with 
it) that represent a majority of at least 75% of the total number of issued shares held by 
independent shareholders (“75% Acceptance Condition”); and

 (b) the Offer is fair and reasonable (and the IFA has opined that the Offer is fair and reasonable).

 It is important that Shareholders are aware of the potential consequences in considering whether 
to accept the Offer, particularly where free fl oat has been lost but the requisite conditions 
for delisting, including the 75% Acceptance Condition, are not met. In such circumstances, 
Shareholders should note the risk that the Company may consequently be subject to prolonged 
suspension. 

 For more information, please refer to the regulator’s column entitled “SGX RegCo’s Expectations 
on Information to be provided to Shareholders in connection with a General Offer” published by 
SGX RegCo on 4 May 2020 at https://www.sgx.com/media-centre/20200504-regulators-column-
sgx-regcos-expectations-information-be-provided. 

9. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

 Details of the Directors including, amongst other things, the Directors’ direct and deemed interests 
in the Offeror Securities and the Company Securities as at the Latest Practicable Date are set out 
in Appendix B to this Circular.

10. ADVICE OF THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

10.1 IFA. Shareholders should read and consider carefully the advice of the IFA to the Independent 
Directors in respect of the Offer as contained in the IFA Letter and the Recommendation as set out 
in Section 11.2 of this Circular before deciding on whether to accept or reject the Offer. The IFA 
Letter setting out the advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer is set 
out in Appendix A to this Circular.
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10.2 Evaluation of the Offer by the IFA. The key factors relied upon by the IFA in arriving at its advice 
to the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer are set out in paragraph  10 of the IFA Letter. 
Shareholders should read and carefully consider the key factors relied upon by the IFA 
in arriving at its advice to the Independent Directors as set out in paragraph  10 of the IFA 
Letter in conjunction with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter.  

10.3 Advice of the IFA to the Independent Directors on the Offer. Taking into consideration the 
factors set out in the IFA Letter and the information available to the IFA as at the Latest Practicable 
Date and subject to the qualifi cations and assumptions set out in the IFA Letter, the IFA has made 
certain recommendations to the Independent Directors as set out in paragraph  10 of the IFA 
Letter, an extract of which is reproduced in italics below. Shareholders should read the extract in 
conjunction with, and in the context of, the full text of the IFA Letter.

 “Having considered the aforementioned factors set out in this letter and summarised in 
this section, we are of the opinion that the fi nancial terms of the Offer are not fair but 
reasonable. Based on our opinion, we advise the Independent Directors to recommend 
that Shareholders accept the Offer, unless Shareholders are able to obtain a price 
higher than the Offer Price on the open market, taking into account all the brokerage 
commissions or transactions costs in connection with open market transactions. 
 
We also advise the Independent Directors to consider highlighting to the Shareholders that there 
is no assurance that the price of the Shares will remain at current levels after the close or lapse 
of the Offer and the current price performance of the Shares may not be indicative of the future 
price performance levels of the Shares.”

11. RECOMMENDATION OF THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

11.1 Independence of Directors. Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir, the Executive Chairman of the Company, is 
not an Independent Director as he is a director and a shareholder of the Offeror.

 Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong, the Managing Director of the Company, is not an Independent 
Director as he is a director and a shareholder of the Offeror.

 Accordingly, Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir and Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong will face confl icts of 
interest in relation to the Offer that would render it inappropriate for them to join the Independent 
Directors in making a Recommendation to Shareholders in connection with the Offer.

 The SIC had ruled on 19 January 2021 that Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir and Mr. James Tham Tuck 
Choong are exempted from making a Recommendation to Shareholders on the Offer.

 Notwithstanding the above, all the Directors (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Mr. Jeffrey Hing 
Yih Peir and Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong) are jointly and severally responsible for the accuracy 
of facts stated, opinions expressed and completeness of the information given by the Company 
to Shareholders on the Offer, including information contained in documents, announcements and 
advertisements issued by or on behalf of the Company in connection with the Offer.

11.2 Independent Directors’ Recommendation. The Independent Directors, having considered 
carefully, amongst other things, the terms of the Offer and the advice given by the IFA in the 
IFA Letter,  CONCUR  with the IFA’s assessment of the Offer and its Recommendation thereon. 
Accordingly, the Independent Directors recommend that Shareholders  ACCEPT  the Offer or sell 
their Shares in the open market if they are able to obtain a price higher than the Offer Price (after 
deducting transaction costs). 

 SHAREHOLDERS ARE ADVISED TO READ THE IFA LETTER SET OUT IN APPENDIX A TO 
THIS CIRCULAR CAREFULLY BEFORE DECIDING WHETHER TO ACCEPT OR REJECT 
THE OFFER. SHAREHOLDERS SHOULD NOTE THAT THE IFA’S OPINION SHOULD NOT BE 
RELIED UPON BY ANY SHAREHOLDER AS THE SOLE BASIS FOR DECIDING WHETHER OR 
NOT TO ACCEPT THE OFFER. SHAREHOLDERS ARE ALSO URGED TO READ THE OFFER 
DOCUMENT CAREFULLY.
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 The IFA and the Independent Directors, in giving their advice and making their 
Recommendation respectively, have not had regard to the specifi c investment objectives, 
fi nancial situation, tax position, risk profi les or unique needs and constraints of any 
individual Shareholder. As each Shareholder would have different investment objectives 
and profi les, any individual Shareholder who may require specifi c advice in respect of his 
investment objectives or portfolio should consult his stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, 
accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser immediately.

 Shareholders should also note that there is no assurance that the price of the Shares 
will remain at current levels after the close or lapse of the Offer and the current price 
performance of the Shares may not be indicative of the future price performance levels of 
the Shares.

12. ACTION TO BE TAKEN BY SHAREHOLDERS

12.1 Shareholders who DO NOT WISH TO ACCEPT the Offer. Shareholders who do not wish to 
accept the Offer should take no further action in respect of the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the 
FAT which have been sent to them.

12.2 Shareholder who WISH TO ACCEPT the Offer. Shareholders who wish to accept the Offer must 
do so no later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing Date, abiding by the procedures for 
the acceptance of the Offer as set out in Appendix V to the Offer Document, the FAA and/or the 
FAT.

 Acceptances should be completed and returned as soon as possible and, in any event, so as to 
be received, on behalf of the Offeror, by CDP (in respect of the FAA) or the Share Registrar (in 
respect of the FAT), as the case may be, not later than 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on the Closing 
Date.

13. OVERSEAS SHAREHOLDERS AND COPIES OF THIS CIRCULAR

13.1 Overseas Shareholders. The full text relating to Overseas Shareholders has been extracted from 
paragraph 9 of the Offer Document and is reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all 
terms and expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in 
the Offer Document.

“The availability of the Offer to Shareholders whose mailing addresses are outside of Singapore 
(as shown on the register of members of the Company or, as the case may be, in the records 
of CDP) (collectively, the “Overseas Shareholders” and each, an “Overseas Shareholder”) 
may be affected by the laws of the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Accordingly, any Overseas 
Shareholder should inform himself about and observe any applicable legal requirements, and 
exercise caution in relation to the Offer, as this Offer Document, the FAAs and the FATs have 
not been reviewed by any regulatory authority in any overseas jurisdiction. Where there are 
potential restrictions on sending this Offer Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs to any 
overseas jurisdictions, the Offeror, the Financial Adviser and CDP each reserves the right 
not to send these documents to Shareholders in such overseas jurisdictions. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Offer is open to all Shareholders, including those to whom this 
Offer Document, the FAAs and/or the FATs have not been, or may not be, sent.

Copies of this Offer Document and any other formal documentation relating to the Offer are not 
being, and must not be, directly or indirectly, mailed or otherwise forwarded, distributed or sent in 
or into or from any jurisdiction where the making of or the acceptance of the Offer would violate 
the law of that jurisdiction (a “Restricted Jurisdiction”) and will not be capable of acceptance 
by any such use, means, instrumentality or facility within any Restricted Jurisdiction and persons 
receiving such documents (including custodians, nominees and trustees) must not mail or 
otherwise forward, distribute or send them in or into or from any Restricted Jurisdiction.
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The Offer (unless otherwise determined by the Offeror and permitted by applicable laws and 
regulations) will not be made, directly or indirectly, in or into, or by the use of mails of, or by any 
means or instrumentality (including without limitation, telephonically or electronically) of interstate 
or foreign commerce of, or any facility of a national, state or other securities exchange of, any 
Restricted Jurisdiction, and the Offer will not be capable of acceptance by any such use, means, 
instrumentality or facility. 

Overseas Shareholders may, nonetheless, obtain copies of this Offer Document, the FAAs, the 
FATs and/or any related documents, during normal business hours and up to the Closing Date, 
from the Offeror through CDP (if he is a depositor) by contacting CDP via telephone (+65 6535 
7511) or email services (asksgx@sgx.com), or the Share Registrar (if he is a scripholder), at its 
offi ce located at 50 Raffl es Place, #32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623.

Alternatively, an Overseas Shareholder may write to the Offeror through CDP (if he is 
a depositor) at Robinson Road Post Offi ce, P.O. Box 1984, Singapore 903934, or the Share 
Registrar (if he is a scripholder) at the address listed above, to request for this Offer Document, 
the FAAs, the FATs and/or any related documents to be sent to an address in Singapore by 
ordinary post at such Overseas Shareholder’s own risk, up to fi ve (5) Market Days prior to the 
Closing Date.

Electronic copies of this Offer Document, the FAA and FAT are also available on the website of 
the SGX-ST at www.sgx.com. 

It is the responsibility of any Overseas Shareholder who wishes to (a) request for this Offer 
Document, the FAAs, the FATs and/or any related documents; or (b) accept the Offer, to satisfy 
himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in that connection, 
including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent which may be required, and 
compliance with all necessary formalities or legal requirements and the payment of any 
taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite payments due in such jurisdiction. Such Overseas 
Shareholder shall be liable for any such taxes, imposts, duties or other requisite payments 
payable and the Offeror and any person acting on its behalf (including the Financial Adviser) 
shall be fully indemnifi ed and held harmless by such Overseas Shareholder for any such taxes, 
imposts, duties or other requisite payments as the Offeror and/or any person acting on its 
behalf (including the Financial Adviser) may be required to pay. In (i) requesting for this Offer 
Document, the FAAs, the FATs and/or any related documents; and/or (ii) accepting the Offer, the 
Overseas Shareholder represents and warrants to the Offeror and the Financial Adviser that he 
is in full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction in that connection, and that he is in 
full compliance with all necessary formalities or legal requirements. Any Overseas Shareholder 
who is in any doubt about his position should consult his professional adviser in the 
relevant jurisdiction.

The Offeror and the Financial Adviser each reserves the right to notify any matter, including 
the fact that the Offer has been made, to any or all Shareholders (including Overseas 
Shareholders) by announcement on the website of the SGX-ST or notice and if necessary, by 
paid advertisement in a newspaper published and circulated in Singapore, in which case such 
notice shall be deemed to have been suffi ciently given, notwithstanding any failure by any 
Shareholder (including an Overseas Shareholder) to receive or see such announcement, notice 
or advertisement.”

13.2 Copies of this Circular. This Circular will not be sent to all Overseas Shareholders due to 
potential restrictions on sending such documents to the relevant overseas jurisdictions. Any 
affected Overseas Shareholder may, nevertheless, obtain copies of this Circular during normal 
business hours up to the Closing Date from the offi ces of the Share Registrar at 50 Raffl es Place, 
#32-01, Singapore Land Tower, Singapore 048623, download a copy of this Circular from the 
 SGXNet at www.sgx.com, or make a request to the Share Registrar for this Circular to be sent to 
an address in Singapore by ordinary post at his own risk, up to fi ve (5) Market Days prior to the 
Closing Date.  



23

LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

 It is the responsibility of any Overseas Shareholder who wishes to request this Circular and/
or any related documents to satisfy himself as to the full observance of the laws of the relevant 
jurisdictions in that connection, including the obtaining of any governmental or other consent 
which may be required, or compliance with other necessary formalities or legal requirements. In 
requesting for this Circular and/or any related documents, the Overseas Shareholder represents 
and warrants to the Company that he is in full observance of the laws of the relevant jurisdiction 
in that connection, and that he is in full compliance with all necessary formalities or legal 
requirements.

14. INFORMATION PERTAINING TO CPFIS INVESTORS AND SRS INVESTORS

 The full text relating to CPFIS Investors and SRS Investors has been extracted from paragraph 12 
of the Offer Document and reproduced in italics below. Unless otherwise defi ned, all terms and 
expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defi ned in the Offer 
Document.

“CPFIS Investors will receive further information on how to accept the Offer from the CPF Agent 
Banks directly. CPFIS Investors are advised to consult their respective CPF Agent Banks should 
they require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the action they should take, 
CPFIS Investors should seek independent professional advice. CPFIS Investors who wish to 
accept the Offer are to reply to their respective CPF Agent Banks by the deadline stated in the 
letter from their respective CPF Agent Banks. CPFIS Investors who accept the Offer will receive 
the Offer Price payable in respect of their Offer Shares in their respective CPF investment 
accounts. 

SRS Investors will receive further information on how to accept the Offer from the SRS Agent 
Banks directly.  SRS Investors are advised to consult their respective SRS Agent Banks should 
they require further information, and if they are in any doubt as to the action they should take, 
SRS Investors should seek independent professional advice. SRS Investors who wish to accept 
the Offer are to reply to their respective SRS Agent Banks by the deadline stated in the letter 
from their respective SRS Agent Banks. SRS Investors who accept the Offer will receive the 
Offer Price payable in respect of their Offer Shares in their respective SRS investment accounts.”

15. DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

15.1 The Directors (including those who have delegated detailed supervision of this Circular) have taken 
all reasonable care to ensure that the facts stated and all opinions expressed in this Circular (other 
than in the IFA Letter and the Valuation Report Extracts) are fair and accurate, and that no material 
facts have been omitted from this Circular, and they jointly and severally accept responsibility 
accordingly.

15.2 In respect of the IFA Letter and the Valuation Report Extracts, the sole responsibility of the 
Directors has been to ensure that the facts stated with respect to the Group are fair and accurate.

15.3 The Recommendation set out in Section 11 of this Circular is the sole responsibility of the 
Independent Directors.

15.4 Where any information has been extracted or reproduced from published or otherwise publicly 
available sources (including, without limitation, the Offer Announcement, any other announcements 
made by or on behalf of the Offeror and the Offer Document, and in respect of the Company), 
the sole responsibility of the Directors has been to ensure through reasonable enquiries that 
such information is accurately and correctly extracted from such sources or, as the case may be, 
reproduced in this Circular.
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16. CONSENTS

16.1  The IFA has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Circular with the 
inclusion of its name, the IFA Letter setting out its advice to the Independent Directors set out in 
Appendix A  to this Circular, and all references thereto, in the form and context in which they appear 
in this Circular. 

16.2  Each of the Independent Valuers has given and has not withdrawn its written consent to the issue 
of this Circular with the inclusion of its name, the Valuation Report Extracts relating to its Valuation 
Report set out in Appendix F  to this Circular, and all references thereto, in the form and context in 
which they appear in this Circular. 

17. DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION

 Copies of the following documents are available for inspection at the registered offi ce of the 
Company at 18 Tuas Basin Link, Singapore 638784 during normal business hours from the date of 
this Circular up to and including the Closing Date:  

 (a) the Constitution;

 (b) the annual reports of the Company for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019;

 (c) the IFA Letter as set out in Appendix A to this Circular;

 (d) the Valuation Reports;

 (e) the FY2020 Results as set out in Appendix E to this Circular; and

 (f) the letters of consent from the IFA and the Independent Valuers referred to in Section 16 of 
this Circular.

18. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

 The attention of Shareholders is also drawn to the Appendices which form part of this Circular.

Yours faithfully
For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of
PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED

 Joanna Tung May Fong
 Finance and Administration Director
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PRIMEPARTNERS CORPORATE FINANCE PTE. LTD. 

16 Collyer Quay 
#10-00 Income at Raffles 

Singapore 049318 
 
 
24 February 2021 
 
 
To:  The Independent Directors of Penguin International Limited 

(deemed to be independent in respect of the Offer) 
 
Mr. Ong Kian Min (Lead Independent and Non-executive Director) 
Mr. Paul Tan Poh Lee (Independent and Non-executive Director) 
Mr. Leow Ban Tat (Independent and Non-executive Director) 
Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong (Finance and Administration Director) 
 

Dear Sirs  
 
INDEPENDENT FINANCIAL ADVICE TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS IN RESPECT OF THE 
GENERAL OFFER BY W CAPITAL MARKETS PTE. LTD. ( WCM ), FOR AND ON BEHALF OF 
EMET GRACE LTD. (THE OFFEROR ), TO ACQUIRE ALL THE ISSUED AND PAID-UP 
ORDINARY SHARES IN THE CAPITAL OF PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED (THE 
COMPANY ) OTHER THAN THOSE ALREADY HELD DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY BY THE 

OFFEROR AS AT THE DATE OF THE OFFER 
 
 
Unless otherwise defined or the context otherwise requires, all terms defined in the circular issued by 
the Company dated 24 February 2021 (the “Circular”) shall have the same meaning herein.  
 
1. INTRODUCTION  

 
On Offer Announcement Date WCM announced, for and on behalf 

Offer
to acquire all the issued and paid-up ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (the 
Shares  other than those already held directly or indirectly by the Offeror as at the date of the 

Offer Shares  at a price of Offer Price for each Offer Share. 
  
On 1 February 2021, WCM announced, for and on behalf of the Offeror, that  
 
(i) as of the date of the MGO Offer Announcement, the total number of Shares owned, 

controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with 
it amounted to 66,211,448 Shares, representing approximately 30.07% of the total 
number of Shares; 

 
(ii) accordingly, pursuant to Rule 14.1 of the Code, the Offeror has incurred an obligation 

to make a mandatory conditional cash offer for all the Offer Shares; and  
 
(iii) the proposed voluntary conditional cash offer by the Offeror for the Offer Shares 

referred to in the Offer Announcement shall be converted to a mandatory conditional 
cash offer by the Offeror for the Offer Shares.  

 
The Offeror is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands. As at the Offer Announcement Date, the Offeror has an issued share capital of S$1,000 
comprising 10,000 ordinary shares which are held by the following shareholders of the Offeror:  
 
(i) Fairy, Sponsor

vehicle which is wholly owned by Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) II Ltd. (as 
general partner for and on behalf of Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, 
L.P.) ("Dymon Asia"); 
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(ii) JHYP ; and 

 
(iii) JTTC . 
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date Promoters
Promoter hold an aggregate of 47,459,515 Shares, representing approximately 21.56% of 

the total number of Shares, details of which are set out below:  
 
(a) JHYP holds 46,792,849 Shares, representing approximately 21.25% of the total 

number of Shares; and 
 

(b) JTTC holds 666,666 Shares, representing approximately 0.30% of the total number of 
Shares. 

 
Offeror Shareholders

a consortium through the Offeror to undertake the Offer.  
 
The Offer is conditional upon the Offeror having received, by the close of the Offer, valid 
acceptances in respect of such number of Offer Shares which, when taken together with the 
Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert 
with it (either before or during the Offer and pursuant to the Offer or otherwise), will result in the 
Offeror and persons acting in concert with it holding such number of Shares carrying more than 
50% of the voting rights attributable to the issued share capital of the Company as at the close 
of the Offer Acceptance Condition . 
 
We further understand that the Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned 
subsidiary and does not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the 
Offeror, if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of compulsory acquisition under 
Section 215(1) of the Companies Act and does not intend to take any step for the public float 
to be restored and/or for any trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in 
the event that, inter alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares 
held in treasury) are held in public hands. In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek 
a voluntary delisting of the Company from the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the 
Listing Manual. 
 
PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. ( PPCF ) has been appointed by the Company to 
advise the Independent Directors in respect of the Offer. This letter sets out, inter alia, our views 
and evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer and our opinion thereon and forms part of the 
Circular providing, inter alia, details of the Offer and the recommendation of the Independent 
Directors.  
 
 

2. TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 
We have been appointed to advise the Independent Directors on the financial terms of the Offer 
in compliance with the provisions of the Singapore Code on Take-overs and Mergers (the 
Code ). We have confined our evaluation to the financial terms of the Offer and have not taken 

into account the commercial risks and/or commercial merits of the Offer. 
 
Our terms of reference do not require us to evaluate or comment on the rationale for, or the 
strategic or long-term merits of the Offer or on the future prospects of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (the Group ) or the method and terms by which the Offer is made or any other 
alternative methods by which the Offer may be made. Such evaluations and comments remain 
the sole responsibility of the Directors, although we may draw upon their views or make such 
comments in respect thereof (to the extent deemed necessary or appropriate by us) in arriving 
at our opinion as set out in this letter.  
 
We are not authorised to solicit, and we have not solicited, any indications of interest from any 
third party with respect to the Shares. We are therefore not addressing the relative merits of 
the Offer as compared to any alternative transaction that may be available to the Company (or 
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the Shareholders), or as compared to any alternative offer that might otherwise be available in 
the future.  
 
In the course of our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have relied on, and 
assumed without independent verification, the accuracy and completeness of published 
information relating to the Company. We have also relied on information provided and 
representations made, including relevant financial analyses and estimates, by the management 
of the Company (the Management
have not independently verified such information or any representation or assurance made by 
them, whether written or verbal, and accordingly cannot and do not make any representation 
or warranty, express or implied, in respect of, and do not accept any responsibility for, the 
accuracy, completeness or adequacy of such information, representation or assurance. We 
have nevertheless made such reasonable enquiries and exercised our judgement as we 
deemed necessary and have found no reason to doubt the reliability of the information. 
 
We have relied upon the assurances of the Directors that they have taken all reasonable care 
to ensure that the facts stated and all opinions expressed in the Circular (other than those 
relating to the Offeror and the Offer and those in this letter and Valuation Report Extracts) are 
fair and accurate, and that no material facts have been omitted from the Circular, and they 
jointly and severally accept responsibility accordingly.  
 
For the purposes of assessing the financial terms of the Offer and reaching our conclusions 
thereon, we have not relied upon any financial projections or forecasts in respect of the 
Company. We will not be required to express, and we do not express, any view on the growth 
prospects and earnings potential of the Company in connection with our opinion in this letter. 
 
We have not made any independent evaluation or appraisal of the assets and liabilities 
(including, without limitation, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets) of the 
Company or the Group and have only relied on the independent valuation reports by ALC 
Consulting Services Pte. Ltd. ALC Consulting , Robert Khan & Co Pte Ltd Robert Khan
and Muttaqin Bambang Purwanto Rozak Uswatun dan Rekan MBPRU  (collectively the 
Independent Valuers ) in relation to the valuation of the Appraised Assets (as defined herein).  

 
Our analysis and opinion as set out in this letter is based upon market, economic, industry, 
monetary and other conditions in effect on, and the information provided to us as at 15 February 
2021 (the Latest Practicable Date ). Such conditions may change significantly over a 
relatively short period of time. We assume no responsibility to update, revise or reaffirm our 
opinion in light of any subsequent development after the Latest Practicable Date that may affect 
our opinion contained herein. Shareholders should further take note of any announcements 
relevant to their consideration of the Offer which may be released by the Company and/or the 
Offeror after the Latest Practicable Date. 
 
In rendering our opinion, we have not had regard to the specific investment objectives, financial 
situation, tax position, risk profiles or unique needs and constraints of any individual 
Shareholder. As each Shareholder would have different investment objectives and profiles, we 
would advise the Independent Directors to recommend that any individual Shareholder who 
may require specific advice in relation to his investment objectives or portfolio should consult 
his stockbroker, bank manager, solicitor, accountant, tax adviser or other professional adviser 
immediately. As such, our opinion should not be the sole basis for deciding whether or not to 
accept the Offer. 
 
The Company has been separately advised by its own advisers in the preparation of the Circular 
(other than this letter). Accordingly, we take no responsibility for and express no views, express 
or implied, on the contents of the Circular (other than this letter). 
 
Our opinion in respect of the Offer, as set out in paragraph 10 of this letter, should be 
considered in the context of the entirety of this letter and the Circular. 

 
 
 
 



A-4

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS OF 
THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

3. THE OFFER 
 

Shareholders should by now have received a copy of the Offer Document, setting out, inter alia, 
the terms and conditions of the Offer. The principal terms and conditions of the Offer are set 
out in paragraph 2 of the Offer Document. Shareholders are advised to read the terms and 
conditions of the Offer set out in the Offer Document carefully. 
 

3.1 Offer Shares  
 

The Offer is extended, on the same terms and conditions, to all the Shares other than those 
Shares held directly or indirectly, by the Offeror as at the date of the Offer.  

 
3.2 Offer Price 
  

As stated in paragraph 2.2 of the Offer Document, the consideration for each Offer Share is as 
follows: 
 
FOR EACH OFFER SHARE: S$0.65 in cash. 
 

3.3 No Encumbrances  
 
The Offer Shares will be acquired (a) fully paid, (b) free from all liens, equities, mortgages, 
charges, encumbrances, rights of pre-emption and other third party rights and interests of any 
nature whatsoever Encumbrances , and (c) together with all rights, benefits 
and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer Announcement Date and thereafter attaching 
thereto (including the right to receive and retain all dividends, other distributions and return of 
capital which may be announced, declared, paid or made thereon by the Company on or after 
the Offer Announcement Date Distributions . 
 

3.4 Adjustment for Distributions  
 
As stated in paragraph 2.4 of the Offer Document, without prejudice to the foregoing, the Offer 
Price has been determined on the basis that the Offer Shares will be acquired with the right to 
receive any Distribution that may be announced, declared, paid or made by the Company on 
or after the Offer Announcement Date.  
 
If any Distribution is announced, declared, paid or made by the Company on or after the Offer 
Announcement Date, the Offeror reserves the right to reduce the Offer Price payable to a 
Shareholder who validly accepts or has validly accepted the Offer by an amount equivalent to 
such Distribution.  

 
3.5 Conditional Offer  
 

As stated in paragraph 2.5 of the Offer Document, the Offer is conditional upon the Offeror 
having received, by the Closing Date, valid acceptances in respect of such number of Offer 
Shares which, when taken together with the Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be acquired 
by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it (either before or during the Offer and 
pursuant to the Offer or otherwise), will result in the Offeror and persons acting in concert with 
it holding such number of Shares carrying more than 50% of the voting rights attributable to the 
issued share capital of the Company as at the Closing Date. 
 
Accordingly, the Offer will not become or be capable of being declared unconditional as to 
acceptances until the Closing Date, unless at any time prior to the Closing Date, the Offeror 
has received valid acceptances (which have not been withdrawn) in respect of such number of 
Offer Shares which, when taken together with the Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be 
acquired by or on behalf of the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it (either before or 
during the Offer and pursuant to the Offer or otherwise), will result in the Offeror and persons 
acting in concert with it holding such number of Shares carrying more than 50% of the voting 
rights attributable to the issued share capital of the Company as at the Closing Date. 
 
Save for the Acceptance Condition, the Offer will be unconditional in all other respects.  
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3.6  Warranty  
  

As stated in paragraph 2.6 of the Offer Document, acceptance of the Offer will be deemed to 
constitute an unconditional and irrevocable warranty by the accepting Shareholder that each 
Offer Share tendered in acceptance of the Offer is sold by the accepting Shareholder, as or on 
behalf of the beneficial owner(s) thereof, (a) fully paid; (b) free from all Encumbrances; and (c) 
together with all rights, benefits and entitlements attached thereto as at the Offer 
Announcement Date and thereafter attaching thereto (including the right to receive and retain 
all Distributions). 

 
3.7 Closing date  
 

Except insofar as the Offer may be withdrawn with the consent of the SIC and every person 
released from any obligation incurred thereunder, the Offer will remain open for acceptances 
by Shareholders for a period of at least 28 days from the date on which this Offer Document is 
posted.  
 
Accordingly, the Offer will close at 5.30 p.m. (Singapore time) on 10 March 2021 or such 
later date(s) as may be announced from time to time by or on behalf of the Offeror. 

 
3.8 Further details of the Offer  
 
 Further details of the Offer are set out in paragraphs 2.7, 2.8 and Appendix IV to the Offer 

Document, including details on (i) the duration of the Offer; (ii) the settlement of the 
consideration for the Offer; (iii) the requirements relating to the announcement of the level of 
acceptances of the Offer; and (iv) the right of withdrawal of acceptances of the Offer. 

 
 
4. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY 
 

The information on the Company as set out below in italics has been extracted from paragraph 
3 of the Offer Document. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the 
extract below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document. 
 
“3. INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY 
 
3.1 Incorporation and Listing 
 

Based on publicly available information, the Company was incorporated under the laws of 
Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 
October 1997. The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner 
and operator of aluminium high-speed craft. 

 
3.2 Share Capital 

 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, based on the results of the electronic instant information 
search of the Company obtained from ACRA, the Company has an issued and paid-up 
share capital of S$95,885,990.0081 comprising 220,169,774 Shares. The Company does 
not hold any treasury Shares.  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, based on information available to the Offeror:  
 
(a) the Company has not granted any options or issued any rights, warrants or other 

securities convertible into, exercisable or redeemable into any Shares; and 
 
(b) there is no restriction in the constitution of the Company on the right to transfer any 

Shares, which has the effect of requiring the holders of the Offer Shares to first offer 
them for purchase to Shareholders or to any other person, before transferring them. 
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3.3 Additional Information on the Company 
 

Appendix I to this Offer Document sets out additional information on the Company.” 
 
 

5. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR AND ITS SHAREHOLDERS  
 

The information on the Offeror and its shareholders as set out below in italics has been 
extracted from paragraph 4 of the Offer Document. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and 
expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defined in the 
Offer Document. 
 
“4. INFORMATION ON THE OFFEROR, THE CONSORTIUM AND DYMON ASIA PRIVATE 

EQUITY 
 
4.1 The Offeror 

 
The Offeror is an investment holding company incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands on 3 November 2020. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Offeror has an issued 
share capital of S$1,000 comprising 10,000 ordinary shares (the “Offeror Shares”), which 
are held by the shareholders of the Offeror as follows: 
 

Shareholders of Offeror 
Shareholding 
Percentage 

Fairy, L.P. (acting by its general partner, Fairy Ltd.) (the “Sponsor”) 40% 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir (“JHYP”) 55% 

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong (“JTTC”) 5% 

Total 100% 
 
The board of directors of the Offeror comprises JHYP, JTTC and Mr. Tan Keng Soon (Keith) 
(Founding Partner of Dymon Asia Capital Ltd. (the holding company of the Dymon group) 
and Chairman of the Dymon Asia Private Equity Investment Committee).  

 
4.2 The Sponsor 

 
The Sponsor is a special purpose vehicle incorporated under the laws of the Cayman 
Islands on 9 October 2020, which is wholly-owned by Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. 
Asia) II Ltd. (as general partner for and on behalf of Dymon Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) 
Fund II, L.P.) (“Dymon Asia”). Dymon Asia is managed by Dymon Asia Private Equity 
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd., a Singapore-based fund manager that manages Dymon Asia Private 
Equity (S.E.Asia) Fund, L.P., which has committed capital of S$300 million and Dymon 
Asia Private Equity (S.E. Asia) Fund II, L.P., a fund with commitments of US$450 million. 

 
4.3 The Promoters 

 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, JHYP and JTTC (collectively, the “Promoters” and each, 
a “Promoter”) hold an aggregate of 47,459,515 Shares, representing approximately 21.56% 
of the total number of Shares, details of which are set out below: 

 
(a)  JHYP holds 46,792,849 Shares, representing approximately 21.25% of the total 

number of Shares; and 
 
(b)  JTTC holds 666,666 Shares, representing approximately 0.30% of the total number 

of Shares. 
 

As mentioned in paragraph 4.3 of the Offer Announcement, JHYP and his wife, Mdm. 
Wong Bei Keen (“WBK”) had, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into a deed of 
undertaking in favour of the Offeror (the “Deed of Transfer”), pursuant to which WBK had, 
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inter alia, irrevocably undertaken to transfer to JHYP as soon as practicable after the Offer 
Announcement Date but in any event prior to the date of despatch of this Offer Document, 
the 3,333,333 Shares held by Citibank Nominees Singapore Pte Ltd on her behalf (the 
“WBK Shares”), for a nominal consideration of S$1.00 in aggregate. As at the Latest 
Practicable Date, the WBK Shares have been transferred from WBK to JHYP and 
constitute part of the Shares held by JHYP as set out in paragraph 4.3(a).  
 
As mentioned in paragraph 1 of Appendix I to this Offer Document, JHYP and JTTC are 
the directors and key management personnel of the Company. 
 

4.4 Consortium Arrangements 
 
The Sponsor and the Promoters (collectively, the “Offeror Shareholders”) have agreed 
to form a consortium through the Offeror to undertake the Offer. The Offeror Shareholders 
had, on the Offer Announcement Date, entered into the following arrangements 
(collectively, the “Consortium Arrangements”): 
 
(a)  a shareholders’ agreement (the “SHA”) to, inter alia, regulate the relationship of the 

Offeror Shareholders inter se as shareholders of the Offeror and in the conduct of 
the business and affairs of the Offeror (including the Offer).  

 
As the Offeror and the Offeror Shareholders intend and desire that there be 
continuity of management and minimal interruption to the business of the Company, 
the Offeror and the Offeror Shareholders had agreed under the SHA that after the 
completion of the Offer and subject to the Company having been delisted following 
the completion of the Offer, the Company shall enter into a new service agreement 
(each, a “New Service Agreement”) with each Promoter. Each New Service 
Agreement will be on substantially the same terms as their respective existing 
service agreement, and will commit the relevant Promoter to a minimum initial term 
of four (4) years from the date of the New Service Agreement; and 

 
(b)  each of the Promoters had provided an irrevocable undertaking in favour of the 

Offeror (each, a “Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking” and collectively, the 
“Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings”) pursuant to which he will undertake 
and/or agree, inter alia:  

 
(i)  to accept the Offer in respect of all the Shares held by him, details of which are 

set out in paragraph 4.3 above; 
 
(ii)  that the total cash consideration payable by the Offeror for such acceptance 

by him in respect of the Shares held by him (each, the “Set-Off Amount” and 
collectively, the “Set-Off Amounts”) will be regarded as an interest-free 
shareholder loan extended by him to the Offeror, such that no cash 
consideration shall be payable by the Offeror to him pursuant to his acceptance 
of the Offer in respect of such Shares; and 

 
(iii)  to waive his rights under Rule 30 of the Code to receive any cash settlement 

or payment for the acceptance of the Offer. 
 
 Pursuant to the terms of the SHA, the Offeror Shareholders have agreed, inter alia, that: 
 
(A)  save for the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings and the Deed of Transfer, all 

matters relating to the Offer will require the unanimous approval of the Sponsor and 
the Promoters; 

 
(B)  each Promoter shall contribute to the Offeror his respective shareholding proportion 

inter se of the funds that will be utilised for the Transaction (the “Total Commitment”) 
which shall comprise (1) the Set-Off Amount and (2) a cash amount representing 
the amount by which his shareholding proportion inter se of the Total Commitment 
exceeds the Set-Off Amount. The Sponsor shall contribute to the Offeror its 
shareholding proportion inter se of the Total Commitment in cash;  
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(C)  following the completion of the Transaction: 
 

(1)  a portion of the Total Commitment as set out in the foregoing paragraph 4.4(B) 
will be converted into additional Offeror Shares for the Sponsor and the 
Promoters in accordance with their respective shareholding proportion inter se; 
and 

 
(2)  the remaining amount of the Total Commitment after the deduction of the 

amount set out in paragraph 4.4(C)(1) above will remain as shareholder loans; 
 
(D)  save for the pledging of the Offeror Shares as security in connection with the (1) 

loans extended by the Sponsor to the Promoters to finance part of the Total 
Commitment and (2) external loans and credit facilities to be obtained by the Offeror 
to repay the shareholder loans described in paragraph 4.4(C)(2) above (the 
“External Financing”), each Promoter undertakes to the Sponsor that, as long as 
the Sponsor holds Offeror Shares during the period commencing on the date of the 
SHA and ending on the third (3rd) anniversary of the completion of the Transaction, 
such Promoter shall not dispose of or create encumbrances over the Offeror Shares 
that he owns without the prior approval of the Sponsor; 

 
(E)  following the completion of the Transaction, the number of directors on the board of 

directors of the Offeror (the “Offeror Directors”) shall not be more than five (5). 
Under the SHA, the Sponsor shall be entitled to request the appointment of two (2) 
Offeror Directors and the Promoters (acting jointly) shall be entitled to request the 
appointment of three (3) Offeror Directors, who shall include JHYP and JTTC; and  

 
(F)  in the event the Company remains listed following the close of the Offer, subject to:  
 

(1)  the repayment in full of the loans extended by the Sponsor and the release and 
discharge of the charges over the Promoters’ Offeror Shares in favour of the 
Sponsor as set out in paragraph 4.4(D) above;  

 
(2)  the External Financing (if taken up by the Offeror) having been repaid in full 

by the Offeror;  
 
(3)  all applicable laws; and  
 
(4)  any instrument, contract, document or agreement to which the Offeror is a party 

or by which its assets are bound (including the SHA),  
 
the Offeror Shareholders shall (at the Sponsor’s option) procure that the Offeror 
makes an in-specie distribution of all the Shares then held by the Offeror to the 
Promoters and the Sponsor in their respective shareholding proportion inter se by 
way of dividend, to the extent permitted under applicable laws (the “In-Specie 
Distribution”). Thereafter, each Promoter undertakes to the Sponsor that during 
the period commencing on the date of the completion of the In-Specie Distribution 
and ending on the fifth (5th) anniversary of the close of the Offer, the Promoters 
shall not sell, transfer, mortgage, charge, pledge, grant an option over, or otherwise 
dispose of or create encumbrances over the Shares that they own without the prior 
written approval of the Sponsor.  

 
The SIC has confirmed that the Consortium Arrangements do not constitute special deals 
for the purpose of Rule 10 of the Code. 

 
4.5  Shareholding in the Offeror  

 
The shareholding in the Offeror will be maintained at the shareholding proportions set out 
in paragraph 4.1 above until the close of the Offer.” 
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6. IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKINGS  
 
The information on the Irrevocable Undertakings as set out below in italics have 
been extracted from paragraph 5 of the Offer Document. Unless otherwise defined, all terms 
and expressions used in the extract below shall have the same meanings as those defined in 
the Offer Document.  
 
“5. PROMOTERS’ IRREVOCABLE UNDERTAKINGS 
 
5.1  Details of the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings 
 

As at the Latest Practicable Date, JHYP holds 46,792,849 Shares, representing 
approximately 21.25% of the total number of Shares and JTTC holds 666,666 Shares, 
representing approximately 0.30% of the total number of Shares. Each of JTTC and JHYP 
has executed a Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking dated 21 January 2021 in favour of 
the Offeror, pursuant to which each of them has undertaken, inter alia, to accept the Offer 
in respect of all the Shares held by him. 
 
 Details of the Promoters’ shareholding in the Company which will be tendered in 
acceptance of the Offer by each Promoter pursuant to his Promoter’s Irrevocable 
Undertaking are as follows: 
 

Promoter 

 Number of Shares to 
be tendered in 

acceptance of the Offer 
Percentage of the total 

number of Shares(1) 

JHYP 46,792,849(2) 21.25% 
JTTC 666,666 0.30% 

Total 47,459,515 21.56% 
 
Notes: 
 
(1)  Based on the Company’s issued share capital of 220,169,774 Shares as at the Latest Practicable Date. 
 
(2)  Includes the WBK Shares, which were transferred by WBK to JHYP on 27 January 2021, for a nominal 

consideration of S$1.00 in aggregate. 
 
5.2 Termination of the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings 

 
Each Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking will terminate or lapse if the Offer is withdrawn 
or lapses, or fails to become or be declared to be unconditional in all respects for whatever 
reason, other than due to a breach by the relevant Promoter of any of his obligations under 
such Promoter’s Irrevocable Undertaking. 

 
5.3  No Other Irrevocable Undertakings 
 

Save for the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings, as at the Latest Practicable Date, 
neither the Offeror nor any person acting in concert with the Offeror has received any 
irrevocable undertaking from any other party to accept or reject the Offer.  

 
5.4  As at the Latest Practicable Date, the number of Shares owned, controlled or agreed to be 

acquired by the Offeror and persons acting in concert with it, together with the total number 
of Shares to which the Promoters’ Irrevocable Undertakings relate, is an aggregate of 
69,421,748 Shares, representing approximately 31.53% of the total number of Shares.” 
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7. FOR THE COMPANY  
 

for the Company have 
been extracted from paragraphs 6 and 8.3 of the Offer Document respectively and is set out in 
italics below. Unless otherwise defined, all terms and expressions used in the extract below 
shall have the same meanings as those defined in the Offer Document. Shareholders are 
advised to read the extract below carefully. 
 
“6. RATIONALE FOR THE OFFER 
 
6.1  Low Trading Liquidity of Shares 
 

The trading volume of the Shares has been low, with an average daily trading volume1 of 
approximately 173,350 Shares, 104,798 Shares, 120,123 Shares and 279,521 Shares 
during the respective one (1)-month period, three (3)-month period, six (6)-month period 
and twelve (12)-month period up to and including 18 December 2020 (the “Last Trading 
Day”), being the last full Market Day immediately before the Company released the 
announcement in respect of a possible transaction involving the Shares on 21 December 
2020 (the “Holding Announcement Date”). Each of these represents less than 0.13% of 
the total number of Shares for any of the aforementioned relevant periods.  
 
The Offer therefore provides Shareholders who find it difficult to exit the Company as a 
result of the low trading volume of the Shares with an opportunity to liquidate and realise 
their investments in the Shares at a premium over the prevailing market prices which would 
otherwise not be available given the low trading liquidity of the Shares.  

 
6.2  Offer Price at a Premium over the Last Transacted Share Price  
 

The Offer Price represents a premium of 30.00% over the last transacted price per Share 
of S$0.500 on 18 December 2020, being the last Market Day on which the Shares were 
transacted prior to the Holding Announcement Date.  
 
When compared to the benchmark prices of the Shares up to and including the Last 
Trading Day, the Offer Price also represents a premium of approximately 35.70%, 42.54%, 
44.44% and 17.54% over the volume weighted average price (“VWAP”) per Share for the 
one (1)-month, three (3)-month, six (6)-month and twelve (12)-month periods, respectively. 
 
The Offer presents Shareholders with a clean cash exit opportunity to realise their entire 
investment in the Shares at a premium over the prevailing trading prices of the Shares 
without incurring brokerage and other trading costs.  

 
6.3  Greater Management Flexibility 

 
The Offeror is making the Offer with a view to delisting the Company from the Mainboard 
of the SGX-ST and exercising any rights of compulsory acquisition that may arise under 
Section 215(1) of the Companies Act. The Offeror believes that privatising the Company 
will give the Offeror and the management of the Company more flexibility to manage the 
business of the Company, optimise the use of its management and capital resources and 
facilitate the implementation of any operational change.  

 
6.4  Compliance Costs of Maintaining Listing  
 

In maintaining its listed status, the Company incurs compliance and associated costs. In 
the event that the Company is delisted from the SGX-ST, the Company will be able to save 
on expenses relating to the maintenance of a listed status and focus its resources on its 
business operations.”  
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“8.3 Offeror’s Intentions  
 

The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does 
not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, 
if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and 
does not intend to take any step for the public float to be restored and/or for any 
trading suspension of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, inter 
alia, less than 10% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in 
treasury) are held in public hands.  
 
In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek a voluntary delisting of the Company 
from the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual (collectively, the 
“Voluntary Delisting Rules”). Without prejudice to the foregoing, if the Offeror receives, 
as at the Closing Date, valid acceptances of the Offer from Shareholders (other than 
persons acting in concert with the Offeror) (the “Independent Shareholders”) 
representing at least 75% of the total number of Shares held by the Independent 
Shareholders and subject to substantive compliance with the other requirements set out 
in the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the Offeror intends to seek the SGX-ST’s waiver from 
strict compliance with such Voluntary Delisting Rules.  
 
In the event that the public float is lost and the Offeror is unable to exercise its rights of 
Compulsory Acquisition or the Company is unable to meet the requirements set out in the 
Voluntary Delisting Rules, the trading of the Shares may be subjected to a prolonged 
period of suspension.  
 
Subject to normal business conditions and other than in the normal course of business, 
the Offeror does not intend to (a) make major changes to the business of the Company or 
its management team; (b) re-deploy the fixed assets of the Company; or (c) discontinue 
the employment of the employees of the Group. Nonetheless, the Offeror retains the 
flexibility at any time to consider any options or opportunities which may present 
themselves and which the Offeror may regard to be in the interests of the Company.” 

 
 

8. ASSESSMENT OF THE FINANCIAL TERMS OF THE OFFER 
 
In assessing the fairness and reasonableness or otherwise of the financial terms of the Offer, 
we have considered the following factors which we consider to be pertinent and to have a 
significant bearing on our assessment of the Offer: 
 
(i) Historical market price performance and trading activity of the Shares; 

 
(ii) Share price performance relative to market indices;  

 
(iii) Historical financial information of the Group; 

 
(iv) NAV  

 
(v) RNAV per Share; 

 
(vi) Historical trailing price-to- P/NAV  ratio of the Shares; 

 
(vii)  

 
(viii) Valuation ratios of selected listed companies broadly comparable to the Group;  

 
(ix) Precedent privatisation and delisting transactions in Singapore; and 

 
(x) Dividend track record of the Company and selected alternative investments.  

 
We have also considered other relevant considerations which have a significant bearing on our 
assessment as set out in paragraph 9 of this letter. 
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The figures, underlying financial and market data used in our analysis, including 
securities prices, trading volumes, free float data and foreign exchange rates have been 
extracted from Bloomberg L.P., SGX-ST and other public filings as at the Latest 
Practicable Date or as provided by the Company where relevant. PPCF makes no 
representation or warranties, express or implied, as to the accuracy or completeness of 
such information. 

 
8.1 Historical market price performance and trading activity of the Shares  

 
On Holding Announcement Date
the Directors have been notified by JHYP and JTTC that they are in non-binding discussions 
with a potential investor in relation to a possible transaction involving the Shares Holding 
Announcement . There is no certainty that any specific or definitive agreement will be entered 
into or that any transaction will materialise from the on-going discussions. Accordingly, we 
recognise that 18 December 2020 could be considered the last full trading day prior to any 
indication of a possible transaction involving the Shares.   
 
The Offer Announcement was made on 21 January 2021, being the Offer Announcement Date. 
Trading in the Shares was halted for 2 full days on 20 January 2021 and 21 January 2021.  
 
In our evaluation of the historical market price performance and trading activity of the Shares, 
we considered the historical share price performance of the Company over the 2-year period 
from 19 December 2018 up to 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to the 
release of the Holding Announcement, and from the Holding Announcement Date up to the 
Latest Practicable Date.  
 
We set out below the daily closing price and trading volume of the Shares for the 2-year period 
up to and including 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to the release of the 
Holding Announcement, and from the Holding Announcement Date up to and including the last 
full trading day prior to the release of the Offer Announcement, being 19 January 20211 (the 
Last Trading Day bove-mentioned period where 

significant events have occurred.  
 

Daily closing price and daily trading volume of the Shares for the 2-year period up to and 
including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, and from 
the Holding Announcement Date up to and including the Last Trading Day 

 
 
Source:  Bloomberg L.P., Company announcements and news articles 

 
 
 
 
 

 
1 As the Company had requested for a trading halt on 20 January 2021 prior to the open of trading on that day, 19 January 2021 

would be the last full trading day prior to the Offer Announcement Date. 
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Significant Announcements:  
 
A1. 11 February 2020. The Company announced that it had entered into a memorandum of understanding 

MoU
(Singapore) Pte Ltd and Bureau Marine (Singapore) Pte Ltd for the joint design, development and 

-in hybrid electric fast launch. The scope of cooperation includes 
integrating hybrid electric solutions, testing and certification. The know-how generated will support 

doption of hybrid electric propulsion systems for its maritime industry. Under 
the MoU, the Company will design, construct and commission a newbuild hybrid launch boat installed with 
a system developed by BOS Offshore & Marine Pte Ltd. The Company will own and operate the vessel on 
commercial routes. The vessel is expected to be delivered in the first or second quarter of 2020.  

A2. 9 March 2020. Equity markets globally plunged on Monday, 9 March 20202 as investors fled to bonds to 
hedge the economic shock of the Covid-19 pandemic and the plunge in oil prices after an all-out price war 

 including Russia and Saudi Arabia. As a background, the 
price war was triggered3 by a break-up in dialogue between the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting 
Countries ( OPEC ) and Russia over proposed oil-production cuts in the midst of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
On this day, the Straits Times Index closed down by approximately 6%.  

A3. 9 April 2020. SPA  
Vendor

of Swissco Offshore (Pte). Ltd. SOPL  for a total consideration of US$1.4 million, subject to the fulfilment 
of the specified terms and conditions set forth in the SPA Proposed Acquisition of SOPL . SOPL owns 

Tuas 
Property
2021, the Board of Directors of the Company are of the view that the Proposed Acquisition of SOPL presents 
an opportunity for the Company to lease a suitable replacement waterfront property for the growing 
shipbuilding and repair activities over the long term. With an estimated land area of 26,000 sqm and a 100m 
waterfront, the Tuas Property is 
Acquisition of SOPL, the Company plans to develop a dedicated one-stop aluminium shipbuilding hub that 
will design, build and maintain larger and more complex vessels for a growing local and international client 
base.  

A4. 16 April 2020. The Company announced that it will be ceasing quarterly reporting of its financial results with 
immediate effect following the amendments to the SGX Mainboard Listing Rules which took effect from 7 
February 2020.  

A5. 7 September 2020. In relation to the 9 April 2020 announcement mentioned in point A3 above, the Company 
announced that the Proposed Acquisition of SOPL was completed on 7 September 2020. 

A6. 21 December 2020. The Company released a Holding Announcement that the Directors have been notified 
by JHYP and JTTC that they are in non-binding discussions with a potential investor in relation to a possible 
transaction involving the Shares. There is no certainty that any specific or definitive agreement will be 
entered into or that any transaction will materialise from the on-going discussions.  

Earnings Announcements:  
 
E1. 21 February 2019. The Company announced its unaudited results for the financial year ended 31 December 

FY Group approximately S$79.76 million in FY2017 
to approximately S$107.27 million in FY2018. This increase was due mainly to an increase in shipbuilding 
and chartering activities. approximately S$19.46 
million in FY2017 to approximately S$33.71 million in FY2018. This increase was due mainly to higher 
contributions from shipbuilding and chartering activities. As a result, the Group posted a net profit after tax 
of approximately S$13.58 million in FY2018, as compared to a profit of approximately S$2.28 million in 
FY2017. 

E2. 15 May 2019. 1Q
approximately S$25.95 million in 1Q2018 to 

approximately S$15.81 million in 1Q2019. The decrease was due mainly to a decrease in the sale of stock 
crewboats and was partially offset by an increase in chartering activities. T
by 19.9% from approximately S$6.85 million in 1Q2018 to approximately S$5.48 million in 1Q2019 due 
mainly to a decrease in revenue from the sale of stock crewboats. As a result, the Group posted a net profit 
of approximately S$0.91 million in 1Q2019, compared to a profit of approximately S$2.10 million in 1Q2018.  

E3. 5 August 2019. The 1H
approximately S$45.69 million in 1H2018 to 

approximately S$67.94 million in 1H2019. This increase was due mainly to an increase in the number of 
stock 
crewboats. T approximately S$12.93 million in 1H2018 to 
approximately S$18.89 million in 1H2019 mainly due to higher contributions from both shipbuilding and 
chartering activities. As a result, the Group posted a net profit of approximately S$8.37 million in 1H2019, 
compared to a net profit of approximately S$5.66 million in 1H2018.  

 
2 Extracted from https://www.straitstimes.com/business/companies-markets/asia-shares-sink-as-coronavirus-panic-grips-oil-

prices-plunge-sti-opens on the Latest Practicable Date. 
3 Extracted from https://edition.cnn.com/2020/03/08/investing/oil-prices-crash-opec-russia-saudi-arabia/index.html on the Latest 

Practicable Date. 
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E4. 7 November 2019. The Company announced its unaudited results for the financial period ended 30 
3Q approximately S$65.42 million 

in 3Q2018 to approximately S$97.05 million in 3Q2019. This increase was due mainly to an increase in the 
number of stock vessels sold, as well as an improvement in charter rates and increase in fleet size of the 

T approximately S$19.80 
million in 3Q2018 to approximately S$29.36 million in 3Q2019. As a result, the Group posted a net profit of 
approximately S$13.95 million in 3Q2019, compared to a net profit of approximately S$6.32 million in 
3Q2018.  

E5. 25 February 2020. The Company announced its unaudited results for FY
increased by 27.1% from approximately S$107.27 million in FY2018 to approximately S$136.34 million in 
FY2019. This increase was due mainly to an increase in the number of stock vessels sold year-on-year, as 
well as growing fleet of owned-and-operated crewboats that are enjoying improved utilisation and charter 
rates. T approximately S$33.71 million in FY2018 to 
approximately S$40.86 million in FY2019. As a result, the Group posted a net profit of approximately S$19.41 
million in FY2019, compared to a net profit of approximately S$13.58 in FY2018.  

E6. 6 August 2020. The Company announced its unaudited results for 1H2
decreased by 26.2% from approximately S$67.94 million in 1H2019 to approximately S$50.14 million in 
1H2020. This decline was due mainly to fewer stock vessels sold and a decrease in chartering activities over 
the period as the -19 pandemic and weak oil prices. 
T approximately S$18.15 million in 1H2019 to 
approximately S$12.63 million in 1H2020. As a result, the Group posted a net profit of approximately S$3.91 
million in 1H2020, compared to a net profit of approximately S$8.37 million in 1H2019.  

 
Based on the chart above, we note that over the 2-year period up to and including the last full 
trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, and from the Holding 
Announcement Date up to and including the Last Trading Day, save for the period between 15 
October 2019 and 6 March 2020 where the closing prices of the Shares had mostly been above 
the Offer Price, the closing prices of the Shares had consistently been below the Offer Price.  
 
We set out below the daily closing price and daily trading volume of the Shares for the period 
after the Offer Announcement Date up to the Latest Practicable Date.  

  
Daily closing price and daily trading volume of the Shares for period after the Offer 
Announcement Date up to the Latest Practicable Date 

  
  

Source:  Bloomberg L.P.  
 
Based on charts above, we note that the last transacted price of the Shares on 19 January 
2021 (being the Last Trading Day) was S$0.63. On 22 January 2021 (being the Market Day 
after the Offer Announcement Date and the lifting of the trading halt), the price of the Shares 
rose to close at S$0.65. From 22 January 2021 to the Latest Practicable Date, the daily closing 
prices were between S$0.650 and S$0.655, representing a premium of up to 0.8% to the Offer 
Price. 
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We have also set out below the premium implied by the Offer Price over the historical volume 
VWAP Shares from 19 

December 2018 (being the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to 
the release of the Holding Announcement) up to and including the Latest Practicable Date. 

 

Premium implied by the Offer Price over VWAP(1)  

 VWAP 

Premium of 
Offer Price 
over VWAP 

Highest 
traded 
price 

Lowest 
traded 
price 

Average 
daily traded 

volume(2) 

Average daily 
traded 

volume(2) as a 
percentage of 

free float(3) 
 (S$) (%) (S$) (S$)  (%) 

Periods up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement  
2-year  0.557 16.7 0.790 0.260 394 0.30 

1-year 0.551  18.0 0.760 0.355  262  0.20 

6-month  0.450  44.4  0.505 0.405  113  0.09 

3-month  0.456  42.5  0.500 0.410  105  0.08 

1-month  0.480  35.4  0.500 0.435  173  0.13 

18 December 2020, 
being the last full 
trading day prior to the 
release of the Holding 
Announcement  

0.500  30.0  0.500(4) 0.480(4) 840 0.64 

Periods after the release of the Holding Announcement up to and including the Last Trading Day 

From 21 December 
2020 (being the Holding 
Announcement Date) to 
19 January 2021 (the 
Last Trading Day) 

0.609 6.7 0.655 0.560 703 0.53 

Last Trading Day 0.630 3.2  0.640(5) 0.630(5) 496 0.38 

Periods after the Offer Announcement Date up to and including the Latest Practicable Date 
Period between 22 
January 2021 and the 
Latest Practicable Date 

0.650 0.0 0.655 0.650 1,801 1.36 

Latest Practicable Date 0.650 0.0 0.655(6) 0.650(6) 123 0.09 

Source: Bloomberg L.P. 
 
Notes: 
 
(1) VWAP is calculated based on the aggregate daily turnover value of the Shares and aggregate daily traded 

volume of the Shares for the relevant trading days for each relevant period as obtained from Bloomberg L.P,, 
excluding off-market transactions; 

 
(2) The average daily traded volume of the Shares is calculated based on the total volume of Shares traded 

during the relevant periods, divided by the number of market days (excluding days with full day trading halts 
on the Shares) during that relevant period; 

 
(3) Free float refers to approximately 132,082,343 Shares, representing approximately 59.99% of the issued 

Shares held by the public (as defined under the Listing Manual) as extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at the 
Latest Practicable Date;  

(4) On 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, the 
highest intra-day traded price was S$0.500 and the lowest intra-day traded price was S$0.480; 

 
(5) On 19 January 2021 (being the Last Trading Day), the highest intra-day traded price was S$0.640 and the 

lowest intra-day traded price was S$0.630; and 
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(6) On 15 February 2021 (being the Latest Practicable Date), the highest intra-day traded price was S$0.655 
and the lowest intra-day trade price was S$0.650. 

 
Based on the above, we note the following: 
 
(i) The Offer Price of S$0.65 is within the range of the closing prices of the Shares traded 

over the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release 
of the Holding Announcement, which is between a low of S$0.260 and a high of 
S$0.790;  
 

(ii) The Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 16.7%, 18.0%, 44.4%, 42.5% 
and 35.4% over the VWAP of the Shares for the 2-year, 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 
1-month period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release of the 
Holding Announcement respectively; 
 

(iii) The Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 30.0% over the closing price 
of the Shares of S$0.500 on 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to 
the release of the Holding Announcement;  
 

(iv) Between the Holding Announcement Date and the Last Trading Day, the Offer Price 
represents a premium of approximately 6.7% to the VWAP of the Shares of 
approximately S$0.609;  
 

(v) The Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 3.2% over the closing price of 
the Shares of S$0.630 on the Last Trading Day;  
 

(vi) Between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date, the Offer 
Price is at the VWAP of the Shares of approximately S$0.650;  
 

(vii) The Offer Price is at the closing price of the Shares of S$0.650 on the Latest 
Practicable Date; 
 

(viii) During the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release 
of the Holding Announcement, the average daily traded volume of the Shares was 
approximately 393,904 Shares representing 0.30% of the free float. While there 
appears to be a ready market for the Shares as indicated by the regular frequency of 
transactions, the absolute traded volume of the Shares is nevertheless very thin which 
renders the Shares illiquid for investors who wish to undertake transactions in larger 
amount of Shares; 
 

(ix) Between the Holding Announcement Date and the Last Trading Day, trading liquidity 
of the Shares rose to an average daily traded volume of approximately 702,540 Shares, 
representing approximately 0.53
average daily traded volume of approximately 393,904 Shares over the 2-year period 
up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement; and 
 

(x) Between the Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date, trading 
liquidity of the Shares rose significantly to an average daily traded volume of 
approximately 1,800,813 Shares, representing approximately 1.36
free float, as compared to the average daily traded volume of approximately 393,904 
Shares over the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the 
release of the Holding Announcement.  

 
Based on the above observations, it appears likely that the market price and the trading volume 
of the Shares have been supported by the Offer subsequent to the Holding Announcement 
Date and the Offer Announcement Date. Shareholders should note that the Offer will not 
become or be capable of being declared unconditional until the Acceptance Condition is met. 
As such, there is no assurance that the market price and trading volume of the Shares will be 
maintained at the prevailing level as at the Latest Practicable Date after the close of the Offer. 
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Shareholders are advised that the historical trading performance of the Shares should 
not, in any way, be relied upon as an indication or a promise of its future trading 
performance.  
 

8.2 Share price performance relative to market indices  
 
To gauge the market price performance of the Shares relative to the general share price 
performance of the Singapore equity market and of maritime related companies listed on the 
SGX-ST, we have compared the market price movement of the Shares against the following 
indices: 
 
(i) The FTSE Straits Times Index (the FSSTI , which is a market capitalisation weighted 

index based on stocks of 30 representative companies listed on the Mainboard of the 
SGX-ST; and  
 

(ii) The FSTAM , which is a market capitalisation weighted 
index that measures the performance of companies that earn a substantial proportion 
of their revenue from maritime related activities from the underlying FTSE ST All-Share 
Index. 

 
Both the FSSTI and FSTAM have been rebased to the closing price of the Company as at the 
beginning of the 1-year period (being 19 December 2019) prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement. The market price performance of the Shares relative to the rebased FSSTI 
and the rebased FSTAM for the period from 19 December 2019 up to and including the Latest 
Practicable Date, is illustrated below.  
 

Share price performance against the market indices (rebased) 

 
 

Source:  Bloomberg L.P. 
 
We have also set out in the table below the movements in the last transacted prices of the 
Shares, the rebased FSSTI and the rebased FSTAM between 18 December 2020, being the 
last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement and the Latest Practicable 
Date: 
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As at 18 December 2020, 
being the last full trading 
day prior to the Holding 

Announcement 
(S$) 

As at the Latest 
Practicable Date 

(S$) 

Percentage 
Change 

(%) 

Shares  0.500 0.650 30.0 

Rebased FSSTI  0.648 0.667 2.9 

Rebased FSTAM 0.606 0.676 11.6 

Source:  Bloomberg L.P. 
 
Based on the above, we note the following: 

 
(i) During the 1-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release 

of the Holding Announcement, the Shares had generally under-performed the rebased 
FSSTI and the rebased FSTAM, save for the period between December 2019 and 
February 2020 where the Shares had either outperformed or performed in tandem with 
the rebased FSSTI and the rebased FSTAM; and 

 
(ii) Between 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to the release of the 

Holding Announcement and the Latest Practicable Date, the Shares had outperformed 
the rebased FSSTI and the rebased FSTAM, having increased by 30.0% as compared 
to the increase of 2.9% in the rebased FSSTI and the increase of 11.6% in the rebased 
FSTAM over the same period. 
 

It appears likely that the market price of the Shares is likely to have been supported by the 
Offer subsequent to the Holding Announcement Date. As such, there is no assurance that the 
market price of the Shares will be maintained at the prevailing level as at the Latest Practicable 
Date after the close of the Offer.  
 

8.3 Historical financial information of the Group 
 

8.3.1 Historical financial performance of the Group 
 

For the purpose of 
audited financial statements for FY2018, FY2019 
statements for FY2020.  
 
A summary of the financial results of the Group for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 is set out in 
the table below. The following summary financial information should be read in conjunction with 
the full text of the annual reports and results announcements of the Group in respect of the 
relevant financial years including the notes thereto. 
 

Summary Consolidated 
Income Statement  

 

FY2018 
(Audited) 

FY2019 
(Audited) 

FY2019 
(Unaudited) 

(Reclassified)(1) 

FY2020 
(Unaudited) 

 
Revenue 

 
107,268 

 
136,337 

 
136,337 

 
119,417 

 
Gross profit 

 
33,707 

 
40,861 

 
40,570 

 
33,498 

Gross profit margin 31.4% 30.0% 29.8% 28.1% 
 

 
 

15,497 
 

19,961 
 

19,961 
 

15,364 
PBT margin 14.4% 14.6% 14.6% 12.9% 
 

 
 

13,582 
 

19,414 
 

19,414 
 

13,207 
NPAT margin 12.7% 14.2% 14.2% 11.1% 
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Summary Consolidated 
Income Statement  

 

FY2018 
(Audited) 

FY2019 
(Audited) 

FY2019 
(Unaudited) 

(Reclassified)(1) 

FY2020 
(Unaudited) 

 
Profit for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company  

 
13,583 

 
19,415 

 
19,415 

 
13,208 

Net profit margin (excludes non-
controlling interests)  

12.7% 14.2% 14.2% 11.1% 

 
Sources: The Company’s annual reports for FY2018 and FY2019 and the results announcement of the Group for 
FY2020. 
 
Note: 
 
(1)  results 

administrative expenses and finance costs had been reclassified. The depreciation of right-of-use assets of 
approximately $0.28 million and interest expenses on lease liabilities of approximately S$0.02 million in 
relation to lease of worker dormitories that were previously classified as administrative expense and finance 
costs in FY2019 respectively had been reclassified to cost of sales to provide a more meaningful comparison 
of costs. 

 
Revenue of the Group by 

 
FY2018  

(Audited) 
FY2019  

(Audited) 
FY2020 

(Unaudited) 
 
Shipbuilding, ship repair and 
maintenance 

 
82,540 

 
108,417 

 
97,743 

Percentage of revenue 76.9% 79.5% 81.9% 
 
Chartering 

 
24,728 

 
27,920 

 
21,674 

Percentage of revenue 23.1% 20.5% 18.1% 
 
Revenue 

 
107,268 

 
136,337 

 
119,417 

 
Sources: The Company’s annual reports for FY2018 and FY2019 and the results announcement of the Group for 
FY2020. 
 
FY2019 as compared to FY2018 
 
The Grou revenue had increased by approximately S$29.07 million or 27.1% from 
approximately S$107.27 million in FY2018 to approximately S$136.34 million in FY2019. The 
increase in revenue was due mainly to an increase in the number of stock vessels sold year-
on-year, as well as a growing fleet of owned-and-operated crewboats that are enjoying 
increased utilisation and charter rates.  
 
The 15 million or 21.2% from 
approximately S$33.71 million in FY2018 to approximately S$40.86 million in FY2019. This 
increase was in line with the increase in revenue. However, the gross profit margin had 
decreased slightly from approximately 31.4% in FY2018 to approximately 30.0% in FY2019. 
This decrease was due to lower margins from the shipbuilding activities which was partially 
offset by an improvement in margins from chartering activities.  
 

approximately S$4.46 million or 28.8% from approximately S$15.50 million in FY2018 to 
approximately S$19.96 million in FY2019.  
 
The Group recorded an income tax expense of approximately S$1.92 million in FY2018 and 
approximately S$0.55 million in FY2019. The lower income tax expense was due mainly to a 

 
 
As a result of the above, the Group posted profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
Company of approximately S$19.42 million in FY2019, compared to a profit of approximately 
S$13.58 million in FY2018.  
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FY2020  as compared to FY2019 (reclassified) 
 

y approximately S$16.92 million or 12.4% from 
approximately S$136.34 million in FY2019 to approximately S$119.42 million in FY2020. The 
decline was due mainly to fewer stock vessels sold and a decrease in chartering activities over 

-19 pandemic 
and weak oil prices. Demand for new vessels had weakened and crewboat charter rates and 
utilisation rates had fallen.  
 
In FY2020, the Group delivered 27 new vessels, of which 14 were built for stock and chartering, 
and 13 were built to order. This is in contrast to FY2019 where the Group had delivered 32 new 
vessels of which 19 were built for stock and chartering and 13 were built to order.  
 

7.07 million or 17.4% from 
approximately S$40.57 million in FY2019 to approximately S$33.50 million in FY2020. The 
decrease was due mainly to lower contribution from shipbuilding and chartering activities over 
the period.  
 
The Group recorded income tax expense of approximately S$0.55 million in FY2019 and 
approximately S$2.16 million in FY2020. The increase in income tax expense was due mainly 
to lower R&D tax incentives.  
 
As a result of the above, the Group posted net profit attributable to owners of the Company of 
approximately S$13.21 million in FY2020, compared to a profit of approximately S$19.42 
million in FY2019. 
 

8.3.2 Historical financial position of the Group 
 

The unaudited statement of financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 is set out 
in the table below. The following statement of financial position of the Group should be read in 
conjunction with the full text of the results announcements of the Group in respect of FY2020 
including the notes thereto. 
 
 Summary of Statement of Financial Position  
( ) 

As at  
31 December 2020 

(Unaudited)  
Non-current assets  
Intangible asset 78 
Property, plant and equipment 100,451 
Right-of-use assets 8,984 
Quoted investment 3,157 
Other receivable 2,345 
Total non-current assets                 115,015     

Current assets 
 

Inventories                    57,344  
Trade receivables                     10,120  
Other receivables and deposits                   12,692  
Contract assets                     1,695  
Prepayments                        409  
Short-term deposits                      4,201  
Cash and bank balances                   35,775  
Total current assets                 122,236  
  

Total assets 237,251 
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 Summary of Statement of Financial Position  
( ) 

As at  
31 December 2020 

(Unaudited)  
Current liabilities                   47,352  
Non-current liabilities                   15,264  
Total equity 174,635 
  
Total liabilities and equity 237,251 

 
Source: The results announcement of the Group for FY2020. 

  
Total Assets 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has total assets of approximately S$237.25 million 
comprising non-current assets of approximately S$115.02 million, representing 48.5% of total 
assets and current assets of approximately S$122.24 million, representing 51.5% of total assets.  
 
The non-current assets of the Group comprised mainly property, plant and equipment PPE
of approximately S$100.45 million, right-of-use assets of approximately S$8.98 million and 
quoted investment of approximately S$3.16 million, representing approximately 87.3%, 7.8% 
and 2.7% of total non-current assets respectively.  
 
Out of the PPE of approximately S$100.45 million as at 31 December 2020, motor launches 

Motor Launches  accounted for approximately S$60.32 million and (i) the Tuas Property, 
being 21 Tuas Road, Singapore 638489; (ii) a leasehold building, being a shipyard located in 
Kawasan Industri Sekupang, Kelurahan Tanjung Riau, Kecamatan Sekupang, Kota Batam, 
Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 29425 Indonesia Shipyard
Pulau Seloko  Tanjung Uncang, Kelurahan Tanjung Riau, Kecamatan Sekupang, Kota Batam, 
Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 29425 Seloko Land , collectively accounted for 
approximately S$13.84 million. 
 
Out of the right-of-use assets of approximately S$8.98 million as at 31 December 2020, the 
leasehold land for the Tuas Property leased from JTC accounted for approximately S$7.92 
million. 
 
The quoted investment of approximately S$3.16 million as at 31 December 2020 relates to the 

Marco Polo company listed on the 
Mainboard of the SGX-ST.  
 
As at 31 December 2020, the current assets of the Group comprised mainly inventories of 
approximately S$57.34 million, short term deposits of approximately S$4.20 million and cash 
and cash equivalents of approximately S$35.78 million, representing approximately 46.9%, 3.4% 
and 29.3% of total current assets respectively.  
 
Liabilities and equity 
 
As at 31 December 2020, the Group has total liabilities of approximately S$62.62 million 
comprising mainly trade payables of approximately S$18.77 million, other payables and 
accruals of approximately S$22.31 million, current and non-current lease liabilities of 
approximately S$9.13 million and current and non-current term loans of approximately S$4.46 
million, representing approximately 30.0%, 35.6%, 14.6% and 7.1% of total liabilities 
respectively.  
 
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company as at 31 December 2020 was approximately 
S$174.64 million. 
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8.3.3 Historical cash flow of the Group 
 
A summary of the cash flows of the Group for FY2018, FY2019 and FY2020 is set out in the 
table below. The following summary financial information should be read in conjunction with the 
full text of the annual reports and results announcements of the Group in respect of the relevant 
financial years including the notes thereto. 
 
Summary Consolidated Statement of Cash 
Flows  

FY2018 
(Audited) 

FY2019 
(Audited) 

FY2020 
(Unaudited) 

 
Net cash from/ (used in) operating activities 

 
13,424  

 
30,589  

 
(5,359) 

 
Net cash (used in) investing activities 

 
(7,170) 

 
(8,589) 

 
(14,330) 

 
Net cash (used in) financing activities 

 
(3,713) 

 
(5,656) 

 
(2,831) 

 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
2,541  

 
16,344  

 
(22,520) 

 
Sources: The Company’s annual reports for FY2018 and FY2019 and the results announcement of the Group for 
FY2020. 
 
FY2018 
 
The net cash of approximately S$13.42 million from operating activities was mostly generated 
by shipbuilding activities. 
 
The net cash of approximately S$7.17 million used in investing activities arose mostly from the 

which was partially offset by the sale of  
 
The net cash of approximately S$3.71 million used in financing activities was due to the 
repayment of term loans and a dividend payment as approved by the Shareholders in its Annual 
General Meeting held on 24 April 2018. 
 

by approximately S$2.54 million in FY2018.  
 
FY2019 
 
The net cash of approximately S$30.59 million from operating activities in FY2019 was mostly 
generated by  
 
The net cash of approximately S$8.59 million used in investing activities in FY2019 arose from 
the addition of new Flex crewboats 
by the sale of vessels from the fleet. 
 
The net cash of approximately S$5.66 million used in financing activities in FY2019 arose from 
the repayment of term loans, a dividend payment as approved by the Shareholders at its Annual 
General Meeting held on 25 April 2019, payment of principal portion of lease liabilities and 
pledged deposits with licensed banks. 
 
As a result of the above cash movements d 
by approximately S$16.34 million in FY2019. 
 
FY2020 
 
In FY2020, the net cash of approximately S$5.40 million used in operating activities was used 
mostly in shipbuilding activities.  
 
The net cash of approximately S$14.33 million used in investing activities in FY2020 arose from 
the addition of new vessels to the fleet, investment in a new shipyard at the Tuas Property and 



A-23

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS OF 
THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

upgrading of shipbuilding facilities at the Indonesia Shipyard. This was partially offset by the 
ating fleet.  

 
The net cash of approximately S$2.83 million used in financing activities in FY2020 was used 
for the repayment of a term loan, a dividend payment as approved by the Shareholders at its 
Annual General Meeting held on 29 May 2020, payment for the principal portion of the lease 
liabilities and pledged deposits with licenced banks. This was offset by the draw down of a 

Programme.  
 
As a result of the above cash movements
by approximately S$22.52 million in FY2020. 
 

8.4 NAV per Share 
 
The NAV of a group refers to the aggregate value of all the assets in their existing condition, 
net of non-controlling interests and all liabilities. The NAV approach may provide an estimate 
of the value of a group assuming the hypothetical sale of its assets over a reasonable period 
of time, the proceeds of which would first be used to settle liabilities of that group with the 
balance available for distribution to its shareholders. Therefore, the net assets of a group are 
perceived as providing support for the value of its equity. Given the asset-intensive nature of 

hipbuilding, ship repair and maintenance and chartering businesses, we have 
focused on the asset-based valuation approach (as opposed to other valuation approaches) 
for the purpose of evaluating the financial terms of the Offer. 
 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, Shareholders should note that an analysis based on the NAV 
of the Group provides an estimate of the value of the Group based on a hypothetical scenario, 
and such hypothetical scenario is assumed to be made without considering factors such as, 
inter alia, time value of money, market conditions, legal and professional fees, liquidation costs, 
contractual obligations, any regulatory requirements and availability of potential buyers, which 
may in theory, alter the NAV that can be realised. While the asset base of the Group can be a 
basis for valuation, such a valuation does not necessarily imply a realisable market value as 
the market value of the assets and liabilities may vary depending on prevailing market and 
economic conditions.  
 
A summary of the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020 is set out below: 
  

Unaudited as at 31 
December 2020 

( )  

Contribution to total 
assets  

(%) 
Non-current assets   
PPE 
- Tuas Property 
- Indonesia Shipyard and Seloko Land 
- Other leasehold buildings  
- Motor Launches 
- Machinery and equipment 
- Office equipment 
- Motor vehicles 
- Deferred drydocking expenditure 
- Construction-in-progress 
 

100,451 42.3 

Right-of-use assets 
- Tuas Property 
- Other short-term leases  

8,984 3.8 

   
Quoted investment  
- Marco Polo 

3,157 1.3 

   
Other non-current assets  2,423 1.0 
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Unaudited as at 31 

December 2020 
( )  

Contribution to total 
assets  

(%) 
Current assets 

 
 

Inventories  57,344 24.2 
Cash and bank balances 35,775 15.1 
Other current assets 29,117 12.3   

 

Total assets 237,251 100.0 
   
Total liabilities 62,616  
   
Total equity  174,635  
Less: Non-controlling interests (4)  
Total equity attributable to owners of the 
Company/NAV 

174,639  

Number of Shares as at Latest Practicable Date 220,169,774  
   
NAV per Share S$0.793  
 
Based on the table above, the Offer Price of S$0.65 per Share represents a P/NAV ratio of 0.82 
times, that is, the Offer Price is at a discount of 18.0% to the NAV per Share of S$0.793 as at 
31 December 2020. 

 
Ex-cash NAV per Share 
 
We note that the Group recorded term loan of approximately S$4.46 million and lease liabilities 

Borrowings as at 31 December 2020 and 
had recorded cash and bank balances of approximately S$35.78 million and short-term 

Total Cash
2020. Accordingly, the Group was in a significant net cash position of approximately S$26.39 
million or S$0.120 per Share, representing 15.1% of the NAV of the Group.  
 
After adjusting for the net cash and cash equivalents of approximately S$26.39 million, the ex-
cash NAV of the Group as at 31 December 2020 was approximately S$148.25 million or 
S$0.673 per Share (the Ex-cash NAV per Share ). The Offer Price, after adjusting for the net 
cash per Share of S$0.120 (the Ex-cash Offer Price ), is S$0.53.  
 
The Ex-Cash Offer Price of S$0.53 represents an Ex-Cash P/NA Ex-Cash P/NAV  ratio of 
0.79 times, that is the Ex-cash Offer Price represents a discount of 21.2% to the Ex-cash NAV 
per Share of S$0.673 as at 31 December 2020.  

 
8.5 RNAV per Share 

 
8.5.1 Summary 

 
We have considered the carrying values of the assets of the Group as at 31 December 2020 
to assess if any material assets should be revalued for the purpose of our assessment of the 
Offer Price compared to the NAV of the Group.  
 
The table below sets out the material assets of the Group and the basis for their carrying values 
as at 31 December 2020 as well as the bases adopted for the calculation of RNAV.  
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Assets Basis of value as at 31 

December 2020 
Value adopted for RNAV 

calculation 
PPE and Right-of-use 
assets 
- Tuas Property 

 

 
 
PPE 
Recognised initially at 
cost. Carried at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated 
impairment losses as at 
31 December 2020 
 
Right-of-use assets 
Recognised initially at 
cost. Carried at cost less 
any accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease 
liabilities as at 31 
December 2020 

 
 
Fair value based 
on the 
independent 
valuation by 
Robert Khan on 

-  market 
value basis using 
the income 
method and cost 
method 
 
 

 
 
Fair value 
based on the 
independent 
valuation by 
Robert Khan 
assuming the 
completion of 
phase 1 of the 
proposed 
development of 
the Tuas 
Property 

Completed 
Basis using 
the income 
method and 
cost method 
 

PPE 
- Indonesia Shipyard 

and Seloko Land 
 

 
Recognised initially at 
cost. Carried at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated 
impairment losses as at 
31 December 2020 

 
Fair value based on the 
independent valuation by MBPRU 
on a market value basis using cost 
approach with the replacement cost 
method for the Indonesia Shipyard 
and the market approach with the 
market data comparison method for 
the Seloko Land 
 

PPE 
- Motor Launches 
 

 
Recognised initially at 
cost. Carried at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated 
impairment losses as at 
31 December 2020 

 
Fair value based on the 
independent valuation by ALC 
Consulting on a current fair value 
basis using replacement cost 
method 
 

PPE 
- Other leasehold 

buildings 
- Machinery and 

equipment 
- Office equipment 
- Motor vehicles 
- Deferred drydocking 

expenditure 
- Construction in 

progress (excluding 
Tuas Property and 
Indonesia Shipyard) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Recognised initially at 
cost. Carried at cost, less 
accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated 
impairment losses as at 
31 December 2020 

 
Carrying value as at 31 December 
2020 
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Assets Basis of value as at 31 
December 2020 

Value adopted for RNAV 
calculation 

Quoted investment 
- Marco Polo  

 
Carried at fair values 
based on quoted price of 
Marco Polo as at 31 
December 2020 

 
Marked-to-market using VWAP of 
Marco Polo for the 1-year period 
prior to the Latest Practicable Date 

Other assets 
- comprising mainly 

cash and cash 
equivalents, 
inventories and 
trade and 
receivables 

 
Carrying values as at 31 
December 2020 

 
Carrying values as at 31 December 
2020 

 
Details on the revaluation of the PPE, right-of-use assets and quoted investment are set out in 
paragraphs 8.5.2 and 8.5.3 below. 
 

NAV adjustments for net revaluation surplus / (deficit)  
(S$ 000, unless otherwise indicated) 

As-is 
valuation 

Completed 
Basis 

valuation 
Unaudited NAV of the Group as at 31 December 2020 174,639 
Add:  Increase in net investment value in quoted 

investment 
1,093 

 Net revaluation surplus on Appraised Assets  27,556 28,716 
RNAV of the Group 203,288 204,448 
Number of Shares as at Latest Practicable Date 220,169,774 
RNAV per Share (S$) 0.923 0.929 
Discount to RNAV as implied by the Offer Price  29.6% 30.0% 

 
Based on the above, we note that the Offer Price of S$0.65 per Share represents a P/RNAV 
ratio of 0.70 times based on as-is valuation, that is the Offer Price represents a discount of 
approximately 29.6% to the RNAV per Share of S$0.923 adjusted based on as-is valuation and 
the Offer Price represents a P/RNAV ratio of 0.70 times based on a completed basis valuation 
that is the Offer Price is at a discount of approximately 30.0% to the RNAV per Share of 
S$0.929 adjusted based on a Completed Basis valuation. 

 
Shareholders should note that the above analysis on RNAV provides an estimate of the value 
of the Group assuming the hypothetical sale of the assets of the Group as at the Latest 
Practicable Date. However, such a hypothetical scenario is assumed to be made without 
considering factors such as, inter alia, time value of money, market conditions, professional 
fees, liquidation costs, contractual obligations, any other regulatory requirements and 
availability of potential buyers, which would in theory, alter the RNAV that can be realised.  
 
Shareholders should be aware that the Group has not realised the gain or loss as set out in the 
adjustments to the NAV as at the Latest Practicable Date. There is no assurance that the actual 
gain or loss (if any) eventually recorded by the Group will be the same as that derived from the 
assessments based on current market value, independent valuation 
estimates. 
 
The Independent Directors have confirmed, to the best of their knowledge and belief that:  
 
(a) save for the PPE, right-of-use assets and quoted investment detailed above, the other 

assets of the Company, comprising mainly inventories which represent approximately 
24.2% of total assets, have not been revalued for the purpose of determining the RNAV 
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of the Company. Save as disclosed in this letter and for the sale of inventories in the 
ordinary course of its business, there are no material differences between the 
realisable value of inventories and their respective book value as at 31 December 2020, 
which would result in a material impact on the NAV of the Group; 

 
(b) save as disclosed in this letter, they are not aware of any circumstances which may 

cause the unaudited NAV of the Group as at the Latest Practicable Date to be 
materially different from that recorded in the unaudited Statement of Financial Position 
of the Group as at 31 December 2020; 

 
(c) save for the sale of inventories in the ordinary course of its business, there have been 

no material disposals or acquisitions of assets by the Group between 31 December 
2020 and the Latest Practicable Date; 

 
(d) the Group does not have any plans for any impending material disposal or acquisition 

and/or material change 
s; 

 
(e) there are no contingent liabilities, bad or doubtful debts or impairment losses or material 

events as at the Latest Practicable Date which are likely to have a material impact on 
the unaudited NAV of the Group as at 31 December 2020;  

 
(f) there are no litigation, claim or proceedings pending or threatened against the Group 

or of any fact likely to give rise to any proceedings as at the Latest Practicable Date 
which would have an adverse material impact on the financial position of the Group; 
and 

 
(g) there are no other intangible assets as at the Latest Practicable Date which ought to 

be disclosed in the Statement of Financial Position of the Group in accordance with the 
Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) and which have not been 
disclosed that would have a material impact on the unaudited NAV of the Group as at 
31 December 2020. 

 
8.5.2 PPE and right-of-use assets 

 
In connection with the Offer, the Group had commissioned Robert Khan, MBPRU and ALC 
Consulting to carry out independent valuations of the Tuas Property, Indonesia Shipyard and 

Appraised Assets  as of 1 February 2021, 1 
February 2021 and 5 February 2021 respectively.  
 
Tuas Property  
 
As at the Latest Practi
new shipbuilding base in Singapore. Barring any unforeseen circumstances, the development 
of phase 1 of the Tuas Property is expected to be completed by the end of 2021.  
 
As mentioned in paragraph 8.5.1 above, Tuas Property is recognised and classified as 
leasehold building in PPE and right-of use asset on the balance sheet of the Company and its 
carrying value is recognised at cost. In our assessment of the revaluation surplus of the Tuas 
Property, we have aggregated the carrying values of the PPE and the right-of use assets 
relating to the Tuas Property and measured it against the independent valuation carried out by 
Robert Khan. In relation to the Completed Basis valuation of the Tuas Property, we have also 
considered an estimate of the construction costs to complete phase 1 of the proposed 
development of the Tuas Property when assessing the relevant revaluation surplus or deficit. 
 
The Tuas Property has a total existing gross floor area of 1,026.66 square metres and the 
Company has entered into lease agreements with the lessor JTC in respect of the leasehold 
land. The existing development of the Tuas Property consists of a 2-storey building and other 
ancillary facilities including, inter alia, an electrical substation, slipway, reinforced concrete pier 
and a hardstanding open yard. As mentioned above, the Tuas Property is under phase 1 of its 
development and the proposed development which is expected to be completed by the end of 
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2021 will have a gross floor area of 8,371.66 square metres and comprise of, inter alia, the 
erection of three workshops, the conversion of the existing slipway into deep water basin with 
finger pier and a slipway and the relocation of a workshop from 20 Tuas Basin Link to the Tuas 
Property and the retention of the existing 2-storey building, other ancillary facilities and other 
land improvements.  
 
Based on the foregoing, Robert Khan have valued the Tuas Property on the as-is basis and on 
Completed Basis. The as-is value is based on the Tuas Property existing as at the date of 
valuation and a lease term of 20 years commencing from 16 April 2020. The Completed Basis 
value is arrived at assuming satisfactory completion of phase 1 of the proposed development 
of the Tuas Property and subject to satisfactory completion of the proposed development and 

TOP
CSC  

 
In arriving at the as-is value and Completed Basis value of the Tuas Property, Robert Khan 
had prepared its valuation opinion based on the Market Value of the Tuas Property as at 1 
February 2021. the estimated amount for which 
a property should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller 
in an arm’s length transaction, after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion  
 
Pursuant to the valuation report dated 1 February 2021, the Market Value of the Tuas Property 
based on an as-is value and Completed Basis value was assessed using the income method 
and the cost method.  
 
Robert Khan had determined the as-is value of the Tuas Property to be S$7.80 million as at 1 
February 2021. Based on the corresponding carrying values of the Tuas Property of 
approximately S$10.36 million as at 31 December 2020, there is a revaluation deficit of 
approximately S$2.56 million based on as-is Market Value.  
 
Robert Khan had also determined the Completed Basis value of the Tuas Property to be 
S$19.00 million as at 1 February 2021 and we understand from Management that the remaining 
construction costs to complete phase 1 of the proposed development of the Tuas property is 
estimated to be approximately S$10.04 million. Based on the corresponding carrying values of 
the Tuas Property of approximately S$10.36 million as at 31 December 2020 and the estimated 
construction costs of approximately S$10.04 million, the revaluation deficit is estimated to be 
approximately S$1.40 million based on the Completed Basis value. 
 
Indonesia Shipyard and Seloko Land  
 
The Indonesia Shipyard and Seloko Land are registered in the name of PT Kim Seah Shipyard 
Indonesia, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. The Group primarily carries out its 
shipbuilding activities at the Indonesia Shipyard which comprises main workshops and other 
ancillary facilities including, inter alia, office buildings. The Indonesia Shipyard is situated on a 
total land area of 43,991 square metres.  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Seloko Land is in a raw state and has not been developed. 
The Seloko Land has a land area of 70,551 square metres.  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, upgrading activities of the Indonesia Shipyard is underway 
and is expected to be completed in the first half of 2021. Notwithstanding that, the Management 
has confirmed that the additional upgrading works of the Indonesia Shipyard is not expected 
to result in a material impact on the market valuation of the Indonesia Shipyard. In addition, the 
Management has confirmed that there are currently no definitive plans to develop the Seloko 
Land which will result in a material impact on the market valuation of the Seloko Land.  
 
MBPRU had prepared its valuation opinion based on the Indonesia Valuer Code of Ethics and 
Indonesian Valuer Standards in arriving at the Market Value of the Indonesia Shipyard and 
Seloko Land as at 1 February 2021. They have determined Market Value  of the Indonesia 
Shipyard and Seloko Land to mean the estimated amount of money that can be obtained or 
paid for the exchange of an asset or liability at the valuation date, between an interested buyer 
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and a seller who is interested in selling, in a bond-free transaction, which is marketed fairly, in 
which both parties – each act on the basis of his understanding, prudently and without coercion  
Market Value is also understood as the estimated value of an asset regardless of the cost of 
selling or buying and without being related to any related assignment of transfer tax related.  
 
Pursuant to the valuation report, the Market Value of (i) the Indonesia Shipyard was assessed 
using the cost approach with the replacement cost method; and (ii) the Seloko Land was 
assessed using the market approach with the market data comparison method.  
 
MBPRU had determined the Market Value of the Indonesia Shipyard and the Seloko Land to 
be approximately IDR129.73 billion (or translated into approximately S$12.32 million using an 
exchange rate of S$1:IDR10,528.95 as extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at 1 February 2021) 
and approximately IDR18.34 billion (or translated into approximately S$1.74 million using an 
exchange rate of S$1:IDR10,528.95 as extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at 1 February 2021) 
as at 1 February 2021 respectively. The corresponding carrying values of the Indonesia 
Shipyard and the Seloko Land was approximately S$10.30 million and approximately S$1.11 
million as at 31 December 2020 respectively, thus resulting in an aggregate revaluation surplus 
of approximately S$2.66 million.  
 
Motor Launches 
 
Motor Launches are held in PPE as part of the  operating fleet for their chartering 
activities. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Group holds 34 Motor Launches which includes 
different vessel types including, inter alia, aluminium ferry boats and crewboats, aluminium 
launch boats, aluminium line boats, barges and steel boats.  
 
ALC Consulting is a business valuation services firm focused on ship valuation and marine 
assets appraisal and had carried out market valuation of all 34 Motor Launches of the Group 
which accounted for an aggregate net book value of approximately S$60.32 million as at 31 
December 2020.   
 
ALC Consulting had prepared its valuation opinion based on the current fair value of the Motor 
Launches as at 5 February 2021 using the replacement cost method where they have 
considered the newbuilt construction price of a similar vessel and adjust for its corresponding 
age.  
 
ALC Consulting had determined the current fair value of the 34 Motor Launches to be 
approximately S$87.78 million as at 5 February 2021. The corresponding carrying values of 
the Motor Launches was approximately S$60.32 million as at 31 December 2020, thus resulting 
in a revaluation surplus of approximately S$27.46 million.  
 

 Revaluation surplus/(deficit) of the Appraised Assets   

 
Appraised Assets 

Net book value as 
at 31 December  

 
Market 

 
Net revaluation surplus/(deficit)(1) 

 2020 Value As-is Completed Basis 
Tuas Property 
- As-is 
- Completed Basis 

 
10,357(2)

20,397(3) 

 
7,800 

19,000 

 
(2,557) 

- 

 
- 

(1,397) 
Indonesia Shipyard 
and Seloko Land  

11,405 14,063(4) 2,658 2,658 

Motor Launches 60,320 87,775 27,455 27,455 

Total net revaluation surplus 27,556 28,716 
  
Source:  Independent Valuation reports dated 5 February 2021, 8 February 2021 and 10 February 2021, and 
Management 
 
Notes: 
 
(1) The surplus or deficit arising from the NAV adjustment is obtained based on the difference between the 

market value and the net book value of the Revalued Asset as at 31 December 2020;  
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(2) For the purposes of evaluating the revaluation surplus of the Tuas Property, the carrying value of Tuas 
Property includes the right-of-use assets which comprised the leasehold land for the Tuas Property leased 
from JTC of approximately S$7.92 million;  
 

(3) The carrying value of the Tuas Property as at 31 December 2020 on a Completed Basis value includes an 
estimate of the construction costs of approximately S$10.04 million to complete phase 1 of the proposed 
development of the Tuas Property; and 
  

(4) The exchange rate used to translate the valuation of the Indonesia Shipyard and Seloko Land of IDR148.07 
billion into Singapore dollars was S$1:IDR10,528.95 as extracted from Bloomberg L.P. as at 1 February 
2021. 

 
Under Rule 26.3 of the Code, the Company is required, inter alia, to make an assessment of 
any potential tax liability which would arise if the assets, which are the subject of a valuation 
given in connection with an offer, were to be sold at the amount of the valuation. Management 
is of the view that the potential tax liabilities which may be incurred by the Group on the 
hypothetical disposal of the Appraised Assets based on the valuations carried out by the 
Independent Valuers will not be material. The aforesaid tax liabilities are not likely to crystalise 
as the Group has no intention to sell the Appraised Assets as of the Latest Practicable Date.  

 
8.5.3 Quoted investment 
 

quoted investment in Marco Polo is approximately S$3.16 million as 
at 31 December 2020. Marco Polo is a Singapore-incorporated company listed on the 
Mainboard of the SGX-ST and they are principally engaged in the business of shipbuilding and 
the chartering of vessels. As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company holds 242,857,144 
shares, representing 6.9% of the issued shares in Marco Polo.  
 
We understand from Management that the quoted investment is Marco Polo is recognised as 
an investment in equity instrument that is not held for trading. Accordingly, quoted investment 
is accounted for at Polo of 
approximately S$3.16 million as at 31 December 2020, the approximate implied value of each 
Marco Polo share as at 31 December 2020 was S$0.013 Marco Polo Carrying Value  
 
As at the Latest Practicable Date, the last traded price of Marco Polo was S$0.021, 
representing a premium of 61.5% over the Marco Polo Carrying Value. As the shares of Marco 
Polo are freely traded and listed on the SGX- quoted 
investment in Marco Polo to marked-to-market using VWAP of Marco Polo for the 1-year period 
prior to the Latest Practicable Date of S$0.0175 per share, resulting in an adjusted total value 
of approximately S$4.25 million. Accordingly, the revaluation s
investment in Marco Polo is estimated to be approximately S$1.09 million.  
 
However, while Marco Polo is a listed security on the SGX-ST, we note that due to its low 

quoted investment in Marco Polo can be fully realised at 
the current market price.  

 
8.6 Historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares 

 
We have compared the P/NAV ratio of the Shares as implied by the Offer Price against the 
historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares (based on the daily closing prices of the Shares 

19 December 2019 (being the 1-year 
period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement) up to and including the Latest Practicable Date.  
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Historical trailing P/NAV ratio(1)  

 
 
Source: Bloomberg L.P. and the Company’s results announcements 
 
Note:  

 
(1) P/NAV ratio of the Shares implied by the Offer Price (based on the latest NAV per share as announced by 

the Company prior to the Latest Practicable Date) against the trailing P/NAV of the Shares based on the 
corresponding NAV per Share as announced by the Company. 

 
The average, minimum and maximum of the historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares for the 
various periods during the 1-year period up to and including 18 December 2020, being the last 
full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, and for the periods after the 
release of the Holding Announcement up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out below: 

 
Historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares 

 Historical trailing P/NAV ratio (times) 
 Average Maximum Minimum 

Periods prior to the release of the Holding Announcement  
1-year 0.67 1.00 0.49 
6-month 0.58 0.66 0.53 
3-month 0.58 0.65 0.53 
1-month 0.62 0.65 0.58 
Period after the release of the Holding Announcement up to and including the Last Trading 
Day 
From 21 December 2020 (being the Holding 
Announcement Date) to 19 January 2021 (being 
the Last Trading Day) 

0.80 0.83 0.75 

Period after the Offer Announcement Date up to and including the Latest Practicable Date 
From 22 January 2021 to the Latest Practicable 
Date 

0.85 0.85 0.82 

 
Sources: Bloomberg L.P. and the Company’s results announcements 
 

  



A-32

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS OF 
THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

Based on the above, we note that:  
 
(a) The implied P/NAV ratio, implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio, implied P/RNAV ratio based 

on as is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 
0.82 times, 0.79 times, 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively are generally above the 
average historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares of 0.67 times, 0.58 times, 0.58 
times and 0.62 times for the 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 1-month period up to and 
including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement 
respectively;   

 
(b) The implied P/NAV ratio of 0.82 times is above the average historical trailing P/NAV 

ratio of the Shares of 0.80 times for the period between the Holding Announcement 
Date and the Last Trading Day;  

 
(c) The implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio, implied P/RNAV ratio based on as-is valuation and 

implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 0.79 times, 0.70 times 
and 0.70 times respectively are below the average historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the 
Shares of 0.80 times for the period between the Holding Announcement Date and the 
Last Trading Day; and 

 
(d) The implied P/NAV ratio, implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio and implied P/RNAV ratio based 

on as is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 
0.82 times, 0.79 times, 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively are below the average 
historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares of 0.85 times for the period between the 
Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date. 

 
8.7  

 
We have reviewed the recommendations and price targets of the Company by various analysts
research reports sourced from Bloomberg L.P. and the summary is set out in the table below. 

 
  

Analyst Date Target Price 
(S$) 

Premium of Offer Price 
over Target Price 

Phillip Securities 3 June 2020 0.55 18.2% 
CGS-CIMB 27 August 2020 0.55 18.2% 
UOB Kay Hian 28 August 2020 0.42 54.8% 
Mean  0.51 30.4% 

Sources: Analyst target prices as extracted from Bloomberg L.P. 
 

premium of approximately 30.4% over the average price target of S$0.51 by all three analysts. 
 
We wish to highlight that the above analyst research reports are not exhaustive and the 
estimated price targets of the Shares in these reports represent the individual views of 
the respective analysts (and not PPCF) based on the circumstances, including but not 
limited to, market, economic and industry conditions and market sentiment and investor 
perceptions on the prospects of the Company, prevailing at the date of the publication 
of the respective reports. The opinion of the analysts may change over time due to, inter 
alia ate developments and the 
emergence of new information relevant to the Company. As such, the estimated price 
targets in these analyst reports may not be an accurate prediction of future market 
prices of the Shares.  
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8.8 Valuation ratios of selected listed companies broadly comparable to the Group 
 

For the purpose of evaluating the financial terms of the Offer, we have made reference to the 
valuation ratios of selected companies listed on the SGX-ST which we consider to be broadly 
comparable to the Company, to get an indication of the current market expectations with regard 
to the perceived valuation of the Company. 
 
In light of the lack of direct comparable companies on the SGX-ST, we have expanded our 
coverage, through a search on publicly available information, to include companies which, inter 
alia, are primarily engaged in the shipbuilding, ship repair and maintenance, chartering and 
related businesses Comparable Companies . We are of the view that in the absence of 

SGX-ST, the Comparable Companies are suitable to serve as a basis for comparison and the 
Independent Directors concurs with our view.  
 
In evaluating these companies, we have applied and used the following valuation ratios:  
 
Valuation ratios General descriptions 

P/NAV P/NAV price-to-NAV

common equity as indicated on its balance sheet. Comparisons of companies 
using their book NAVs are affected by differences in their respective accounting 
policies, in particular their depreciation and asset valuation policies.  

P/E P/E price-to-earnings
relative to its earnings per share. The P/E multiple is affected by, inter alia, the 
capital structure of a company, its tax position as well as its accounting policies 
relating to depreciation and intangible assets.  

 
Brief descriptions of the Company and the Comparable Companies are set out below: 

  
Summary of Comparable Companies 

Name 

Market 
capitalisation 

(1) Business description 
 
The Company 

 
143.1 

 
The Company operates as an integrated marine and 
offshore services company. The Company serves 
customers worldwide and specializes in design, 
construction, and operation of high-speed aluminium 
ships. The Company also owns and operates a fleet of 
vessels as well as aluminium shipbuilding yards.  
 

 
ASL Marine Holdings 
Ltd ( ASL Marine  

 
22.0 

 
ASL Marine operates as a holding company. Through its 
subsidiaries, ASL Marine engages in shipbuilding, ship 
repair and conversion, marine vessel chartering, marine 
engineering, and other related services. ASL Marine 
serves customers worldwide. 
 

ES Group (Holdings) Ltd 
( ES Group  

9.9 ES Group is a marine and offshore group involved in 
newbuilding, conversion and repair of oceangoing 
vessels.  ES Group builds, converts, and repairs a wide 
range of vessels, such as tugs, barges, rigs, offshore 
support vessels, oil tankers, and cargo ships. 
 

Marco Polo Marine Ltd 
( Marco Polo  

74.0 Marco Polo is an integrated shipping company. They 
provide services that include ship chartering, ship building 
and repair, and brokering services. 
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Summary of Comparable Companies 

Name 

Market 
capitalisation 

(1) Business description 
Kim Heng Offshore & 
Marine Holdings Ltd 
( Kim Heng Offshore  

28.3 Kim Heng Offshore operates as an investment holding 
company. Through its subsidiaries, Kim Heng Offshore 
provides offshore rig mover and marine support services 
which includes construction, fabrication works, 
installation, afloat repairs, refurbishment, and 
maintenance for drilling rigs and vessels, offshore 
production modules, systems, and platforms. 
 

Vallianz Holdings Ltd 
( Vallianz  

28.0 Vallianz is a vessel and equipment owning and leasing 
company. Vallianz provides marine support services, 
primarily marine asset ownership, leasing, and fleet 
management. 

Atlantic Navigation 
Holdings Singapore Ltd 
( Atlantic Navigation  

13.6 Atlantic Navigation is a shipping company. Atlantic 
Navigation offers an integrated platform of services 
including vessel owning, operating, chartering of third-
party vessels, maintenance workshop and steel 
fabrication works for the offshore industry. Atlantic 
Navigation primarily operates its fleet in the Middle East 
and Indian markets. 
 

 Source:  Bloomberg L.P. 
 

Note: 

(1) Market capitalisation of the Comparable Companies is based on their respective last transacted prices as at 
the Latest Practicable Date. 
 

In our selection of the Comparable Companies, we have also taken into consideration (i) Nam 
Nam Cheong Triyards

marine offshore companies that are engaged in the provision of ship construction solutions. 
The shares of Nam Cheong and Triyards have been suspended for trading since April 2020 
and September 2017 respectively. Accordingly, any comparison between the Offer Price and 
the shares of Nam Cheong and Triyards are not meaningful.  
 
We wish to highlight that the Comparable Companies are not exhaustive and we 
recognise that there is no company listed on the SGX-ST which we may consider to be 
identical to the Company in terms of, inter alia, geographical spread, composition of 
business activities, scale of business operations, risk profile, asset base, market 
capitalisation, valuation methodologies adopted, accounting policies, track record, 
future prospects, market/industry size, political risk, competitive and regulatory 
environment, tax factors, financial positions and other relevant criteria and that such 
businesses may have fundamentally different annual profitability objectives. The 
Independent Directors should note that any comparison made with respect to the 
Comparable Companies herein is strictly limited in scope and merely serves to provide 
an illustrative perceived market valuation of the Company as at the Latest Practicable 
Date.  

 
  



A-35

APPENDIX A: LETTER FROM THE IFA TO THE INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS OF 
THE COMPANY IN RESPECT OF THE OFFER

We set out below the valuation statistics for the Comparable Companies based on their last 
transacted share prices as at the Latest Practicable Date.  

 
Valuation ratios of Comparable Companies  
Comparable 
Companies  

Market Capitalisation(1)   
million) 

LTM(2) P/E 
(times) 

P/NAV(3) 
(times) 

ASL Marine 22.0 n.m.(2) 0.20 

ES Group 9.9 1.49 0.31 

Marco Polo 74.0 n.m.(2) 0.74 

Kim Heng Offshore 28.3 n.m.(2) 0.47 

Vallianz 28.0 n.m.(2) 0.34 

Atlantic Navigation 13.6 n.m.(2) 0.13 

    

 Maximum 1.49(4) 0.74 
 Minimum 1.49(4) 0.13 
 Mean 1.49(4) 0.37 
 Median 1.49(4) 0.32 

    
Company (based on 
the Offer Price) 

 10.83 0.82 

 
Source:  Bloomberg L.P. and the relevant announcements by the Comparable Companies 

 
Notes:  
 
(1) Market capitalisation of the Comparable Companies is based on their respective last transacted prices as 

at the Latest Practicable Date;

(2) LTM means last twelve months and n.m. means not meaningful; 
 

(3) Based on the NAV per share obtained from Bloomberg L.P. a
most recently announced financial statements; and 
 

(4) The maximum, minimum, mean and median in relation to the LTM P/E of the Comparable Companies are 
all identical as save for ES Group, the Comparable Companies are loss-making.  

 
For illustration purposes only, we note that based on the Offer Price: 

 
(a) The implied P/E ratio of the Company is 10.83 times and is above the range of the LTM 

P/E ratios of the Comparable Companies, and higher than both the mean and median 
LTM P/E ratios of the Comparable Companies of 1.49 times. We wish to highlight that, 
save for ES Group, the Comparable Companies were loss-making and any 
comparison between the P/E ratio of the Company and those of the Comparable 
Companies would not be meaningful;  

 
(b) The implied P/NAV ratio and implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio of the Company of 0.82 

times and 0.79 times are above the range of the P/NAV ratios of the Comparable 
Companies and higher than both the mean and median P/NAV ratios of 0.37 times and 
0.32 times respectively; and 
 

(c) The implied P/RNAV ratio based on as-is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio based 
on Completed Basis valuation of 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively are within the 
range of the P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Companies and are higher than both the 
mean and median P/NAV ratios of 0.37 times and 0.32 times respectively.  
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8.9 Precedent privatisation and delisting transactions in Singapore 
 

The Offeror has stated that its intention is to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary 
and does not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the Offeror, if 
and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition (as defined below). 
Accordingly, for the purpose of our evaluation of the financial terms of the Offer, we have 
compared the valuation statistics implied by the Offer Price vis-à-vis recent successful 
privatisations and delistings of companies listed on the SGX-ST where the offeror has indicated 
similar intentions where it does not intend to preserve the listing status of the company.  
 
We set out below the statistics on (i) privatisation transactions of companies listed on the SGX-
ST, whether by way of scheme of arrangement under Section 210 of the Companies Act, 
voluntary gen VGO MGO

Voluntary Delisting VD
offer resulted in a successful privatisation and delisting of the target compan Precedent 
Privatisation Transactions  Transactions 
announced from 1 January 2019 up to the Latest Practicable Date are set out as follow: 

 
 
Precedent Privatisation Transactions 
 

       Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price over/(to)(1) 

Date of 
announcement Target Type 

Offer Price 
per Share 

(S$) 

Last 
Transact
ed Price 

(%) 

1- 
month 
VWAP  

(%)  

3-
month 
VWAP 

(%) 

6-
month 
VWAP 

(%) 

Offer 
Price to 

NTA/NAV 
(times) 

18 Dec 2020 Hi-P International 
Limited VGO 2.000 13.6 23.2 42.3 50.6 2.60(2) 

16 Sep 2020 LCT Holdings 
Limited VGO 0.600 39.5 60.8 61.7 61.5 0.91(3) 

3 Sep 2020 China Jishan 
Holdings Limited VGO 0.350 84.2 101.3 106.4 116.7 0.78(3) 

2 Sep 2020 SK Jewellery 
Group Limited VGO 0.150 70.5 90.2 94.8 93.7 1.31(2) 

12 Aug 2020 Teckwah Industrial 
Corporation Limited VGO 0.650 17.8 23.1 25.0 32.4 0.81(3) 

30 Jun 2020 Luzhou Bio-Chem 
Technology Limited VGO 0.300 100.0 87.5 130.8 150.0 n.m(4) 

12 Jun 2020 Perennial Real 
Estate Holdings 
Limited (5) 

VGO 0.950 88.1 105.2 124.2 112.7 0.56(6) 

1 Jun 2020 Dynamic Colours 
Limited VGO 0.225 13.6 22.8 29.1 27.1 0.95(7) 

3 Apr 2020 Elec & Eltek 
International 
Company Limited 

VGO 3.360(8) 93.0 61.3 43.8 48.4 1.00(6) 

24 Feb 2020 Breadtalk Group 
Ltd VGO 0.770 19.4 30.1 24.0 25.0 2.81(7) 

11 Nov 2019 AVIC International 
Marine Holdings 
Limited  

VGO 0.150 37.6 66.7 62.9 64.9 1.18(2) 

6 Nov 2019 Citic Envirotech 
Ltd.  VD 0.550 48.6 61.6 68.5 65.5 1.15(2)  

4 Nov 2019 PACC Offshore 
Services Holdings 
Ltd.  

VGO 0.215 69.3  99.4 93.0 70.2 0.96(3) 

25 Oct 2019 Raffles United 
Holdings Ltd.(9)  VGO 0.065 (1.5) 0.0 10.0 15.9 0.28(2) 

5 Sep 2019 San Teh Ltd VGO 0.280 81.8 90.5 83.0 84.2 0.40(3) 
20 Aug 2019 PS Group Holdings 

Ltd. VGO 0.118 195.0 266.7 267.5 267.5 0.62(3) 

5 Aug 2019 Star 
Pharmaceutical 
Limited 

MGO 0.450 157.1 160.1 176.1 186.6 0.67(3)  

29 Jul 2019 Delong Holdings 
Limited(10) VGO 7.000 1.9 8.0 17.9 37.2 0.60(2)  

5 Jul 2019 Health 
Management 
International Ltd(11)   

VD 0.730(12) 14.1 23.9 27.8 29.7 5.62(3) 

28 Jun 2019 Hupsteel Limited VGO 1.200 51.9 58.3 58.6 58.6 0.58(3) 
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Precedent Privatisation Transactions 
 

       Premium/(Discount) of Offer Price over/(to)(1) 

Date of 
announcement Target Type 

Offer Price 
per Share 

(S$) 

Last 
Transact
ed Price 

(%) 

1- 
month 
VWAP  

(%)  

3-
month 
VWAP 

(%) 

6-
month 
VWAP 

(%) 

Offer 
Price to 

NTA/NAV 
(times) 

15 May 2019 Boardroom Limited VGO 0.880 14.3 18.9 16.1 17.6 2.02(7) 
14 May 2019 Memtech 

International Ltd. VGO 1.350 23.9 31.5 31.6 35.6 1.09(2) 

6 May 2019 800 Super 
Holdings Limited VGO 0.900 16.1 30.8 31.2 25.3 2.06(3) 

4 Apr 2019 Kingboard Copper 
Foil Holdings 
Limited 

VGO 0.600 9.1 16.1 25.3 27.4 0.88(3) 

18 Jan 2019 Courts Asia Limited VGO 0.205 34.9 35.8 34.0 23.5 0.56(13) 
7 Jan 2019 Declout Limited(14) VGO 0.130 62.5 66.7 66.7 58.5 1.28(13) 
4 Jan 2019 PCI Limited(15) VGO 1.330 27.9 44.0 47.2 50.9 1.97(2) 
         
         
     Minimum (1.5) 0.0 10.0 15.9 0.28 
     Maximum 195.0 266.7 267.5 267.5 5.62 
   Mean(16)(17) 51.3 50.3 54.2 55.3 1.12 
     Median(16)(17) 37.6 44.0 43.8 50.6 0.95 
                 
21 Jan 2021 Company  

(implied by the Offer Price) 0.65 30.0 35.4(18) 42.5(18) 44.4(18) 0.82 
 
Source:  SGX-ST announcements and the respective target companies’ shareholders’ circular in relation to the 

Precedent Privatisation transactions. 
 

Notes:  
 
(1) Market premia/(discounts) calculated relative to the closing prices of the respective target companies one 

(1) day prior to the respective announcement dates and VWAP of the 1-month, 3-month and 6-month period 
prior to the respective announcements; 

 
(2) Based on the NTA/NAV per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective circulars of the target 

companies; 
 
(3) Based on the revalued NAV/NTA per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective circulars of 

the target companies;  
 

(4) -Chem Technology Limited had recorded a net tangible liability and 
revalued net tangible liability as at 31 December 2019;  

 
(5) Perennial

been notified that certain of its substantial shareholders were reviewing the options in relation to their 
shareholdings in Perennial. The market premia in the table above were computed based on the share prices 
for the period(s) prior to and including 15 May 2020, being the last undisturbed trading date;  

 
(6) Based on the adjusted revalued NAV/NTA per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective 

circulars of the target companies; 
 

(7) Based on the adjusted NAV/NTA per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective circulars of 
the target companies; 

 
(8) The offer price for Elec & Eltek International Limited was made at HK$18.07 which is equivalent to S$3.36 

after applying the 3 April 2020 (being the offer announcement date) exchange rate as extracted from 
Bloomberg L.P.;  

 
(9) On 1 July 2019, a mandatory unconditional cash offer was made for the issued shares in Raffles United 

Holdings Ltd. and the shares were subsequently suspended from trading on 14 August 2019 as a result of 
the loss of free float following the offer. The market premia/(discount) in the table above were computed 
based on the share prices for the period(s) prior to the suspension of the trading of the shares on 14 August 
2019 following the loss of free float; 

 
(10) On 27 September 2018, the voluntary conditional cash offer for the issued shares of Delong Holdings Limited 

was announced. On 11 October 2018, it was announced that the offer was withdrawn in accordance with 
Rule 4 of the Code. The market premia in the table above were computed based on the share prices for the 
period(s) up to and including 26 September 2018, being the last unaffected trading day;  
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(11) HMI
discussions with a third party regarding a possible transaction involving HMI. The market premia in the table 
above were computed based on the share prices for the periods(s) up to and including 14 June 2019, being 
the last undisturbed trading day; 

 
(12) The acquisition for all the issued shares of HMI by PanAsia Health Limited (being the offeror) was effected 

by way of a scheme of arrangement pursuant to, inter alia, Section 210 of the companies Act and the scheme 
consideration was (i) S$0.730 in cash; or (ii) one offeror share at an issue price of S$0.730 per offeror share;  

 
(13) Based on the pro forma NAV/NTA per share (as the case may be), as published in the respective circulars 

of the target companies; 
 
(14) Procurri

consolidated the results of Procurri as its subsidiary. On 7 September 2018, Procurri announced that it had 
received an unsolicited, non-binding indication of interest from a third party to acquire the shares in Procurri 
by way of a possible voluntary general offer subject to, amongst others, due diligence. The market premia 
in the table above were computed based on the share prices for the period(s) prior to and including 6 
September 2018, being the last undisturbed trading date;  

 
(15) On 18 September 2018, PCI Li PCI

Limited, had been approached by a third party in connection with a potential transaction in relation to the 
securities of PCI and that discussions were on-going. The market premia in the table above were computed 
based on the share prices for the period(s) prior to and including 17 September 2018, being the last 
undisturbed trading date; 

 
(16) Excluded PS Group Holdings Ltd. and Star Pharmaceutical Limited as statistical outliers in the computation 

of the mean and median premium/(discount) of the offer price over/(to) (i) the last transacted prices prior to 
the offer announcements; and (ii) the 1-month, 3-month and 6-month VWAPs prior to the offer 
announcements; 

 
(17) Excluded Luzhou Bio-Chem Technology Limited and HMI as a statistical outlier in the computation of the 

mean and median offer price to NTA/NAV ratios; and 
 

(18) The market premia implied by the Offer Price were computed based on the prices for the periods prior to the 
release of the Holding Announcement. 

 
Based on the above analysis, we note the following:  
 
(a) The premium of 30.0% implied by the Offer Price over the closing price of the Shares 

on 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement, is within the range, lower than the mean and median premia of 51.3% 
and 37.6% respectively as implied by the respective offer prices paid over the closing 
prices of the shares on their respective last trading day with respect to the Precedent 
Privatisation Transactions; 
 

(b) The premium of approximately 35.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the 
Shares for the 1-month period prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, is 
within the range but is lower than the mean and median premia of 50.3% and 44.0% 
respectively as implied by the respective offer prices over the 1-month VWAP of the 
shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation Transactions;  
 

(c) The premium of approximately 42.5% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the 
Shares for the 3-month period prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, is 
within the range, but is lower than the mean and median premia of 54.2% and 43.8% 
respectively as implied by the respective offer prices over the 3-month VWAP of the 
shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation Transactions; 
 

(d) The premium of approximately 44.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP of the 
Shares for the 6-month period prior to the release of the Holding Announcement, is 
within the range, but is lower than the mean and median premia of 55.3% and 50.6% 
respectively as implied by the respective offer prices over the 6-month VWAP of the 
shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation Transactions; and 
 

(e) The implied P/NAV ratio of the Company of 0.82 times is within the range of P/NAV 
ratios of the Precedent Privatisations of between 0.28 times and 5.62 times but is lower 
than the mean and median P/NAV ratios of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions 
of 1.12 times and 0.95 times respectively. 
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The Independent Directors should note that the level of premium (if any) an acquirer would 
normally pay for acquiring and/or privatising a listed company (as the case may be) varies in 
different circumstances depending on, inter alia, the attractiveness of the underlying business 
to be acquired, the synergies to be gained by the acquire
businesses with its existing business, the possibility of a significant revaluation of the assets to 
be acquired, the availability of substantial cash reserves, the liquidity in the trading of the target 

pany, the extent of control 
the acquirer already has in the target company and prevailing market expectations. 
Consequently, each Precedent Privatisation Transaction should be judged on its own merits 
(or otherwise). 
 
The list of Precedent Privatisation Transactions indicated herein has been compiled based on 
publicly available information as at the Latest Practicable Date. The above table captures only 
the premia/discounts implied by the offer prices in respect of the Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions over the aforesaid periods and does not highlight bases other than the aforesaid 
in determining an appropriate premium/discount for the recent Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions. It should be noted that the comparison is made without taking into account the 
total amount of the offer value of each respective Precedent Privatisation Transaction or the 
relative efficiency of information or the underlying liquidity of the shares of the relevant 
companies or the performance of the shares of the companies or the quality of earnings prior 
to the relevant announcement and the market conditions or sentiments when the 
announcements were made or the desire or the relative need for control leading to compulsory 
acquisition. 
 
We wish to highlight that the Company is not in the same industry and does not conduct 
the same businesses as the other companies in the list of Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions and would not, therefore, be directly comparable to the list of companies 
in terms of, inter alia, geographical markets, composition of business activities, scale 
of business operations, risk profile, asset base, valuation methodologies adopted, 
accounting policies, track record, future prospects, market/industry size, political risk, 
competitive and regulatory environment, financial positions and other relevant criteria. 
Accordingly, the Independent Directors should note that the above comparison merely 
serves as a general guide to provide an indication of the premium or discount in 
connection with the Precedent Privatisation Transactions. Therefore, any comparison 
of the Offer with the Precedent Privatisation Transactions is for illustration purposes 
only. Conclusions drawn from the comparisons made may not necessarily reflect any 
perceived market valuation for the Company. 

 
8.10 Dividend track record of the Company and selected alternative investments 
 

For the purpose of assessing the Offer, we have considered the historical dividend record of 
the Shares for the last five (5) financial years prior to the Offer Announcement Date and 
compared them with the returns which a Shareholder may potentially obtain by re-investing the 
proceeds from the Offer in other selected alternative equity investments.  
 
The Company had declared and paid the following ordinary dividends in respect of its last five 
(5) financial years: 
 

Historical dividend track record of the Company 

(S$) FY2016 FY2017 FY2018 FY2019 FY2020 

Final exempt (one-tier) dividend per Share -(1) 0.0045 0.0125 0.0175 N.A(2) 
      
1-year average Share price 0.31 0.28 0.34 0.50 0.50 

Dividend yield (%)       - 1.61 3.68 3.50 N.A. 
 
Source:  Bloomberg L.P. and the Company’s filings 
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Note: 
 
(1) The Company did not declare any dividends for FY2016; and 

 
(2) Not applicable as the Directors have not recommended any dividends in respect of FY2020 as at the Latest 

Practicable Date. 
 
The Group does not have a fixed dividend policy. The form, frequency and amount of dividends 
on the Shares that the Directors may recommend or declare in respect of any particular 
financial year or period is subject to factors including, inter alia, actual and projected financial 
performance, working capital requirements and general financing condition and levels of cash 
and/or retained earnings.  
 
For the purpose of analysing the Offer, we have considered that the Shareholders who accept 
the Offer may re-invest the proceeds from the Offer in selected alternative equity investments 
such as a broad Singapore market index instrument such as the STI Exchange Traded Fund 
( STI ETF ).  
 
For illustration purposes, the dividend yields of the STI ETF based on their ordinary dividends 
declared over the latest 12 months are as follows: 
 

Dividend yields of alternative equity investment 

 Net dividend yield
 

STI ETF 4.10 

COMPANY (based on the Offer Price) 2.69(2) 
 
Source:  Bloomberg L.P.  
 

Notes: 
 
(1) Net dividend yield of each selected alternative investment is computed as the dividends declared over the 

latest twelve months divided by the closing market price as at the Latest Practicable Date (or where there 
was no trading on such date, the last available closing market price). The aforementioned dividend yield 
computed may differ from the actual dividend yield which will vary depending on the actual cost of investment 
paid by the individual investor. 
 

(2) Net dividend yield of the Company is computed as the dividends declared over the latest twelve months, as 
represented by the final exempt (one-tier) dividend per Share of S$0.0175 for FY2019 declared on 25 
February 2020, divided by the Offer Price as at the Latest Practicable Date. 

 
Based on the above dividend analysis, we note the LTM dividend yield of the Company is below 
that of the STI ETF at 4.10%. This suggests that a Shareholder who accepts the offer may 
potentially experience an increase in dividend income if they reinvest the proceeds from the 
Offer in the shares of the STI ETF. 
 

We wish to highlight that the above dividend analysis serves only as an illustrative guide and 
uture dividend policy nor that of the STI ETF. There is 

no assurance that the Company will continue or any of the above selected alternative 
investments will continue to pay dividends in the future and/or maintain the level of dividends 
paid in past periods. 
 
Notwithstanding the above, it is uncertain whether the Company and STI ETF can maintain its 
historical dividend yields at the levels set out above, hence it is uncertain whether the 
Shareholders will be able to achieve their desired levels of investment income by liquidating 
their investment in the Company and reinvesting their proceeds in the STI ETF or other 
alternative investments. 
 
The Independent Directors should note that an investment in STI ETF provides a 
different risk-return profile as compared to an investment in the Shares, and therefore 
the above comparison serves purely as a guide only. Furthermore, it should also be 
noted that the above analysis ignores the effect of any potential capital gain or capital 
loss that may accrue to the Shareholders arising from their investment in the Shares 
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due to market fluctuations in the price of the Shares during the relevant corresponding 
periods in respect of which the above dividend yields were analysed. 
 
In addition, no views are being expressed with regard to the future dividend policy of 
the Company and the Company does not have a fixed and formal dividend policy. As 
such, the quantum of dividends paid by the Company in any period would depend on 
various factors including but not limited to the financial performance of the Company, 
its working capital and capital expenditure needs as well as other considerations. 
 
 

9. OTHER CONSIDERATIONS 
 

9.1 Listing Status of the Company  
 

Pursuant to Rule 1105 of the Listing Manual, upon an announcement by the Offeror that 
acceptances have been received pursuant to the Offer that bring the holdings in Shares of the 
Offeror and persons acting in concert with it to above 90% of the total number of Shares 
(excluding any Shares held in treasury), the SGX-ST may suspend the trading of the Shares in 
the Ready and Unit Share markets until it is satisfied that at least 10% of the total number of 
Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury) are held by at least 500 Shareholders who are 
members of the public.  
 
Rule 1303(1) of the Listing Manual provides that where the Offeror succeeds in garnering 
acceptances exceeding 90% of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in 
treasury), thus causing the percentage of the total number of Shares (excluding any Shares 
held in treasury) held in public hands to fall below 10%, the SGX-ST will suspend trading of the 
Shares only at the close of the Offer. 
 
Under Rule 724(1) of the Listing Manual, if the percentage of the Shares held in public hands 
falls below 10%, the Company must, as soon as practicable, announce that fact and the SGX-
ST may suspend trading of all the Shares. Rule 724(2) of the Listing Manual states that the 
SGX-ST may allow the Company a period of three (3) months, or such longer period as the 
SGX-ST may agree, to raise the percentage of the Shares in public hands to at least 10%, 
failing which the Company may be removed from the Official List of the SGX-ST. 
 

9.2 Compulsory acquisition  
 

As stated in the Offer Document, pursuant to Section 215(1) of the Companies Act, in the event 
that the Offeror acquires not less than 90% of the total number of Shares (other than those 
already held by the Offeror, its related corporations or their respective nominees as at the date 
of the Offer and excluding any Shares held in treasury), the Offeror will be entitled to exercise 
the right to compulsorily acquire all the Shares from the Shareholders who have not accepted 
the Offer, Compulsory Acquisition . 
 
In addition, pursuant to Section 215(3) of the Companies Act, if the Offeror acquires such 
number of Shares which, together with the Shares held by it, its related corporations and their 
respective nominees, comprise 90% or more of the total number of Shares, the Shareholders 
who have not accepted the Offer will have a right to require the Offeror to acquire their Shares 
at the Offer Price. Such Shareholders who wish to exercise such a right are advised to seek 
their own independent legal advice.  

  
9.3  

 
As stated in the Offer Document, the Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned 
subsidiary and does not intend to preserve the listing status of the Company. Accordingly, the 
Offeror, if and when entitled, intends to exercise its rights of Compulsory Acquisition and does 
not intend to take any step for the public float to be restored and/or for any trading suspension 
of the Shares by the SGX-ST to be lifted in the event that, inter alia, less than 10% of the total 
number of Shares (excluding any Shares held in treasury) are held in public hands. 
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In addition, the Offeror also reserves the right to seek a voluntary delisting of the Company from 
the SGX-ST pursuant to Rules 1307 and 1309 of the Listing Manual (collectively, the 
Voluntary Delisting Rules  at 

the Closing Date, valid acceptances of the Offer from Shareholders (other than persons acting 
Independent Shareholders  75% of the 

total number of Shares held by the Independent Shareholders and subject to substantive 
compliance with the other requirements set out in the Voluntary Delisting Rules, the Offeror 
intends to seek the SGX-  Delisting Rules. 
 
In the event that the public float is lost and the Offeror is unable to exercise its rights of 
Compulsory Acquisition or the Company is unable to meet the requirements set out in the 
Voluntary Delisting Rules, the trading of the Shares may be subjected to a prolonged period of 
suspension. 
 
Subject to normal business conditions and other than in the normal course of business, the 
Offeror does not intend to (a) make major changes to the business of the Company or its 
management team; (b) re-deploy the fixed assets of the Company; or (c) discontinue the 
employment of the employees of the Group. Nonetheless, the Offeror retains the flexibility at 
any time to consider any options or opportunities which may present themselves and which the 
Offeror may regard to be in the interests of the Company. 
 

9.4 Implications of delisting or suspension for Shareholders 
 

Shareholders who do not accept the Offer should note the following implications or consequences 
which may arise as a result of any suspension in, and/or delisting of the Shares: 
 
(i) Shares of unquoted companies are generally valued at a discount to the shares of 

comparable listed companies as a result of lack of marketability; 
 
(ii) It is likely to be difficult for Shareholders to sell their Shares in the absence of a public 

market for the Shares as there is no arrangement for such Shareholders to exit their 
investments in the Shares. If the Company is delisted, even if such Shareholders were 
subsequently able to sell their Shares, they may receive a lower price than that of the 
Offer Price; 

 
(iii) Given the time taken for the Offeror to exercise its right to compulsorily acquire the 

remaining Shares or the time taken for Dissenting Shareholders to exercise any rights 
they may have to compel the Offeror to acquire their Shares under Section 215(3) of the 
Companies Act, the settlement date on compulsory acquisition is likely to be later than 
the settlement date had the Offer been accepted;  

 
(iv) As an unlisted company, the Company will no longer be obliged to comply with the listing 

requirements of the SGX-ST, in particular the continuing corporate disclosure 
requirements under Chapter 7 of the Listing Manual and Appendices 7.1 to 7.4 to the 
Listing Manual. Shareholders will no longer enjoy the same level of protection, 
transparency and accountability afforded by the Listing Manual. Nonetheless, as a 
company incorporated in Singapore, the Company will still need to comply with the 
Companies Act and its Constitution and the interests of Shareholders who do not accept 
the Offer will be protected to the extent provided for by the Companies Act which includes, 
inter alia, the entitlement to be sent a copy of the profit and loss accounts and balance 
sheet at least 14 days before each annual general meeting, at which the accounts will 
be presented; and 

 
(v) There is no assurance that the Company will maintain its historical dividend payments in 

the future. 
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9.5 Irrevocable Undertakings 
 
We note that as at the Latest Practicable Date, the Promoters collectively hold 47,459,515 
Shares representing 21.56% of the total number of Shares in the Company. Details of the 
Shares held by the Promoters that will be tendered in acceptance of the Offer by each Promoter 

 
 
Promoter Number of Shares to be 

tendered in acceptance of 
the Offer 

Percentage of the total 
number of Shares (%) 

JHYP 46,792,849 21.25 
JTTC 666,666 0.30 
Total 47,459,515 21.56 

 
the Offeror has received 

irrevocable undertakings to accept the Offer in respect of an aggregate of 47,459,515 
Shares representing 21.56% of the total number of issued Shares as at the Latest 
Practicable Date.  

 
 

10. OPINION 
 
In arriving at our opinion in respect of the Offer, we have considered the following key 
considerations (which should be read in conjunction with, and in the context of, the full text of 
this letter):  
 
Factors in favour of the Offer Price: 
 
(i) Over the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release 

of the Holding Announcement, and from the Holding Announcement Date up to and 
including the Last Trading Day, save for the period between 15 October 2019 and 6 
March 2020 where the closing prices of the Shares had mostly been above the Offer 
Price, the closing prices of the Shares had consistently been below the Offer Price; 

 
(ii) The Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 16.7%, 18.0%, 44.4%, 42.5% 

and 35.4% over the VWAP of the Shares for the 2-year, 1-year, 6-month, 3-month 
period and 1-month period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the 
release of the Holding Announcement respectively;  

 
(iii) The Offer Price is at a premium of approximately 30.0%, 3.2% over the closing prices 

of the Shares of S$0.500 and S$0.630 as at 18 December 2020, being the last full 
trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement and the Last Trading Day 
respectively. The Offer Price is at the closing price of the Shares of S$0.650 on the 
Latest Practicable Date;  

 
(iv) During the 2-year period up to and including the last full trading day prior to the release 

of the Holding Announcement, the average daily traded volume of the Shares was 
approximately 393,904 Shares, representing 0.30% of the free float. Between the 
Holding Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date, the average daily traded 
volume ranged between 0.53% to 1.36% of the free float. While there appears to be a 
ready market for the Shares as indicated by the regular frequency of transactions, the 
absolute traded volume of the Shares is nevertheless very thin which renders the 
Shares illiquid for investors who wish to undertake transactions in larger amount of 
Shares;  

 
(v) As compared to the relative performance of the market indices, the current market 

price of the Shares is likely to have been supported by the Offer subsequent to the 
Holding Announcement Date. As such, there is no assurance that the market price of 
the Shares will be maintained at the prevailing level as at the Latest Practicable Date 
after the close of the Offer; 
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(vi) Y2020 due mainly to fewer 
stock vessels sold and a decrease in chartering activities over the period where the 

-19 pandemic and weak 
oil prices. Demand for new vessels had weakened and crewboat charter rates and 
utilisation rates had fallen; 

 
(vii) The implied P/NAV ratio, implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio, implied P/RNAV ratio based 

on as-is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 
0.82 times, 0.79 times, 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively are generally above the 
average historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares of 0.67 times, 0.58 times, 0.58 
times and 0.62 times for the 1-year, 6-month, 3-month and 1-month period up to and 
including the last full trading day prior to the release of the Holding Announcement 
respectively;  

 
(viii) The implied P/NAV ratio of 0.82 times is above the average historical trailing P/NAV 

ratio of the Shares of 0.80 times for the period between the Holding Announcement 
Date and the Last Trading Day; 

 
(ix) The Offer Price represents a premium of approximately 30.4% over the average price 

target of S$0.51, as estimated by analysts; 
  

(x) In respect of the Comparable Companies:  
 

 The implied P/E ratio of the Company is 10.83 times is above the range of the 
LTM P/E ratios of the Comparable Companies and is higher than both the mean 
and median of the LTM P/E ratios of the Comparable Companies of 1.49 times. 
We wish to highlight that, save for ES Group, the Comparable Companies are 
loss-making and any comparison between the P/E ratio of the Company and 
those of the Comparable Companies would not be meaningful;  

 
 The implied P/NAV ratio and implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio of the Company of 

0.82 times and 0.79 times are above the range of the P/NAV ratios of the 
Comparable Companies and are higher than both the mean and median P/NAV 
ratios of 0.37 times and 0.32 times respectively; and 

 
 The implied P/RNAV ratio based on as-is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio 

based on Completed Basis valuation of 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively 
are within the range of the P/NAV ratios of the Comparable Companies and are 
higher than both the mean and median P/NAV ratios of 0.37 times and 0.32 times 
respectively.  

 
(xi) We note that the STI ETF, being an alternative equity instrument provides a better 

dividend yield, suggesting that Shareholders who accept the Offer may potentially 
experience an increase in dividend income if they reinvest the proceeds from the Offer 
in the shares of the STI ETF; 

 
(xii) The Offeror intends to make the Company its wholly-owned subsidiary and does not 

intend to preserve the listing status of the Company and the Offeror reserves its right 
to seek a voluntary delisting of the Company from the SGX-ST, where permitted by, 
and in accordance with, the relevant requirements of the Listing Manual and the Code; 
and 

 
(xiii) 

the Offeror has received irrevocable undertakings to accept the Offer in respect of an 
aggregate of 47,459,515 Shares representing 21.56% of the total number of issued 
Shares. 
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Factors against the Offer Price: 
 

(i) The Offer Price represents a discount of 18.0%, 29.6% and 30.0% over the NAV per 
Share, RNAV per Share adjusted based on as-is valuation and RNAV per Share 
adjusted based on Completed Basis valuation respectively and the Ex-Cash Offer 
Price represents a discount of 21.2% over the Ex-Cash NAV per Share;  

 
(ii) The implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio, implied P/RNAV ratio based on as-is valuation and 

implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 0.79 times, 0.70 times 
and 0.70 times respectively are below the average historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the 
Shares of 0.80 times for the period between the Holding Announcement Date and the 
Last Trading Day;  

 
(iii) The implied P/NAV ratio, implied Ex-Cash P/NAV ratio and implied P/RNAV ratio based 

on as is valuation and implied P/RNAV ratio based on Completed Basis valuation of 
0.82 times, 0.79 times, 0.70 times and 0.70 times respectively are below the average 
historical trailing P/NAV ratio of the Shares of 0.85 times for the period between the 
Offer Announcement Date and the Latest Practicable Date; and 

  
(iv) In respect of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions:  

 
 The premium of approximately 30.0% implied by the Offer Price over the closing 

price of the Shares on 18 December 2020, being the last full trading day prior to 
the release of the Holding Announcement, is within the range, lower than the 
mean and median premia of 51.3% and 37.6% respectively as implied by the 
respective offer prices paid over the closing prices of the shares on their 
respective last trading day with respect to the Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions;  

 
 The premium of approximately 35.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP 

of the Shares for the 1-month period prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement, is within the range but is lower than the mean and median 
premia of 50.3% and 44.0% respectively as implied by the respective offer prices 
over the 1-month VWAP of the shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions;  

 
 The premium of approximately 42.5% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP 

of the Shares for the 3-month period prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement, is within the range, but is lower than the mean and median 
premia of 54.2% and 43.8% respectively as implied by the respective offer prices 
over the 3-month VWAP of the shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions; 

 
 The premium of approximately 44.4% implied by the Offer Price over the VWAP 

of the Shares for the 6-month period prior to the release of the Holding 
Announcement, is within the range, but is lower than the mean and median 
premia of 55.3% and 50.6% respectively as implied by the respective offer prices 
over the 6-month VWAP of the shares with respect to the Precedent Privatisation 
Transactions; and 

 
 The implied P/NAV ratio of the Company of 0.82 times is within the range of 

P/NAV ratios of the Precedent Privatisation Transactions of between 0.28 times 
and 5.62 times but is lower than the mean and median P/NAV ratios of the 
Precedent Privatisation Transactions of 1.12 times and 0.95 times respectively. 

 
Having considered the aforementioned factors set out in this letter and summarised in 
this section, we are of the opinion that the financial terms of the Offer are not fair but 
reasonable. Based on our opinion, we advise the Independent Directors to recommend 
that Shareholders accept the Offer, unless Shareholders are able to obtain a price higher 
than the Offer Price on the open market, taking into account all the brokerage 
commissions or transactions costs in connection with open market transactions.  
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We also advise the Independent Directors to consider highlighting to the Shareholders that 
there is no assurance that the price of the Shares will remain at current levels after the close or 
lapse of the Offer and the current price performance of the Shares may not be indicative of the 
future price performance levels of the Shares. 
 
The Independent Directors should also note that transactions of the Shares are subject to 
possible market fluctuations and accordingly, our opinion on the Offer does not and cannot take 
into account the future transactions or price levels that may be established for the Shares since 
these are governed by factors beyond the ambit of our review. 
 
This letter is addressed to the Independent Directors for their benefit, in connection with and 
for the purpose of their consideration of the financial terms of the Offer and should not be relied 
on by any other party. The recommendation made by them to the Shareholders in relation to 
the Offer shall remain the sole responsibility of the Independent Directors.  
 
Whilst a copy of this letter may be reproduced in the Circular, neither the Company nor the 
Directors may reproduce, disseminate or quote this letter (or any part thereof) for any other 
purpose at any time and in any manner without the prior written consent of PPCF in each 
specific case. This opinion is governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of 
Singapore, and is strictly limited to the matters stated herein and does not apply by implication 
to any other matter.  

 
 
 
Yours faithfully, 
For and on behalf of 
PrimePartners Corporate Finance Pte. Ltd. 
 
 
 
 
 

   
Mark Liew 
Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director 
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 1. DIRECTORS

 The names, addresses and descriptions of the Directors as at the Latest Practicable Date are as 
follows:  

Name Address Description

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link 
Singapore 638784

Executive Chairman

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784

Managing Director

Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784 

Finance and Administration 
Director

Mr. Ong Kian Min c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784 

Lead Independent and 
Non-executive Director

Mr. Paul Tan Poh Lee c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784 

Independent and Non-executive 
Director

Mr. Leow Ban Tat c/o 18 Tuas Basin Link
Singapore 638784

Independent and Non-executive 
Director

2. PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

 The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Singapore on 23 January 1976 and was listed 
on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST on 17 October 1997.

 The Company, together with its subsidiaries, is a designer, builder, owner and operator of 
aluminium high-speed craft. The Group owns and operates a fl eet of crewboats and passenger 
ferries, and designs and builds a variety of high-speed craft at the Group’s shipyards in Singapore 
and Batam, Indonesia. These include patrol boats, fi re fi ghting search-and-rescue vessels, 
windfarm support vessels and security vessels.  

3. SHARE CAPITAL

3.1 Issued Shares

 The Company only has one (1) class of Shares, being ordinary shares. As at the Latest Practicable 
Date, the issued and paid-up share capital of the Company comprises S$ 9 5,885,990.0081  
consisting of  220,169,774  Shares.  

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, there has been no issue of new Shares by the Company since 
31 December 2020, such date being the end of the previous fi nancial year of the Company. The 
Shares carry equal ranking rights to dividends, voting at general meetings and return of capital. As 
at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no treasury shares.  

 The Shares are quoted and listed on the Mainboard of the SGX-ST.

3.2 Convertible Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Company has no outstanding instruments convertible into, 
rights to subscribe for and options or derivatives in respect of, the Shares or securities carrying 
voting rights in the Company.  
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3.3 Rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights

 The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights are contained in 
the Constitution. For ease of reference, selected texts of the Constitution relating to the rights of 
Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights have been reproduced in Appendix 
C to this Circular.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DEALINGS

4.1 Interests of the Company in Offeror Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has any direct or 
indirect interests in the Offeror Securities.  

4.2 Dealings in Offeror Securities by the Company

 Neither the Company nor its subsidiaries has dealt in the Offeror Securities during the period 
commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date.  

4.3 Interests of Directors in Offeror Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, based on the information available to the Company and save 
as disclosed below, none of the Directors has any direct or deemed interest in any of the Offeror 
Securities:

Direct Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Deemed Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Name No. of Offeror Securities % No. of Offeror Securities %(1)

Director 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 5,500 55 – –

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong 500 5 – –

 Note:

 (1) The percentage shareholding is based on 10,000 shares in the share capital of the Offeror.

4.4 Dealings in Offeror Securities by Directors

  Save as disclosed in  this Circular,  none of the Directors has dealt for value in the Offeror Securities 
during the period commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on 
the Latest Practicable Date.  

4.5 Interests of Directors in Company Securities

 Save as disclosed below, as at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the Directors has an interest, 
direct or indirect, in the Company Securities.  

Direct Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Deemed Interest as at the 
Latest Practicable Date

Name No. of Shares % No. of Shares %(1)

Director 

Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir 46,792,849 21.25 – –

Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong 666,666 0.30 – –

Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong 51,500 0.02 – –

 Note:

 (1) The percentage shareholding is based on  220,169,774  Shares in the capital of the Company as at the Latest 
Practicable Date.  
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4.6 Dealings in Company Securities by Directors

 Save as disclosed in  this Circular in relation to dealings in Shares  in connection with the Offer , 
none of the Directors has dealt in the Company Securities during the period commencing six (6) 
months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest Practicable Date.  

4.7 Interests of the IFA in Company Securities

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, none of the IFA, its related corporations or funds whose 
investments are managed by the IFA or its related corporations on a discretionary basis, owns or 
controls any Company Securities.  

4.8 Dealings in Company Securities by the IFA

 None of the IFA, its related corporations or funds whose investments are managed by the IFA or its 
related corporations on a discretionary basis, has dealt for value in the Company Securities during 
the period commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the 
Latest Practicable Date.  

4.9 Directors’ intentions in respect of the Offer

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors who hold or have a deemed interest in Shares 
have indicated their intention in relation to accepting or rejecting the Offer in respect of such 
Shares as follows:

 (a) as set out in the Offer Document, Mr. Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir has provided an irrevocable 
undertaking to accept the Offer, further details of which are set out in Section 2.8 of this 
Circular. Mr Jeffrey Hing Yih Peir has informed the Company that he has accepted the Offer 
in respect of all the Shares held by him;  

 (b) as set out in the Offer Document, Mr. James Tham Tuck Choong has provided an irrevocable 
undertaking to accept the Offer, further details of which are set out in Section 2.8 of this 
Circular. Mr James Tham Tuck Choong has informed the Company that he has accepted the 
Offer in respect of all the Shares held by him; and 

 (c) Ms. Joanna Tung May Fong has informed the Company that she intends to accept the  Offer 
in respect of all the Shares held by her.  

5. ARRANGEMENTS WITH DIRECTORS

        5.1 Directors’ service contracts

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, there are no service contracts between any Director or proposed 
director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which have more than 12 months to run and 
which cannot be terminated by the employing company within the next 12 months without paying 
any compensation. In addition, there are no such service contracts entered into or amended 
between any Director or proposed director with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the 
period commencing six (6) months prior to the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date.  

5.2 Arrangements affecting Directors

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, save as disclosed in this Circular:

 (a) there are no payments or other benefi ts to be made or given to any Director or to any 
director of any other corporation which is, by virtue of Section 6 of the Companies Act, 
deemed to be related to the Company, as compensation for loss of offi ce or otherwise in 
connection with the Offer;  

 (b) there are no agreements or arrangements made between any Director and any other person 
in connection with or conditional upon the outcome of the Offer; and 

 (c) there are no material contracts entered into by the Offeror in which any of the Directors has 
a material personal interest, whether direct or indirect. 
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6. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

 Save as disclosed in publicly available information on the Company and in this Circular, neither 
the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into any material contracts with interested 
persons1 (other than those entered into in the ordinary course of business) during the period 
commencing three (3) years before the Offer Announcement Date and ending on the Latest 
Practicable Date.  

7. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

7.1 Consolidated income statement

 Set out below is certain fi nancial information extracted from the annual reports of the Company 
for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019, and from the FY2020 Results. The fi nancial information for 
FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019 should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated 
fi nancial statements of the Group and the accompanying notes as set out in the annual reports of 
the Company for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019, and the fi nancial information for FY2020 should 
be read in conjunction with the FY2020 Results and the accompanying notes as set out in the 
fi nancial statements. 

Unaudited 
FY2020
S$’000

Audited 
FY2019
S$’000

Audited 
FY2018
S$’000

Audited 
FY2017
S$’000

(restated)(1)

Audited
FY2017
S$’000

Revenue 119,417 136,337 107,268 79,761 85,351

Exceptional items – – – – –

Net profi t before tax 15, 364 19,961 15,497 2,098 2,952

Net profi t after tax 1 3,207 19,414 13,582 2,278 3,132

Non-controlling interests 1 1 1 1 1

Net earnings per share 

- Basic ( cents)  6.00 8.82 6.17 1.03 1.42

- Diluted ( cents)  6.00 8.82 6.17 1.03 1.42

 Note:

 (1) As set out in the annual report of the Company for FY2018 on pages 54 to 56 therein, the Group and the Company 
have adopted Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (International) and all new and revised standards effectively 
for periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018.

1 As defi ned in the Note to Rule 24.6 read with the Note on Rule 23.12 of the Code, an interested person is:

 (a) a director, chief executive offi cer, or substantial shareholder of the Company;

 (b) the immediate family of a director, the chief executive offi cer, or a substantial shareholder (being an individual) of the 
Company;

 (c) the trustees, acting in their capacity as such trustees, of any trust of which a director, the chief executive offi cer or a 
substantial shareholder (being an individual) and his immediate family is a benefi ciary;

 (d) any company in which a director, the chief executive offi cer or a substantial shareholder (being an individual) together 
and his immediate family together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more;

 (e) any company that is the subsidiary, holding company or fellow subsidiary of the substantial shareholder (being a 
company); or

 (f) any company in which a substantial shareholder (being a company) and any of the companies listed in (e) above 
together (directly or indirectly) have an interest of 30% or more.
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 The following is a summary of the dividend per Share declared and paid in respect of each of 
FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019. This information was extracted from the annual reports of the 
Company for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019.

Final exempt one-tier
dividend per Share (S$)

Interim exempt one-tier per 
Share (S$)

In respect of FY2019  0.0175 –

In respect of FY2018  0.0125 –

In respect of FY2017 0.0045 –

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, the Directors have not recommended any dividends to be paid in 
respect of FY2020.

7.2 Consolidated balance sheet

  The audited consolidated balance sheet of the Group for FY2019 is set out below. The summary 
set out below should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated fi nancial statements of 
the Group and the accompanying notes as set out in the annual report of the Company for FY2019.

Audited
FY2019
S$’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 82,174
Right-of-use assets 2,253
Investment in subsidiaries –
Loan to a subsidiary –
Other investments 5,157
Intangible asset 78
Other receivables 124

Current assets 
Inventories 42,008
Trade receivables 13,604
Other receivables and deposits 14,004
Contract assets 3,268
Prepayments 577
Derivatives –
Loans to subsidiaries –
Fixed deposits 34,885
Cash and bank balances 25,018

133,364
Assets classifi ed as held for sale 7,322

140,686
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Audited
FY2019
S$’000

LIABILITIES 

Current liabilities
Trade payables 16,038
Other payables and accruals 37,543
Provisions 522
Contract liabilities 1,042
Deferred revenue –
Provision for income tax 1,427
Lease liabilities 1,292
Term loans 83
Deposits from subsidiaries –

57,947
Net current assets 82,739

Non-current liabilities 
Deferred tax liabilities 2,075
Provisions 1,726
Lease liabilities 1,030
Term loans –

Net assets 167,694

EQUITY

Share capital 94,943
Retained earnings 82,833
Other reserves (10,079)
Non-controlling interests (3)

Total equity 167,694

 Copies of the annual reports of the Company for FY2017, FY2018 and FY2019 are available for 
inspection at the Company’s registered offi ce at 18 Tuas Basin Link, Singapore 638784 during 
normal business hours from the date of this Circular up to the Closing Date.

7.3 Material changes in fi nancial position

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, s ave as disclosed in any information on the Group which is 
publicly available (including without limitation, the announcements released by the Group on the 
SGX-ST), there have been no material changes to the fi nancial position of the Group since 31 
December 2019, being the date of the last audited accounts of the Group laid before Shareholders 
in general meeting. 

7.4 Signifi cant accounting policies

 The signifi cant accounting policies of the Group are disclosed in note 2 to the audited consolidated 
fi nancial statements of the Group for FY2019 as set out in the annual report of the Company for 
FY2019 on pages 64 to 80 therein, and are reproduced in Appendix D of this Circular.  

7.5 Changes in signifi cant accounting policies

 As at the Latest Practicable Date, there is no change in the signifi cant accounting policies of the 
Group since FY2019.  
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8. MATERIAL LITIGATION

 As at the Latest Practicable Date:

 (a) neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is engaged in any material litigation or 
arbitration proceedings, as plaintiff or defendant, which might materially affect the fi nancial 
position of the Group taken as a whole; and 

 (b) the Directors are not aware of any proceedings pending or threatened against the Company 
or any of its subsidiaries or of any facts likely to give rise to any proceedings which might 
materially affect the fi nancial position of the Group taken as a whole.  

9. VALUATION OF ASSETS

9.1 The Company had commissioned independent valuations of the following assets held by the 
Group:

 (a) motor launches (“Motor Launches”);

 (b) the property located at 21 Tuas Road, Singapore 638489 (the “Tuas Property”);

 (c) a leasehold building being the shipyard located at  Kawasan Industri Sekupang, Kelurahan 
Tanjung Riau, Kecamatan Sekupang, Kota Batam, Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 
29425  (the “Indonesia Shipyard”); and

 (d) a land parcel located at  Pulau Seloko - Tanjung Uncang, Kelurahan Tanjung Riau, 
Kecamatan Sekupang, Kota Batam, Provinsi Kepulauan Riau, Kode Pos: 29425    (the “Seloko 
Land”),

 (collectively, the “Appraised Assets”).  

 The Company notes that the valuations of the Appraised Assets have been carried out on the 
following bases:

 (i) in respect of the Motor Launches, on a current fair value basis using the replacement cost 
method;

 (ii) in respect of the Tuas Property, on an “as-is” market value basis using      the income method 
and cost method, and assuming the completion of phase 1 of the proposed development of 
the Tuas Property using  the income method and cost method;

 (iii) in respect of the Indonesia Shipyard, using the cost approach with the replacement cost 
method ; and

 (iv) in respect of the Seloko Land, using the market approach with the market data comparison 
method.  

 The extracts of the Valuation Reports prepared by the Independent Valuers  are set out as the 
Valuation Report Extracts in Appendix F to this Circular.

9.2 Under Rule 26.3 of the Code, the Company is required, inter alia, to make an assessment of any 
potential tax liability which would arise if the assets, which are the subject of a valuation given 
in connection with an offer, were to be sold at the amount of the valuation.  The management of 
the Company is of the view that the potential tax liabilities which may be incurred by the Group 
on the hypothetical disposal of the Appraised Assets based on the valuations carried out by the 
Independent Valuers  will not be material . The aforesaid tax liabilities are not likely to crystalise as 
the Group has no intention to sell the Appraised Assets as of the Latest Practicable Date.    

10. COSTS AND EXPENSES

 All costs and expenses incurred by the Company in respect of the Offer will be borne by the 
Company.  
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The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital, dividends and voting rights are contained in the 
Constitution, the relevant provisions of which are set out below:

Please see the defi nitions in the Constitution for terms used in the reproduced extracts below.

1. The rights of Shareholders in respect of capital

ISSUE OF SHARES

3.     Subject to the Act and this Constitution, no shares may be issued by the Directors without the prior 
approval of the Company in General Meeting but subject thereto and to Regulation 8, and to any 
special rights attached to any shares for the time being issued, the Directors may allot and issue 
shares or grant options over or otherwise dispose of the same to such persons on such terms and 
conditions and for such consideration (if any) and at such time and subject or not to the payment of 
any part of the amount (if any) thereof in cash as the Directors may think fi t, and any shares may 
be issued with such preferential, deferred, qualifi ed or special rights, privileges or conditions, as 
the Directors may think fi t, and preference shares may be issued which are or at the option of the 
Company are liable to be redeemed, the terms and manner of redemption being determined by the 
Directors, Provided always that:

 (a)         no shares shall be issued to transfer a controlling interest in the Company without the prior 
approval of the members in a General Meeting;

 (b)     (subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in a General 
Meeting) any issue of shares for cash to Members holding shares of any class shall be 
offered to such Members in proportion as nearly as may be to the number of shares of such 
class then held by them and the provisions of the second sentence of Regulation 8(A) with 
such adaptations as are necessary shall apply;

 (c)     any other issue of shares, the aggregate of which would exceed the limits referred to in 
Regulation 8(B), shall be subject to the approval of the Company in a General Meeting; and

 (d) the rights attaching to shares of a class other than ordinary shares shall be expressed in the 
resolution creating the same.

4. (A) Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any existing 
shares or class of shares, any share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, 
deferred or other special rights or such restrictions, whether with regard to dividend, voting, 
return of capital or otherwise as the Company may from time to time by ordinary resolution 
determine; PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT the total number of issued preference shares shall 
not at any time exceed the total number of issued ordinary shares of the Company.

  Subject (but not limited) to the Act, any preference shares may be issued on the terms that 
they are, or at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed. The Company shall 
also have the power to issue further preference shares ranking equally with or in priority to 
any preference shares already issued.

  Holders of preference shares shall have the same rights as ordinary shareholders as 
regards receiving of notices, reports and balance sheets, and attending General Meetings of 
the Company. They shall have the right to vote at any meeting convened for the purposes of 
reducing the capital or winding up or sanctioning a sale of the undertaking of the Company, 
or where the proposition to be submitted to the meeting directly affects their rights and 
privileges, or when the dividends on the preference shares are in arrears for more than six 
months.

 (B) The Company may issue shares for which no consideration is payable to the Company.
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TREASURY SHARES

5. The Company shall not exercise any right in respect of treasury shares other than as provided by 
the Act. The rights in relation to treasury shares are to be suspended except for the purposes of 
bonus shares, share splits and consolidations. Subject thereto, the Company may hold or deal with 
its treasury shares in the manner authorised by or prescribed pursuant to the Act.

                                VARIATION OF RIGHTS

6. (A) Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, 
the special rights attached to any class subject to the provisions of the Act, preference 
capital, other than redeemable preference capital, may be repaid and may, subject to the 
provisions of the Statutes, be varied or abrogated either with the consent in writing of the 
holders of three- quarters of the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class or with 
the sanction of a Special Resolution passed at a separate General Meeting of the holders of 
the shares of the class (but not otherwise) and may be so varied or abrogated either whilst 
the Company is a going concern or during or in contemplation of a winding-up. To every such 
separate General Meeting, all the provisions of this Constitution relating to General Meetings 
of the Company and to the proceedings thereat shall mutatis mutandis apply, except that the 
necessary quorum shall be two persons at least holding or representing by proxy at least 
one-third of the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class and that any holder of 
shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll and that every such 
holder shall on a poll have one vote for every share of the class held by him, Provided 
always that where the necessary majority for such a Special Resolution is not obtained at 
such General Meeting, consent in writing if obtained from the holders of three-quarters of 
the total voting rights of the issued shares of the class concerned within two months of such 
General Meeting shall be as valid and effectual as a Special Resolution carried at such 
General Meeting. The foregoing provisions of this Regulation shall apply to the variation or 
abrogation of the special rights attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each 
group of shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class the special rights 
whereof are to be varied.

 (B) The special rights attached to any class of shares having preferential rights shall not, unless 
otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue thereof, be deemed to be varied by the 
creation or issue of further shares ranking as regards participation in the profi ts or assets 
of the Company in some or all respects pari passu therewith but in no respect in priority 
thereto.

ALTERATION OF SHARE CAPITAL

7.     The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution increase its capital by the allotment 
and issue of new shares.

8. (A) Subject to any direction to the contrary that may be given by the Company in a General 
Meeting or except as permitted under the listing rules of the Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited or such other stock exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed, all 
new shares shall, before issue, be offered to such persons who as at the date of the offer 
are entitled to receive notices from the Company of General Meetings in proportion, as far 
as the circumstances admit, to the number of the existing shares to which they are entitled. 
The offer shall be made by notice specifying the number of shares offered, and limiting a 
time within which the offer, if not accepted, will be deemed to be declined, and, after the 
expiration of that time, or on the receipt of an intimation from the person to whom the offer 
is made that he declines to accept the shares offered, the Directors may dispose of those 
shares in such manner as they think most benefi cial to the Company. The Directors may 
likewise so dispose of any new shares which (by reason of the ratio which the new shares 
bear to shares held by persons entitled to an offer of new shares) cannot, in the opinion of 
the Directors, be conveniently offered under this Regulation 8(A).
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 (B) Notwithstanding Regulation 8(A) above, the Company may by Ordinary Resolution in 
General Meeting give to the Directors a general authority, either unconditionally or subject to 
such conditions as may be specifi ed in the Ordinary Resolution, to:

  (a) issue shares in the capital of the Company whether by way of rights, bonus or 
otherwise; and/or

  (b) make or grant offers, agreements or options (collectively, “Instruments’) that might or 
would require shares to be issued, including but not limited to the creation and issue 
of (as well as adjustments to) warrants, debentures or other instruments convertible 
into shares; and

  (c) (notwithstanding the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution may have ceased 
to be in force) issue shares in pursuance of any Instrument made or granted by the 
Directors while the Ordinary Resolution was in force, provided that:

   (1) the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Ordinary 
Resolution (including shares to be issued in pursuance of Instruments made 
or granted pursuant to the Ordinary Resolution) shall be subject to such limits 
and manner of calculation as may be prescribed by the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited;

   (2) in exercising the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution, the Company 
shall comply with the provisions of the Listing Manual of the Singapore 
Exchange Securities Trading Limited for the time being in force or such other 
stock exchange on which the Company’s shares are listed (unless such 
compliance is waived by the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited or 
such other stock exchange) and this Constitution; and

   (3) (unless previously revoked or varied by the Company in General Meeting), 
the authority conferred by the Ordinary Resolution shall not continue in force 
beyond the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company next 
following the passing of the Ordinary Resolution or the date by which such 
Annual General Meeting is required by law to be held, or the expiration of such 
other period as may be prescribed by the Act (whichever is the earliest).

 (C) Except so far as otherwise provided by the conditions of issue or by this Constitution, all new 
shares shall be subject to the provisions of the Act and this Constitution with reference to 
allotments, payment of calls, lien, transfer, transmission, forfeiture and otherwise.

9. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution:

 (a) consolidate and divide all or any of its shares;

 (b) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have been forfeited 
and diminish the amount of its capital by the number of shares so cancelled;

 (c) sub-divide its shares, or any of them (subject, nevertheless, to the provisions of the Statutes 
and the bye-laws or listing rules of any relevant Stock Exchange upon which shares in 
the Company are listed), and so that the resolution whereby any share is subdivided may 
determine that, as between the holders of the shares resulting from such sub-division, one 
or more of the shares may, as compared with the others, have any such preferred, deferred 
or other special rights, or be subject to any such restrictions, as the Company has power to 
attach to new shares; or

 (d) subject to the provisions of this Constitution and the Act, convert any class of shares into 
any other class of shares.
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10. (A) The Company may, subject to and in accordance with the Act, purchase or otherwise acquire 
its issued shares on such terms and in such manner as the Company may from time to time 
think fi t. Any share which is so purchased or acquired by the Company shall, unless held in 
treasury in accordance with the Act, be deemed to be cancelled immediately on purchase 
or acquisition by the Company. On the cancellation of any share as aforesaid, the rights and 
privileges attached to that share shall expire. In any other instance, the Company may hold 
or deal with any such share which is so purchased or acquired by it in such manner as may 
be permitted by, and in accordance with, the Act (including without limitation to hold such 
shares as a treasury share).

 (B) The Company may reduce its share capital or any undistributable reserve in any manner and 
with and subject to any incident authorised and consent required by law. Without prejudice 
to the generality of the foregoing, upon cancellation of any share purchased or otherwise 
acquired by the Company pursuant to this Constitution and the Act, the number of issued 
shares of the Company shall be diminished by the number of the shares so cancelled, 
and where any such cancelled share was purchased or acquired out of the capital of the 
Company, the amount of the share capital of the Company shall be reduced accordingly.

SHARES

11. Except as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the Company as holding any share 
upon any trust, and the Company shall not be bound by or compelled in any way to recognise any 
equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any share, or any interest in any fractional part 
of a share, or (except only as by this Constitution or by law otherwise provided) any other right in 
respect of any share, except an absolute right to the entirety thereof in the person (other than the 
Depository) entered in the Register of Members as the registered holder thereof or (as the case 
may be) person whose name is entered in the Depository Register in respect of that share.

12. Without prejudice to any special rights previously conferred on the holders of any shares or class 
of shares for the time being issued, any share in the Company may be issued with such preferred, 
deferred or other special rights, or subject to such restrictions, whether as regards dividend, return 
of capital, voting or otherwise, as the Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution 
determine (or, in the absence of any such determination, as the Directors may determine) and 
subject to the provisions of the Statutes, the Company may issue preference shares which are, or 
at the option of the Company are liable, to be redeemed.

13. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution and of the Act relating to authority, pre-emption 
rights and otherwise and of any resolution of the Company in a General Meeting passed pursuant 
thereto, all new shares shall be at the disposal of the Directors and they may allot (with or without 
conferring a right of renunciation), grant options over or otherwise dispose of them to such 
persons, at such times and on such terms as they think proper.

14. The Company may pay commissions or brokerage on any issue of shares at such rate or amount 
and in such manner as the Directors may deem fi t. Such commissions or brokerage may be 
satisfi ed by the payment of cash or the allotment of fully or partly paid shares or partly in one way 
and partly in the other.

15. Subject to the terms and conditions of any application for shares, the Directors shall allot shares 
applied for within ten market days of the closing date (or such other period as may be approved by 
any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be listed) of any such application. 
The term “market day” shall have the meaning ascribed to it in Regulation 19.

16. The Directors may, at any time after the allotment of any share but before any person has been 
entered in the Register of Members as the holder or (as the case may be) before that share is 
entered against the name of a Depositor in the Depository Register, recognise a renunciation 
thereof by the allottee in favour of some other person and may accord to any allottee of a share 
a right to effect such renunciation upon and subject to such terms and conditions as the Directors 
may think fi t to impose.
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SHARE CERTIFICATES

17. Every share certifi cate shall be issued under the Seal and shall specify the number and class of 
shares to which it relates, whether the shares are fully or partly paid up, and the amount (if any) 
unpaid thereon. No certifi cate shall be issued representing shares of more than one class.

18. (A) The Company shall not be bound to register more than three persons as the registered joint 
holders of a share except in the case of executors, trustees or administrators of the estate of 
a deceased member.

 (B) In the case of a share registered jointly in the names of several persons, the Company shall 
not be bound to issue more than one certifi cate therefor and delivery of a certifi cate to any 
one of the registered joint holders shall be suffi cient delivery to all.

19. Every person whose name is entered as a member in the Register of Members shall be entitled 
to receive within ten market days of the closing date of any application for shares (or such other 
period as may be approved by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company may 
be listed) or within fi fteen market days after the date of lodgement of a registrable transfer (or such 
other period as may be approved by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company 
may be listed) one certifi cate for all his shares of any one class or several certifi cates in reasonable 
denominations each for a part of the shares so allotted or transferred. Where such a member 
transfers part only of the shares comprised in a certifi cate or where such a member requires the 
Company to cancel any certifi cate or certifi cates and issue new certifi cate(s) for the purpose of 
subdividing his holding in a different manner, the old certifi cate or certifi cates shall be cancelled 
and a new certifi cate or certifi cates for the balance of such shares issued in lieu thereof and such 
member shall pay a maximum fee of S$2 for each new certifi cate or such other fee as the Directors 
may from time to time determine having regard to any limitation thereof as may be prescribed by 
any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be listed. For the purpose of 
this Regulations 19, the term “market day” shall mean a day on which the Singapore Exchange 
Securities Trading Limited is open for trading in securities.

20. (A) Any two or more certifi cates representing shares of any one class held by any person whose 
name is entered in the Register of Members may at his request be cancelled and a single 
new certifi cate for such shares issued in lieu without charge.

 (B) If any person whose name is entered in the Register of Members shall surrender for 
cancellation a share certifi cate representing shares held by him and request the Company 
to issue in lieu two or more share certifi cates representing such shares in such proportions 
as he may specify, the Directors may, if they think fi t, comply with such request. Such person 
shall (unless such fee is waived by the Directors) pay a maximum fee of $2 for each share 
certifi cate issued in lieu of a share certifi cate surrendered for cancellation or such other fee 
as the Directors may from time to time determine having regard to any limitation thereof as 
may be prescribed by any Stock Exchange upon which the shares in the Company may be 
listed.

 (C) In the case of shares registered jointly in the names of several persons, any such request 
may be made by any one of the registered joint holders.

21. Subject to the provisions of the Act, if any share certifi cate shall be defaced, worn out, destroyed, 
lost or stolen, it may be renewed on such evidence being produced and a letter of indemnity (if 
required) being given by the shareholder, transferee, person entitled, purchaser, member fi rm or 
member company of any Stock Exchange upon which the Company is listed or on behalf of its or 
their client or clients as the Directors of the Company shall require, and (in case of defacement 
or wearing out) on delivery up of the old certifi cate and in any case on payment of such sum not 
exceeding S$1 as the Directors may from time to time require. In the case of destruction, loss or 
theft, a shareholder or person entitled to whom such renewed certifi cate is given shall also bear 
the loss and pay to the Company all expenses incidental to the investigations by the Company of 
the evidence of such destruction or loss.
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CALLS ON SHARES

22. The Directors may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys 
unpaid on their shares but subject always to the terms of issue of such shares. A call shall be 
deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the Directors authorising the call 
was passed and may be made payable by installments.

23.     Each member shall (subject to receiving at least fourteen days’ notice specifying the time or times 
and place of payment) pay to the Company at the time or times and place so specifi ed the amount 
called on his shares. The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls 
in respect thereof. A call may be revoked or postponed as the Directors may determine.

24. If a sum called in respect of a share is not paid before or on the day appointed for payment thereof, 
the person from whom the sum is due shall pay interest on the sum from the day appointed for 
payment thereof to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding ten per cent. per annum) 
as the Directors determine but the Directors shall be at liberty in any case or cases to waive 
payment of such interest wholly or in part.

25. Any sum which by the terms of issue of a share becomes payable upon allotment or at any fi xed 
date shall for all the purposes of this Constitution be deemed to be a call duly made and payable 
on the date on which by the terms of issue the same becomes payable. In case of non-payment, 
all the relevant provisions of this Constitution as to payment of interest and expenses, forfeiture 
or otherwise shall apply as if such sum had become payable by virtue of a call duly made and 
notifi ed.

26. The Directors may on the issue of shares differentiate between the holders as to the amount of 
calls to be paid and the times of payment.

27. The Directors may, if they think fi t, receive from any member willing to advance the same all or 
any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid upon the shares held by him and such payment in 
advance of calls shall extinguish pro tanto the liability upon the shares in respect of which it is 
made and upon the moneys so received (until and to the extent that the same would but for such 
advance become payable) the Company may pay interest at such rate (not exceeding eight per 
cent. per annum) as the member paying such sum and the Directors may agree. Capital paid on 
shares in advance of calls shall not, while carrying interest, confer a right to participate in profi ts.

FORFEITURE AND LIEN

28. If a member fails to pay in full any call or instalment of a call on the due date for payment thereof, 
the Directors may at any time thereafter serve a notice on him requiring payment of so much of the 
call or instalment as is unpaid together with any interest which may have accrued thereon and any 
expenses incurred by the Company by reason of such non-payment.

29. The notice shall name a further day (not being less than fourteen days from the date of service 
of the notice) on or before which and the place where the payment required by the notice is to be 
made, and shall state that in the event of non-payment in accordance therewith, the shares on 
which the call has been made will be liable to be forfeited.

30. If the requirements of any such notice as aforesaid are not complied with, any share in respect 
of which such notice has been given may at any time thereafter, before payment of all calls and 
interest and expenses due in respect thereof has been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the 
Directors to that effect. Such forfeiture shall include all dividends declared in respect of the forfeited 
share and not actually paid before forfeiture. The Directors may accept a surrender of any share 
liable to be forfeited hereunder.
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31. A share so forfeited or surrendered shall become the property of the Company and may be 
sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was before such forfeiture or 
surrender the holder thereof or entitled thereto or to any other person upon such terms and in such 
manner as the Directors shall think fi t and at any time before a sale, re-allotment or disposition, the 
forfeiture or surrender may be cancelled on such terms as the Directors think fi t. The Directors may, 
if necessary, authorise some person to transfer or effect the transfer of a forfeited or surrendered 
share to any such other person as aforesaid.

32. A member whose shares have been forfeited or surrendered shall cease to be a member in 
respect of the shares but shall notwithstanding the forfeiture or surrender remain liable to pay to 
the Company all moneys which at the date of forfeiture or surrender were presently payable by him 
to the Company in respect of the shares with interest thereon at eight per cent. per annum (or such 
lower rate as the Directors may determine) from the date of forfeiture or surrender until payment 
and the Directors may at their absolute discretion enforce payment without any allowance for the 
value of the shares at that time of forfeiture or surrender or waive payment in whole or in part.

33. The Company shall have a fi rst and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) 
and on dividends declared or payable in respect thereof. Such lien shall be restricted to unpaid 
calls and installments upon the specifi c shares in respect of which such moneys are due and 
unpaid and for all moneys as the Company may be called upon by law to pay in respect of the 
shares of the member or deceased member. The Directors may waive any lien which has arisen 
and may resolve that any share shall for some limited period be exempt wholly or partially from the 
provisions of this Regulation.

34. The Company may sell in such manner as the Directors think fi t any share on which the Company 
has a lien, but no sale shall be made unless some sum in respect of which the lien exists is 
presently payable nor until the expiration of fourteen days after a notice in writing stating and 
demanding payment of the sum presently payable and giving notice of intention to sell in default 
shall have been given to the holder for the time being of a share or the person entitled thereto by 
reason of his death or bankruptcy.

35. The residue of the proceeds of such sale pursuant to Regulation 34 after the satisfaction of the 
unpaid calls and accrued interest and expenses of such sale shall be paid to the person entitled to 
the shares at the time of the sale or to his executors, administrators or assigns, as he may direct. 
For the purpose of giving effect to any such sale, the Directors may authorise some person to 
transfer or effect the transfer of the shares sold to the purchaser.

36. A statutory declaration in writing that the declarant is a Director or the Secretary of the Company 
and that a share has been duly forfeited or surrendered or sold or disposed to satisfy a lien of 
the Company on a date stated in the declaration shall be conclusive evidence of the facts therein 
stated as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. Such declaration and the 
receipt of the Company for the consideration (if any) given for the share on the sale, re-allotment 
or disposal thereof together (where the same be required) with the share certifi cate delivered to 
a purchaser (or where the purchaser is a Depositor, to the Depository) or allottee thereof shall 
(subject to the execution of a transfer if the same is required) constitute a good title to the share 
and the share shall be registered in the name of the person to whom the share is sold, re-allotted 
or disposed of or, where such person is a Depositor, the Company shall procure that his name be 
entered in the Depository Register in respect of the share so sold, re-allotted or disposed of. Such 
person shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title 
to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, 
surrender, sale, re-allotment or disposal of the share.



C-8

APPENDIX C: RELEVANT PROVISIONS OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE COMPANY 

TRANSFER OF SHARES

37. Subject to the provisions of this Constitution, all transfers of the legal title in shares may be effected 
by the registered holders thereof by transfer in writing in the form for the time being approved 
by any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed or any other form acceptable to 
the Directors. The instrument of transfer of any share shall be signed by or on behalf of both the 
transferor and the transferee and be witnessed Provided that an instrument of transfer in respect of 
which the transferee is the Depository shall be effective although not signed or witnessed by or on 
behalf of the Depository. The transferor shall remain the holder of the shares concerned until the 
name of the transferee is entered in the Register of Members in respect thereof.

38. The Register of Members may be closed at such times and for such period as the Directors may 
from time to time determine Provided always that such Register shall not be closed for more than 
thirty days in any year Provided always that the Company shall give prior notice of such closure as 
may be required to any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed, stating the period 
and purpose or purposes for which the closure is made.

39. (A) There shall be no restriction on the transfer of fully paid up shares (except where required 
by law, the listing rules of any Stock Exchange upon which the shares of the Company may 
be listed or the rules and/or bye-laws governing any Stock Exchange upon which the shares 
of the Company may be listed) but the Directors may in their discretion decline to register 
any transfer of shares upon which the Company has a lien and in the case of shares not 
fully paid-up, may refuse to register a transfer to a transferee of whom they do not approve 
Provided always that in the event of the Directors refusing to register a transfer of shares, 
they shall within one month beginning with the day on which the application for a transfer 
of shares was made, serve a notice in writing to the applicant stating the facts which are 
considered to justify the refusal as required by the Statutes.

 (B) The Directors may in their sole discretion refuse to register any instrument of transfer of 
shares unless:

  (i) such fee not exceeding S$2 as the Directors may from time to time require pursuant to 
Regulation 42, is paid to the Company in respect thereof;

  (ii) the amount of proper duty (if any) with which each instrument of transfer is chargeable 
under any law for the time being in force relating to stamps is paid;

  (iii) the instrument of transfer is deposited at the Offi ce or at such other place (if any) 
as the Directors may appoint accompanied by a certifi cate of payment of stamp duty 
(if any), the certifi cates of the shares to which the transfer relates, and such other 
evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to 
make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is executed by some other person 
on his behalf, the authority of the person so to do; and

  (iv) the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of shares.

40. If the Directors refuse to register a transfer of any shares, they shall within one month after the 
date on which the transfer was lodged with the Company send to the transferor and the transferee 
notice of the refusal as required by the Statutes.

41. All instruments of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.

42. There shall be paid to the Company in respect of the registration of any instrument of transfer or 
probate or letters of administration or certifi cate of marriage or death or stop notice or power of 
attorney or other document relating to or affecting the title to any shares or otherwise for making 
any entry in the Register of Members affecting the title to any shares such fee not exceeding S$2 
as the Directors may from time to time require or prescribe.
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43. The Company shall be entitled to destroy all instruments of transfer which have been registered 
at any time after the expiration of six years from the date of registration thereof and all dividend 
mandates and notifi cations of change of address at any time after the expiration of six years from 
the date of recording thereof and all share certifi cates which have been cancelled at any time after 
the expiration of six years from the date of the cancellation thereof and it shall conclusively be 
presumed in favour of the Company that every entry in the Register of Members purporting to 
have been made on the basis of an instrument of transfer or other document so destroyed was 
duly and properly made and every instrument of transfer so destroyed was a valid and effective 
instrument duly and properly registered and every share certifi cate duly and properly cancelled and 
every other document hereinbefore mentioned so destroyed was a valid and effective document in 
accordance with the recorded particulars thereof in the books or records of the Company; Provided 
always that:

 (a) the provisions aforesaid shall apply only to the destruction of a document in good faith and 
without notice of any claim (regardless of the parties thereto) to which the document might 
be relevant;

 (b) nothing herein contained shall be construed as imposing upon the Company any liability in 
respect of the destruction of any such document earlier than as aforesaid or in any other 
circumstances which would not attach to the Company in the absence of this Regulation; 
and

 (c) references herein to the destruction of any document include references to the disposal 
thereof in any manner.

TRANSMISSION OF SHARES

44. (A) In the case of the death of a member whose name is entered in the Register of Members, 
the survivors or survivor where the deceased was a joint holder, and the executors or 
administrators of the deceased where he was a sole or only surviving holder, shall be the 
only person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares.

 (B) In the case of the death of a member who is a Depositor, the survivor or survivors where the 
deceased is a joint holder, and the executors or administrators of the deceased where he 
was a sole or only surviving holder and where such executors or administrators are entered 
in the Depository Register in respect of any shares of the deceased member, shall be the 
only person(s) recognised by the Company as having any title to his interest in the shares.

 (C) Nothing in this Regulation shall release the estate of a deceased holder (whether sole or 
joint) from any liability in respect of any share held by him.

45. Any person becoming entitled to the legal title in a share in consequence of the death or 
bankruptcy of a member whose name is entered in the Register of Members may (subject 
as hereinafter provided) upon supplying to the Company such evidence as the Directors may 
reasonably require to show his legal title to the share either be registered himself as holder of 
the share upon giving to the Company notice in writing of such desire or transfer such share to 
some other person. All the limitations, restrictions and provisions of this Constitution relating to the 
right to transfer and the registration of transfers of shares shall be applicable to any such notice or 
transfer as aforesaid as if the death or bankruptcy of the member whose name is entered in the 
Register of Members had not occurred and the notice or transfer were a transfer executed by such 
member.
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46. Save as otherwise provided by or in accordance with this Constitution, a person becoming entitled 
to a share pursuant to Regulation 44(A) or (B) or Regulation 45 (upon supplying to the Company 
such evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show his title to the share) shall be 
entitled to the same dividends and other advantages as those to which he would be entitled if 
he were the member in respect of the share except that he shall not be entitled in respect 
thereof (except with the authority of the Directors) to exercise any right conferred by membership 
in relation to meetings of the Company until he shall have been registered as a member in the 
Register of Members or his name shall have been entered in the Depository Register in respect of 
the share.

CONVERSION OF SHARES INTO STOCK

47. The Company may from time to time by Ordinary Resolution convert any paid-up shares into stock 
and may from time to time by like resolution reconvert any stock into paid-up shares.

48. The holders of stock may transfer the same or any part thereof in the same manner and subject to 
the same Regulations and subject to which the shares from which the stock arose might previously 
to conversion have been transferred (or as near thereto as circumstances admit) but no stock shall 
be transferable except in such units as the Directors may from time to time determine.

49. The holders of stock shall, according to the number of stock units held by them, have the same 
rights, privileges and advantages as regards dividend, return of capital, voting and other matters, 
as if they held the shares from which the stock arose, but no such privilege or advantage (except 
as regards participation in the profi ts or assets of the Company) shall be conferred by the number 
of stock units which would not, if existing in shares, have conferred such privilege or advantage; 
and no such conversion shall affect or prejudice any preference or other special privileges attached 
to the shares so converted.

2.  The rights of Shareholders in respect of voting

GENERAL MEETINGS

50. An Annual General Meeting shall be held once in every year, at such time (within a period of not 
more than fi fteen months after the holding of the last preceding Annual General Meeting) and place 
as may be determined by the Directors. All other General Meetings shall be called Extraordinary 
General Meetings.

51. The Directors may whenever they think fi t, and shall on requisition in accordance with the Statutes, 
proceed with proper expedition to convene an Extraordinary General Meeting.

NOTICE OF GENERAL MEETINGS

52. Any General Meeting at which it is proposed to pass a Special Resolution or (save as provided 
by the Statutes) a resolution of which special notice has been given to the Company, shall be 
called by twenty-one days’ notice in writing at the least and an Annual General Meeting and any 
other Extraordinary General Meeting by fourteen days’ notice in writing at the least. The period 
of notice shall in each case be exclusive of the day on which it is served or deemed to be served 
and of the day on which the meeting is to be held and shall be given in the manner hereinafter 
mentioned to all members other than such as are not under the provisions of this Constitution 
and the Act entitled to receive such notices from the Company; Provided that a General Meeting 
notwithstanding that it has been called by a shorter notice than that specifi ed above shall be 
deemed to have been duly called if it is so agreed:

 (a) in the case of an Annual General Meeting, by all the members entitled to attend and vote 
thereat; and

 (b) in the case of an Extraordinary General Meeting, by a majority in number of the members 
having a right to attend and vote thereat, being a majority together holding not less than 
ninety-fi ve per cent of the total voting rights of all the members having a right to vote at that 
meeting,
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 Provided also that the accidental omission to give notice to or the non-receipt of notice by any 
person entitled thereto shall not invalidate the proceedings at any General Meeting. At least 
fourteen days’ notice of any General Meeting shall be given by advertisement in the daily press and 
in writing to any Stock Exchange upon which the Company may be listed.

53. (A) Every notice calling a General Meeting shall specify the place and the day and hour of the 
meeting, and there shall appear with reasonable prominence in every notice a statement that 
a member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy to attend and vote instead 
of him and that a proxy need not be a Member of the Company.

 (B) In the case of an Annual General Meeting, the notice shall also specify the meeting as such.

 (C) In the case of any General Meeting at which business other than routine business is to be 
transacted, the notice shall specify the general nature of such business; and if any resolution 
is to be proposed as a Special Resolution, the notice shall contain a statement to that effect.

54. Routine business shall mean and include only business transacted at an Annual General Meeting 
of the following classes, that is to say:-

 (a) declaring dividends;

 (b) receiving and adopting the fi nancial statements, the Directors’ statement, the Auditor’s report 
and other documents required to be attached or annexed to the fi nancial statements;

 (c) appointing or re-appointing Directors to fi ll vacancies arising at the meeting on retirement 
whether by rotation or otherwise;

 (d) re-appointing the retiring Auditors (unless they were last appointed otherwise than by the 
Company in General Meeting);

 (e) fixing the remuneration of the Auditors or determining the manner in which such 
remuneration is to be fi xed; and

 (f) fi xing the remuneration of the Directors proposed to be passed under Regulation 80.

55. Any notice of a General Meeting to consider special business shall be accompanied by a statement 
regarding the effect of any proposed resolution on the Company in respect of such special 
business.

PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS

56. The Chairman of the Board of Directors, failing whom the Deputy Chairman, shall preside as 
chairman at a General Meeting. If there be no such Chairman or Deputy Chairman, or if at any 
meeting neither be present within fi ve minutes after the time appointed for holding the meeting and 
willing to act, the Directors present shall choose one of their number (or, if no Director be present 
or if all the Directors present decline to take the chair, the members present shall choose one of 
their number) to be chairman of the meeting.

57. No business other than the appointment of a chairman shall be transacted at any General Meeting 
unless a quorum is present at the time when the meeting proceeds to business. Save as herein 
otherwise provided, the quorum at any General Meeting shall be two or more members present in 
person or by proxy.

58. If within thirty minutes from the time appointed for a General Meeting (or such longer interval 
as the chairman of the meeting may think fi t to allow) a quorum is not present, the meeting, if 
convened on the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. In any other case, it shall stand 
adjourned to the same day in the next week (or if that day is a public holiday, then to the next 
business day following that public holiday) at the same time and place or such other day, time or 
place as the Directors may by not less than ten days’ notice appoint. At the adjourned meeting, any 
one or more members present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum.
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59. The chairman of any General Meeting at which a quorum is present may with the consent of the 
meeting (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting from time to time (or sine 
die) and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting except 
business which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting from which the adjournment 
took place. Where a General Meeting is adjourned sine die, the time and place for the adjourned 
meeting shall be fi xed by the Directors. When a meeting is adjourned for thirty days or more or sine 
die, notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given in like manner as in the case of the original 
meeting.

60. Save as hereinbefore expressly provided, it shall not be necessary to give any notice of an 
adjournment or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

61. If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall in good faith be 
ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting, the proceedings on the substantive resolution 
shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling. In the case of a resolution duly proposed as 
a Special Resolution, no amendment thereto (other than a mere clerical amendment to correct a 
patent error) may in any event be considered or voted upon.

62. (A) If required by the listing rules of any stock exchange upon which the shares of the Company 
may be listed, all resolutions at General Meetings shall be voted by poll (unless such 
requirement is waived by such stock exchange).

 (B) Subject to Regulation 62(A), at any General Meeting, a resolution put to the vote of the 
meeting shall be decided on a show of hands unless a poll is (before or on the declaration of 
the result of the show of hands) demanded by:-

  (a) the chairman of the meeting; or

  (b) not less than two members present having the right to vote at the meeting in person or 
by proxy and entitled to vote; or

  (c) a member present having the right to vote at the meeting in person or by proxy and 
representing not less than 5 per cent of the total voting rights of all the members 
having the right to vote at the meeting; or

  (d) by any member or members present having the right to vote at the meeting in person 
or by proxy and holding not less than 5 per cent. of the total number of paid-up shares 
of the Company (excluding treasury shares),

  Provided always that no poll shall be demanded on the choice of a chairman or on a 
question of adjournment.

63. A demand for a poll may be withdrawn only with the approval of the meeting. Unless a poll 
is required, a declaration by the chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been carried, or 
carried unanimously, or by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute 
book, shall be conclusive evidence of that fact without proof of the number or proportion of the 
votes recorded for or against such resolution. If a poll is required, it shall be taken in such manner 
(including the use of ballot or voting papers or tickets) as the chairman of the meeting may direct, 
and the result of the poll shall be deemed to be the resolution of the meeting at which the poll was 
demanded. The chairman of the meeting may (and if so directed by the meeting shall) appoint 
scrutineers and may adjourn the meeting to some place and time fi xed by him for the purpose of 
declaring the result of the poll.

64. In the case of an equality of votes, whether on a show of hands or on a poll, the chairman of the 
meeting at which the show of hands takes place or at which the poll is demanded shall be entitled 
to a casting vote.
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65. A poll on the election of a Chairman or on a question of adjournment shall be taken forthwith. 
A poll demanded on any question shall be taken either immediately or at such subsequent time 
(not being more than thirty days from the date of the meeting) and place as the chairman may 
direct. No notice need be given of a poll not taken immediately. The demand for a poll shall not 
prevent the continuance of the meeting for the transaction of any business other than the question 
on which the poll has been demanded.

VOTES OF MEMBERS

66. Subject and without prejudice to any special privileges or restrictions as to voting for the time 
being attached to any special class of shares for the time being forming part of the capital of the 
Company and to Regulation 5, each member entitled to vote may vote in person or by proxy. On a 
show of hands, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall:-

 (a) have one vote for every share which he holds or represents; and

 (b) on a show of hands, have one vote, provided that:-

  (i) in the case of a member who is not a relevant intermediary and who is represented 
by two proxies, only one of those two proxies as determined by that member or, failing 
such determination, by the Chairman of the meeting (or by a person authorised by 
him) in his sole discretion shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands; and

  (ii) in the case of a member who is a relevant intermediary and who is represented by two 
or more proxies, each proxy shall be entitled to vote on a show of hands.

 For the purpose of determining the number of votes which a member, being a Depositor, or his 
proxy may cast at any General Meeting on a poll, the reference to shares held or represented shall, 
in relation to shares of that Depositor, be the number of shares entered against his name in the 
Depository Register as at seventy-two hours before the time of the relevant General Meeting as 
certifi ed by the Depository to the Company.

67. In the case of joint holders of a share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person 
or by proxy, shall be accepted to the exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and for this 
purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand in the Register of 
Members or (as the case may be) the Depository Register in respect of the share.

68. Where in Singapore or elsewhere, a receiver or other person (by whatever name called) has 
been appointed by any court claiming jurisdiction in that behalf to exercise powers with respect 
to the property or affairs of any member on the ground (however formulated) of mental disorder, 
the Directors may in their absolute discretion, upon or subject to production of such evidence of 
the appointment as the Directors may require, permit such receiver or other person on behalf of 
such member to vote in person or by proxy at any General Meeting or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company.

69. No member shall, unless the Directors otherwise determine, be entitled in respect of shares held 
by him to vote at a General Meeting either personally or by proxy or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to meetings of the Company if any call or other sum presently 
payable by him to the Company in respect of such shares remains unpaid.

70. No objection shall be raised as to the admissibility of any vote except at the meeting or adjourned 
meeting at which the vote objected to is, or may, be given or tendered and every vote not 
disallowed at such meeting shall be valid for all purposes. Any such objection shall be referred to 
the chairman of the meeting whose decision shall be fi nal and conclusive.

71. On a poll, votes may be given personally or by proxy and a person entitled to more than one vote 
need not use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.
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72. (A) Save as otherwise provided in the Act:-

  (i) a member who is not a relevant intermediary may appoint not more than two proxies 
to attend and vote at the same General Meeting. Where such member’s form of proxy 
appoints more than one proxy, the proportion of the shareholding concerned to be 
represented by each proxy shall be specifi ed in the form of proxy; and

  (ii) a member who is a relevant intermediary may appoint more than two proxies to 
attend, speak and vote at the same General Meeting, but each proxy must be 
appointed to exercise the rights attached to a different share or shares held by such 
member. Where such member’s form of proxy appoints more than two proxies, the 
number and class of shares in relation to which each proxy has been appointed shall 
be specifi ed in the form of proxy.

 (B) In any case where a member is a Depositor, the Company shall be entitled and bound:-

  (i) to reject any instrument of proxy lodged if the Depositor is not shown to have any 
shares entered against his name in the Depository Register as at seventy-two hours 
before the time of the relevant General Meeting as certifi ed by the Depository to the 
Company; and

  (ii) to accept as the maximum number of votes which in aggregate the proxy or proxies 
appointed by the Depositor is or are able to cast on a poll a number which is the 
number of shares entered against the name of that Depositor in the Depository 
Register as at seventy-two hours before the time of the relevant General Meeting as 
certifi ed by the Depository to the Company, whether that number is greater or smaller 
than the number specifi ed in any instrument of proxy executed by or on behalf of that 
Depositor.

 (C) The Company shall be entitled and bound, in determining rights to vote and other matters in 
respect of a completed instrument of proxy submitted to it, to have regard to the instruments 
(if any) given by and the notes (if any) set out in the instrument of proxy.

 (D) A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

73. (A) An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in any usual or common form or in any 
other form which the Directors may approve and:

  (a) in the case of an individual, shall be:-

   (i) signed by the appointor or his attorney if the instrument of proxy is delivered 
personally or sent by post; or

   (ii) subject always to Regulation 139, authorised by that individual through such 
method and in such manner as may be approved by the Directors, if the 
instrument is submitted by electronic communication; and

  (b) in the case of a corporation, shall be:-

   (i) either given under its common seal or signed on its behalf by an attorney or a 
duly authorised offi cer of the corporation if the instrument of proxy is delivered 
personally or sent by post; or

   (ii) subject always to Regulation 139, authorised by that corporation through 
such method and in such manner as may be approved by the Directors, if the 
instrument is submitted by electronic communication.
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  The Directors may, for the purposes of Regulations 73(A)(a)(ii) and 73(A)(b)(ii), designate 
procedures for authenticating any such instrument, and any such instrument not so 
authenticated by use of such procedures shall be deemed not to have been received by the 
Company.

 (B) The signature on, or authorization of, such instrument need not be witnessed. Where an 
instrument appointing a proxy is signed on behalf of the appointor (which shall, for purposes 
of this paragraph include a Depositor) by an attorney, the letter or power of attorney or a 
duly certifi ed copy thereof must (failing previous registration with the Company) be lodged 
with the instrument of proxy pursuant to Regulation 74, failing which the instrument may be 
treated as invalid.

74. An instrument appointing a proxy or the power of attorney or other authority, if any:-

 (A) if sent personally or by post, must be left at such place or one of such places (if any) as may 
be specifi ed for that purpose in or by way of note to or in any document accompanying the 
notice convening the meeting (or, if no place is so specifi ed, at the Offi ce); or

 (B) subject always to Regulation 139, if submitted by electronic communication, must be 
received through such means as may be specifi ed for that purpose or by way of note to or in 
any document accompanying the notice convening the General Meeting,

 and in either case not less than seventy-two hours before the time appointed for the holding of 
the meeting or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same 
day as the meeting or adjourned meeting) for the taking of the poll at which it is to be used, and 
in default shall not be treated as valid. The instrument shall, unless the contrary is stated thereon, 
be valid as well for any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates; Provided 
that an instrument of proxy relating to more than one meeting (including any adjournment thereof) 
having once been so delivered for the purposes of any meeting shall not be required again to be 
delivered for the purposes of any subsequent meeting to which it relates.

75. An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed to include the right to demand or join in 
demanding a poll, to move any resolution or amendment thereto and to speak at the meeting.

76. A vote cast by proxy shall not be invalidated by the previous death or insanity of the principal or by 
the revocation of the appointment of the proxy or of the authority under which the appointment was 
made Provided that no intimation in writing of such death, insanity or revocation shall have been 
received by the Company at the Offi ce at least one hour before the commencement of the meeting 
or adjourned meeting or (in the case of a poll taken otherwise than at or on the same day as the 
meeting or adjourned meeting) the time appointed for the taking of the poll at which the vote is 
cast.

CORPORATIONS ACTING BY REPRESENTATIVES

77. Any corporation which is a member of the Company may by resolution of its directors or other 
governing body authorise such person as it thinks fi t to act as its representative at any meeting 
of the Company or of any class of members of the Company. The person so authorised shall 
be entitled to exercise the same powers on behalf of such corporation as the corporation could 
exercise if it were an individual member of the Company and such corporation shall for the 
purposes of this Constitution (but subject to the Act) be deemed to be present in person at any 
such meeting if a person so authorised is present thereat.
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3.  The rights of Shareholders in respect of dividends

RESERVES

121. The Directors may from time to time set aside out of the profi ts of the Company and carry to 
reserve such sums as they think proper which, at the discretion of the Directors, shall be applicable 
for any purpose to which the profi ts of the Company may properly be applied and pending such 
application may either be employed in the business of the Company or be invested. The Directors 
may divide the reserve into such special funds as they think fi t and may consolidate into one fund 
any special funds or any parts of any special funds into which the reserve may have been divided. 
The Directors may also, without placing the same to reserve, carry forward any profi ts. In carrying 
sums to reserve and in applying the same, the Directors shall comply with the provisions (if any) of 
the Statutes.

DIVIDENDS

122. The Company may by Ordinary Resolution declare dividends but no such dividend shall exceed the 
amount recommended by the Directors. No dividend may be paid, unless otherwise provided in the 
Statutes to the Company in respect of treasury shares.

123. If and so far as in the opinion of the Directors the profi ts of the Company justify such payments, 
the Directors may declare and pay the fi xed dividends on any class of shares carrying a fi xed 
dividend expressed to be payable on fi xed dates on the half-yearly or other dates prescribed for 
the payment thereof and may also from time to time declare and pay interim dividends on shares of 
any class of such amounts and on such dates and in respect of such periods as they think fi t.

124. Subject to any rights or restrictions attached to any shares or class of shares and except as 
otherwise permitted under the Act:

 (a) all dividends in respect of shares must be paid in proportion to the number of shares held 
by a member but where shares are partly paid all dividends must be apportioned and paid 
proportionately to the amounts paid or credited as paid on the partly paid shares; and

 (b) all dividends must be apportioned and paid proportionately to the amounts so paid or 
credited as paid during any portion or portions of the period in respect of which the dividend 
is paid.

 For the purposes of this Regulation, an amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of a 
call is to be ignored.

125. No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of profi ts available for distribution under the provisions 
of the Statutes.

126. No dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share shall bear interest as against the 
Company.

127. (A) The Directors may retain any dividend or other moneys payable on or in respect of a share 
on which the Company has a lien and may apply the same in or towards satisfaction of the 
debts, liabilities or engagements in respect of which the lien exists.

 (B) The Directors may retain the dividends payable upon shares in respect of which any person 
is under the provisions as to the transmission of shares hereinbefore contained entitled to 
become a member, or which any person is under those provisions entitled to transfer, until 
such person shall become a member in respect of such shares or shall transfer the same.

128. The waiver in whole or in part of any dividend on any share by any document (whether or not 
under seal) shall be effective only if such document is signed by the shareholder (or the person 
entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder) and delivered to the 
Company and if or to the extent that the same is accepted as such or acted upon by the Company.
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129. The Company may upon the recommendation of the Directors by Ordinary Resolution direct 
payment of a dividend in whole or in part by the distribution of specifi c assets (and in particular 
of paid-up shares or debentures of any other company) and the Directors shall give effect to such 
resolution. Where any diffi culty arises in regard to such distribution, the Directors may settle the 
same as they think expedient and in particular may issue fractional certifi cates, may fi x the value 
for distribution of such specifi c assets or any part thereof, may determine that cash payments shall 
be made to any members upon the footing of the value so fi xed in order to adjust the rights of all 
parties and may vest any such specifi c assets in trustees as may seem expedient to the Directors.

130. Any dividend or other moneys payable in cash on or in respect of a share may be paid by cheque 
or warrant sent through the post to the registered address appearing in the Register of Members 
or (as the case may be) the Depository Register of a member or person entitled thereto (or, if two 
or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may be) entered in 
the Depository Register as joint holders of the share or are entitled thereto in consequence of the 
death or bankruptcy of the holder, to any one of such persons) or to such person at such address 
as such member or person or persons may by writing direct. Every such cheque or warrant shall be 
made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent or to such person as the holder or joint 
holders or person or persons entitled to the share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of 
the holder may direct and payment of the cheque or warrant by the banker upon whom it is drawn 
shall be a good discharge to the Company. Every such cheque or warrant shall be sent at the risk 
of the person entitled to the money represented thereby. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions 
of this Regulation and the provisions of Regulation 132, the payment by the Company to the 
Depository of any dividend payable to a Depositor shall, to the extent of the payment made to the 
Depository, discharge the Company from any liability to the Depositor in respect of that payment.

131. If two or more persons are registered in the Register of Members or (as the case may be) the 
Depository Register as joint holders of any share, or are entitled jointly to a share in consequence 
of the death or bankruptcy of the holder, any one of them may give effectual receipts for any 
dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the share.

132. Any resolution declaring a dividend on shares of any class, whether a resolution of the Company 
in a General Meeting or a resolution of the Directors, may specify that the same shall be payable 
to the persons registered as the holders of such shares in the Register of Members or (as the case 
may be) the Depository Register at the close of business on a particular date and thereupon the 
dividend shall be payable to them in accordance with their respective holdings so registered, but 
without prejudice to the rights inter se in respect of such dividend of transferors and transferees of 
any such shares.

BONUS ISSUES AND CAPITALISATION OF PROFITS AND RESERVES

133. (A) The Directors may, with the sanction of an Ordinary Resolution of the Company (including 
any Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)):

  (i) issue bonus shares for which no consideration is payable to the Company to the 
persons registered as holders of shares in the Register of Members or (as the case 
may be) in the Depository Register at the close of business on:

   (a) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specifi ed 
therein or determined as therein provided); or

   (b) (in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)) 
such other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their 
then holdings of shares; and/or
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  (ii) capitalise any sum standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts 
or other undistributable reserve or any sum standing to the credit of profi t and loss 
account by appropriating such sum to the persons registered as holders of shares in 
the Register of Members or (as the case may be) in the Depository Register at the 
close of business on:

   (a) the date of the Ordinary Resolution (or such other date as may be specifi ed 
therein or determined as therein provided); or

   (b) (in the case of an Ordinary Resolution passed pursuant to Regulation 8(B)) 
such other date as may be determined by the Directors, in proportion to their 
then holdings of shares and applying such sum on their behalf in paying up in 
full new shares (or, subject to any special rights previously conferred on any 
shares or class of shares for the time being issued, new shares of any other 
class not being redeemable shares) for allotment and distribution credited as 
fully paid up to and amongst them as bonus shares in the proportion aforesaid.

 (B) The Directors may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect 
to any such bonus issue and/or capitalization under Regulation 133(A), with full power to 
the Directors to make such provisions as they think fi t for any fractional entitlements which 
would arise on the basis aforesaid (including provisions whereby fractional entitlements 
are disregarded or the benefi t thereof accrues to the Company rather than to the members 
concerned). The Directors may authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members 
interested into an agreement with the Company providing for any such bonus issue and/or 
capitalisation and matters incidental thereto and any agreement made under such authority 
shall be effective and binding on all concerned.

 (C) In addition and without prejudice to the powers provided for by Regulation 133(A) above, 
the Directors shall have power to issue shares for which no consideration is payable to the 
Company and/or to capitalize any undivided profi ts or other moneys of the Company not 
required for the payment or provision of any dividend on any shares entitled to cumulative or 
non-cumulative preferential dividends (including profi ts or other moneys carried and standing 
to any reserve or reserves) and to apply such profi ts or other moneys in paying up in full 
new shares, in each case on terms that such shares shall, upon issue:-

  (i) be held by or for the benefi t of participants of any share incentive or option scheme 
or plan implemented by the Company and approved by the shareholders in General 
Meeting in such manner and on such terms as the Directors shall think fi t; or

  (ii) be held by or for the benefi t of non-executive Directors as part of their remuneration 
under Regulation 80 and/or Regulation 81 approved by shareholders in General 
Meeting in such manner and on such terms as the Directors shall think fi t.

  The Directors may do all such acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give 
effect to any of the foregoing.
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED46

DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

OPINION OF THE DIRECTORS

ended on that date; and 

DIRECTORS

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (cont’d)

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Held in the name of Directors Deemed interest

Name of Director

At the
beginning

year

At the
end of the

year

At
21 January

2020

At the
beginning

year

At the
end of the

year

At
21 January

2020

Penguin International Limited

(Ordinary shares)

– – –

– – –

– – –
 

OPTIONS

AUDIT COMMITTEE
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DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT (cont’d)

AUDITOR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

OPINION

BASIS FOR OPINION

KEY AUDIT MATTERS
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED50

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited (cont’d)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited (cont’d)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT’D)

assessment;

relevant activities;

contracts recognised over time;

OTHER INFORMATION
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED52

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited (cont’d)

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORS FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Penguin International Limited (cont’d)

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

PKF-CAP LLP

Singapore 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

4

Other income

(284)

Other operating expenses

8 (144)

Interest income 8

10

Income tax expense 11

Attributable to:

(1) (1)

12

12
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

(44)

–

(400)

Attributable to:

(1) (1)
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED56

BALANCE SHEETS
As at 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Non-current assets

– –
Investment in subsidiaries 14 – –
Loan to a subsidiary 20 – –
Other investments
Intangible asset – –
Other receivables 124 – –

Current assets

Inventories – –
18

Other receivables and deposits
Contract assets
Prepayments

– –
Loans to subsidiaries 20 – –

21
21

– –

Current liabilities

22
Other payables and accruals
Provisions 24
Contract liabilities –

– –

Lease liabilities – –
– –

20 – –

Net current assets

Non-current liabilities

Provisions 24
Lease liabilities – –

– – –

Net assets
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BALANCE SHEETS (cont’d)

As at 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Share capital

Other reserves

(2) – –
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED58

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Share Other
reserves

Retained
earnings Sub-total

Non-
controlling 

interests 
Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2019

 
1 January 2019 (2)

– – (1)

Other comprehensive income

– – –

– – –

as per the investment agreement with 

– – –

Other comprehensive income  
– – –

– (1)

Contributions by and distributions to 
owners

– – –

owners – – –

Closing balance at 
 31 December 2019
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Share Other
reserves

Retained
earnings

Sub-total Non-
controlling 

interests 

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2018

Closing balance as at 
 31 December 2017 (1)

– – – –

– – –

– – – –

Opening balance as restated at 
 1 January 2018 (1)

– – (1)

Other comprehensive income

– – –

– (44) – (44) – (44)

as per the investment agreement with 

– (400) – (400) – (400)

– – –

– – –

– (1)

Contributions by and distributions 
 to owners

– – –

owners – – –

Closing balance at 
 31 December 2018 (2)
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED60

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Share Other
 reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2019

– –

Other comprehensive income

– –

–

Contributions by and distributions to owners 

– –

– –

Closing balance at 31 December 2019
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STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Share Other 
reserves

Retained
earnings

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2018

Closing balance at 31 December 2017 –

– –

–

– –

Other comprehensive income

– (400) – (400)

– –

–

Contributions by and distributions to owners 

– –

– –

Closing balance at 31 December 2018
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED62

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

Interest expense 84

Interest income

1

(141) 142

–

Currency alignment

Inventories

Contract assets

Other payables and accruals

Provisions

Contract liabilities

Interest paid (84)

Interest received
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

Note 2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Investing activities

Investment in quoted shares –

Financing activities

–

(200)

21
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED64

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

1. CORPORATE INFORMATION

 Penguin International Limited (the "Company") is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in Singapore and is listed 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 Basis of preparation

Leases



D-20

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2019 

65Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 Basis of preparation (cont’d)

or after

1 January 2020

1 January 2020

Basis of consolidation and business combinations

(a) Basis of consolidation
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED66

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Basis of consolidation and business combinations (cont'd)

(a) Basis of consolidation (cont’d)

when control is lost;

(b) Business combinations
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Transactions with non-controlling interests

Foreign currency

(a) Transactions and balances

(b) 

Subsidiaries
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED68

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Goodwill

Property, plant and equipment

Leasehold buildings

4 years
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Property, plant and equipment (cont’d)

Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED70

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(a) Financial assets (cont’d)

 

(i) 

 

(ii) 

(iii) 

 

the consideration received and any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income is 

(b) Financial liabilities 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Financial instruments (cont’d)

(b) Financial liabilities  (cont’d)

 

(i) 

(ii) 

(c) 
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED72

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Contract Balances

 Borrowing costs
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED74

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 

 

 

(a) 

(b) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) 

(c) 

Leases

 As lessee
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED76

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Leases (cont’d)

 As lessee (cont’d)

 

 As lessee 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

 

– It produces a good with no alternative use and the Company has an irrevocable right to payment (including a reasonable 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) Interest income
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED78

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Taxes 

(a) Current income tax

in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes 

(b) Deferred tax

or loss; and 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Taxes (cont’d)

(b) Deferred tax (cont’d)

are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity and 

(c) Sales tax

as applicable; and 

Segment reporting

Contingencies

or 
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED80

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Share capital and share issuance expenses

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

(a) Impairment of property, plant and equipment

(b) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (cont’d)

(c) Determination of lease term of contracts with extension options

Judgements made in applying accounting policies

(a) 

  
(b) 
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED82

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

4. REVENUE

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

Chartering 

Shipbuilding

Ship repairs and maintenance

 Transaction price allocated to the remaining non-cancellable performance obligations

5. OTHER INCOME

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

Scrap sales

Grant received

–

–

–

Others
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

6. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

(112) (110)

(22)

–

(14)

(1)

Operating lease expense

(211)

7. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

–

141 (142)

–

Insurance expense

 



D-39

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2019 

TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED84

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Interest expense on term loans (24)

Interest expense on lease liabilities –

(144)

9. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

Inventories
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

10. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Consolidated income statement:

Current tax

400

(81)

Income tax expense recognised in the consolidated income statement
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED86

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

 Group operates

(248)

Enhanced tax deduction 2

144

Income tax expense recognised in the consolidated income statement

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

diluted earnings per share 

earnings per share 



D-42

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2019 

87Annual Report 2019

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
buildings

Motor
launches

Machinery
and Motor

vehicles

Construction
 in

Deferred 
drydocking

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost

282 80

inventories – – – – – –

– – – – – –

– – – (400)

– – (1) (1) – – – (2)

– – – – – –

2

and  

–

4 – – –

– (1) – –

– (1) – – – (11)

– – – –

11 2
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Leasehold
buildings

Motor
launches

Machinery
and Motor

vehicles

Construction
 in

Deferred 
drydocking

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment loss 

– 84

–

– – – (400)

– – (1) – – – – (1)

– 218 – – – – – 218

(2) – (88)

and 
400 –

–

– – – –

(1) – – (1) – – – (2)

– (22) – – –

(244) 14 2 –

–

Net carrying amount

201
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Leasehold
buildings

Motor
launches

Machinery
and Motor

vehicles

Deferred
 drydocking

Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cost

400

– – 80 – –

– – (400)

 and 
180 –

– – –

– – –

– – – (21) – – (21)

– – – –

–

Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment loss

400

11 –

– – – (400)

 and 
88 –

–

– (12) – –

– – – (21) – – (21)

– – – –

84 –

Net carrying amount

–

– 48 –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Impairment losses
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TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED92

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Name activities
Country of interest held Cost of

investment

2019 2018 2019 2018

% % $'000 $'000

Penguin Shipyard
International
Pte Ltd(1)

maintenance services

Singapore 100 100

Penguin Shipyard
(1)

Singapore 100 100

Services Pte Ltd(1)

intervention vessels

Singapore 100 100

POS Gallant Pte Ltd(4) Singapore 100 100 100 100

(1)

Investment holding Singapore 100 100 100 100

Pte Ltd(1) services
Singapore 100 100

Servies Pte Ltd(1) maintenance services
Singapore 100 100

Pte Ltd(4)

Singapore 100 100

Pte Ltd(1)

motor launches
Singapore 100 100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

14. INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Name activities
Country of interest held by 

subsidiaries

2019 2018

% %

Held through subsidiaries

PKS Shipyard Pte Ltd(1) Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Indonesia(2)

services

Indonesia 100 100

POS Grace Pte Ltd(1) Singapore 100 100

Corp

(2) 100 100

(1) Singapore 100 100

POS Glow Pte Ltd(1) Singapore 100 100

Ltd(1)

Singapore 100 100

(2)

(1)

(2)

(4)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

15. OTHER INVESTMENTS

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Unquoted equity shares

Impairment losses

– – – –

Quoted equity shares

     – –

– (400) – (400)

16. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Goodwill

$'000

Cost

Accumulated impairment loss

Net carrying amount
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

17. INVENTORIES

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

Balance sheet:

Income statement:

–

–

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –

1

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

–  –

(141) 142

(2)

10
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

19. OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Other receivables

142

Insurance claims 418 2

– –

40 – –

Other receivables – 18

18

Other receivables 124 – –

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Loans to subsidiaries (current)
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND FIXED DEPOSITS

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

21. CASH AND BANK BALANCES AND FIXED DEPOSITS (CONT’D)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Cash and cash equivalents

22. TRADE PAYABLES

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– – 4

18 – –

Other payables 221

– –



D-55

APPENDIX D: AUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2019 

TENACITY FOR TOMORROW   PENGUIN INTERNATIONAL LIMITED100

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

24. PROVISIONS

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

122 – –

 

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

214

Utilisation during the year
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

24. PROVISIONS (CONT’D)

(a)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Current service cost

Interest cost 2 1

 
(b)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

122

2019 2018

Projected 
unit credit

 Projected 
unit credit

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

82

Provision made during the year

122
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

25. CONTRACT BALANCES

2019 2018 2019 2018 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Contract assets

Contract liabilities –

Contract liabilities Contract liabilities

2019 2018 2019 2018 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

–

Contract assets Contract assets

2019 2018 2019 2018 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

–

26. TERM LOANS

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

26. TERM LOANS (CONT’D)

 

 

1 January
2019

Financing 31 December
 2019

$’000 $’000 $’000

1 January
2018

Financing 31 December
 2018

$’000 $’000 $’000

27. LEASES

 Group as a lessee

(a) 

$'000 $'000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

27. LEASES (CONT’D)

(b) Lease liabilities

 

1 January
2019

Financing Non-cash
changes

31 December
 2019

   Additions

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Lease liabilities

–

(c) 

2019 2019

$'000 $'000

41

(d) 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

27. LEASES (CONT’D)

(e) Reconciling operating lease commitments to lease liabilities

2019 2019

$'000 $'000

(10)

28. COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

equipment – –

(b) Other commitments

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

28. COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Non-cancellable operating lease commitments – as lessee

2018 2018

$'000 $'000

(d) 

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Consolidated
balance sheet

Consolidated
income statement Balance sheet

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deferred tax liabilities
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

29. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)

30. SHARE CAPITAL

2019 2018

No. of
shares $'000

No. of
shares $'000

'000 '000

Ordinary shares
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

31. OTHER RESERVES

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

– –

(a) 

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

–

–

Opening balance as restated at 1 January
(1)

(44)

 (1)

(b) 

2019 2018 

$'000 $'000

–

(400)

–
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) 

Subsidiaries

2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income

2 –

Commission income – –

– –

Interest income – –

1 1

– – 20

– –

– – –

Ship building costs – –

Project management cost – –

Interest expense – –

Ship management expense – –

Ship repair cost –

Charter hire expense – –

– – –

Others

– – – 1
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel 

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

33. GUARANTEES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Chartering maintenance
Adjustments and 

eliminations Notes Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Sales to external 
customers – –

84 – –

Results:

Interest income 424 (224)

– – – –

plant and equipment 
and inventory – – – – – –

and equipment and 
inventory – – – – – –

224 (144)

expenses (141) (144)

tax C
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT'D)

Chartering maintenance
Discontinued Adjustments and 

eliminations Notes Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets and liabilities:

assets – –

Goodwill – – – – – –

Segment assets E

Segment liabilities – –

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Unallocated expenses
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

34. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONT’D)

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Unallocated assets

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

Chartering maintenance Total

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Singapore

110

– –

– – – –

Others –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

35. DIVIDENDS

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

2019 2018

$'000 $'000
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial

liabilities at 
fair value
 through

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through other 

income

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2019

Assets

Other investments – – –

– – –

Other receivables and deposits – – –

Contract assets – – –

– – –

– – –

– –

Liabilities

– – –

Other payables and accruals – – –

– – –

Lease liabilities – – –

– – –

2018

Assets

Other investments – – –

– – –

Other receivables and deposits – – –

Contract assets – – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

–

Liabilities

– – –

Other payables and accruals – – –

– – –

– – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT’D)

(a) 

Financial 
assets at 

amortised 
cost

Financial

liabilities at 
fair value
 through

Financial 
assets at 
fair value 

through other 

income

Financial 
liabilities at 

amortised 
cost Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2019

Assets

Other investments – – –

– – –

Other receivables and deposits – – –

Loans to subsidiaries – – –

– – –

– – –

– –

Liabilities

– – –

Other payables and accruals – – –

– – –

Lease liabilities – – –

– – –

2018

Assets

Other investments – – –

– – –

Other receivables and deposits – – –

Loans to subsidiaries – – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

–

Liabilities

– – –

Other payables and accruals – – –

– – –

– – –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

36. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONT'D)

(b) 

 

(c) 

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(a) Credit risk

2019 2018

$'000 % $'000 %

By country:

Singapore 14 41

28

18

Others 4

100 100

By industry sectors:

Chartering 

44

100 100
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT’D)

(b) Liquidity risk

Within 
1 year

1 to
5 years

Over
5 years Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

2019

Financial liabilities

– –

Other payables and accruals – –

84 – – 84

Lease liabilities –

–

2018

Financial liabilities

– –

Other payables and accruals – –

84 –

84 –

2019

Financial liabilities

– –

Other payables and accruals – –

– –

Lease liabilities –

–

2018

Financial liabilities

– –

Other payables and accruals – –

– –

– –
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (CONT'D)

(c) Foreign currency risk

 

(decrease)

before tax

(decrease)

before tax

2019 2018

$'000 $'000

(d) Market price risk
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (cont’d)

For the financial year ended 31 December 2019

38. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

39. AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR ISSUE
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT    
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Reclassification

Revenue 119,417 136,337

Cost of sales (85,919) (95,767)

Gross profit 33,498 40,570

Other operating income 10,043 6,084

Distribution costs (195) (284)

Administrative expenses (20,960) (19,223)

Other operating expenses (7,168) (8,039)

Finance cost (263) (128)

Interest income 409 981

Profit before tax 15,364 19,961

Income tax expense (2,157) (547)

Profit for the year 13,207 19,414

Attributable to:
Owners of the company
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the 
company 13,208 19,415

Non-controlling interests
Loss for the year attributable to non-controlling 
interest (1)              (1)               

Profit for the year 13,207 19,414

The comparative figures for the Group's cost of sales, administrative expenses and finance 
costs for year ended 31 December 2019 had been reclassified. The depreciation of right-of-
use assets of $275,000 and interest expenses on lease liabilities of $16,000 for year ended 
31 December 2019 in relation to lease of worker dormitories that were previously classified 
as administrative expense and finance costs respectively had been reclassified to cost of 
sales to provide a more meaningful comparison of costs.

Group

Page 1 of 10



E-2

APPENDIX E: UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME STATEMENT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Profit for the year 13,207 19,414

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss
Net effect of exchange differences arising on quasi 
capital non-trade amount due from subsidiaries (921) (524)

Foreign currency translation (35) (116)

(956) (640)

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to 
profit or loss
Changes in fair value of equity investment at FVOCI (1,457) -          
Issue of Management Award Shares as per the 
investment agreement with respect to Marco Polo Marine 
Limited -           (543)

(1,457) (543)

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax (2,413) (1,183)

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax 10,794 18,231

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:

Owners of the company 10,795 18,232    

Non-controlling interests (1)              (1)            

Total comprehensive income for the year 10,794 18,231    

Group

Page 2 of 10
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019 2020 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Reclassification Reclassification

Equity attributable to owners of the Company
Share capital 94,943        94,943       94,943         94,943         

Reserves 79,696        72,754       26,003         24,481         

Non-controlling interest (4)                (3)               -               -              

Total equity 174,635      167,694     120,946       119,424       

Non-current assets

Intangible asset 78               78               -               -              

Property, plant and equipment 100,451      82,174       1,606           3,027           

Right-of-use assets 8,984          2,253         727              1,653           

Investments in subsidiaries -             -             19,551         18,390         

Loan to a subsidiary -             -             70,837         70,837         

Quoted investment 3,157          5,157         3,157           5,157           

Other investments -             -             -               -              

Other receivable 2,345          124            -               -              

Current assets
Inventories 57,344        42,008       -               -              

Trade receivables 10,120 13,139 1,798           1,906           

Other receivables and deposits 12,692 14,469 363              487              

Contract assets 1,695 3,268 -               156              

Prepayments 409 577 96                150              

Loan to subsidiaries -             -             34,886         24,330         

Short-term deposits 4,201          34,885       -               10,227         

Cash and bank balances 35,775 25,018 7,175           1,098           

122,236      133,364     44,318         38,354         
Assets classified as held for sale -             7,322         -               1,412           

122,236      140,686     44,318         39,766         

Current liabilities
Trade payables 18,767 16,038 -               193              

Other payables and accruals 22,309 37,543 2,328           3,008           

Provisions 483 522 -               193              
Contract liabilities 776             1,042         428              93                
Deferred revenue 500             -             124              -              

Provision for income tax 2,209          1,427         518              335              

Lease liabilities 1,350          1,292         765              897              

Term loan 958             83               958              -              

Deposit from subsidiaries -             -             8,896           11,724         

47,352        57,947       14,017         16,443         

Net current assets 74,884        82,739       30,301         23,323         

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 2,219          2,075         132              568              

Provisions 1,765          1,726         1,604           1,604           

Lease liabilities 7,783          1,030         -               791              

Term loan 3,497          -             3,497           -              

Net Assets 174,635      167,694     120,946       119,424       

Group Company

The comparative figures for the Group's Trade receivables, Other receivables and deposits as at 31 December 2019 had been reclassified. The 
net GST recoverable of $465,000 that was previously classified as Trade receivables had been reclassified to Other receivables and deposits to 
provide a more meaningful comparison.

The comparative figures for the Company's Trade payables, Other payables and accruals as at 31 December 2019 had been reclassified. The 
net GST payable of $26,000 that was previously classified as Trade payables had been reclassified to Other payables and accruals to provide a 
more meaningful comparison.

Page 3 of 10
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

 Share 
capital  

 Other 
reserves  

 Revenue 
reserve   Total  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance as at 1 January 2020 94,943        (10,079)      82,833         167,697    (3)               167,694   

Profit for the year -              -             13,208         13,208      (1)               13,207     

Other comprehensive income
Net effect of exchange differences arising on 
quasi capital non-trade amount due from 
subsidiaries -              (921)           -               (921)         -             (921)        
Foreign currency translation -              (35)             -               (35)           -             (35)          
Change in fair value of equity investment at 
FVOCI -              (1,457)        -               (1,457)      -             (1,457)     
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax -              (2,413)        -               (2,413)      -             (2,413)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -              (2,413)        13,208         10,795      (1)               10,794     

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -              -             (3,853)          (3,853)      -             (3,853)     
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners -              -             (3,853)          (3,853)      -             (3,853)     

Closing balance as at 31 December 2020 94,943        (12,492)      92,188         174,639    (4)               174,635   

Attributable to owners of the Company
Non-

controlling 
interest 

 Total   
Equity Group
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

 Share 
capital  

 Other 
reserves  

 Revenue 
reserve   Total  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance as at 1 January 2019 94,943        (8,896)        66,170         152,217    (2)               152,215   

Profit for the year -              -             19,415         19,415      (1)               19,414     

Other comprehensive income
Net effect of exchange differences arising on 
quasi capital non-trade amount due from 
subsidiaries -              (524)           -               (524)         -             (524)        
Foreign currency translation -              (116)           -               (116)         -             (116)        
Issue of Management Award Shares as per the 
investment agreement with respect to Marco 
Polo Marine Limited -              (543)           -               (543)         -             (543)        
Other comprehensive income for the year, net 
of tax -              (1,183)        -               (1,183)      -             (1,183)     

Total comprehensive income for the year -              (1,183)        19,415         18,232      (1)               18,231     

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -              -             (2,752)          (2,752)      -             (2,752)     
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners -              -             (2,752)          (2,752)      -             (2,752)     

Closing balance as at 31 December 2019 94,943        (10,079)      82,833         167,697    (3)               167,694   

Attributable to owners of the Company
Non-

controlling 
interest 

 Total   
Equity Group
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

 Share 
capital  

 Other 
reserve 

 Revenue 
reserve  

 Total 
Equity 

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Opening balance as at 1 January 2020 94,943        (3,386)         27,867         119,424    

Profit for the year -              -              6,832           6,832        

Other comprehensive income
Change in fair value of equity investment at 
FVOCI -              (1,457)         -              (1,457)      

Total comprehensive income for the year -              (1,457)         6,832           5,375        

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -              -              (3,853)         (3,853)
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners -              -              (3,853)         (3,853)

Closing balance as at 31 December 2020 94,943        (4,843)         30,846         120,946    

Company

Page 6 of 10
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2019

Share 
capital  

Other 
reserve 

Revenue 
reserve   Total  

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

Balance as at 1 January 2019 94,943        (2,843)         23,411         115,511    

Profit for the year -              -              7,208           7,208

Other comprehensive income
Issue of Management Award Shares as per the 
investment agreement with respect to Marco 
Polo Marine Limited -              (543)            -              (543)

-              (543)            -              (543)         

Total comprehensive income for the year -              (543)            7,208           6,665        

Contributions by and distributions to owners
Dividend paid -              -              (2,752)         (2,752)
Total contributions by and distributions to 
owners -              -              (2,752)         (2,752)

Closing balance as at 31 December 2019 94,943 (3,386) 27,867 119,424

Company

Page 7 of 10
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2020

2020 2019
$'000 $'000

Reclassification

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before tax 15,364     19,961      
Adjustments:

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use 
assets 10,409       10,046        
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment (5,328)     (4,030)       
Property, plant and equipment written off 19           9               
Interest expense 218         84             
Interest income (409)        (981)          
Allowance / (reversal of allowance) for doubtful trade receivable 321         (141)          
(Reversal of impairment) / impairment on inventory (20)          530           
Provision for employee retirement benefits 45           33             
Net fair value loss on derivatives -              163           
Provision of warranty claims on shipbuilding contracts, net 333           483             
Currency alignment (1,280)     17             

Operating cash flows before changes in working capital 19,672     26,174      
Inventories (15,900)   (21,930)     
Trade receivables 2,698       6,932        
Other receivables, deposits and prepayments (322)        1,649        
Contract assets 1,573       11,544      
Trade payables 2,729       (2,047)       
Other payables and accruals (14,691)     13,210        
Provision (372)          (157)            
Contract liabilities (266)          (3,673)         
Deferred revenue 500           (178)            

Cash (used in) / from operations (4,379)     31,524      
Interest paid (218)        (84)            
Interest received 409         981           
Income taxes paid, net (1,171)     (1,832)       

Net cash (used in) / generated from operating activities (5,359)     30,589      

Cash flows from investing activities
21,762     13,700      

(36,092)   (22,289)     

Net cash used in investing activities (14,330)   (8,589)       

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceed from term loan 5,000       -                
Repayment of term loans (628)        (1,000)       
Increase in pledged deposits with licensed banks (1,883)     (1,139)       
Payment of principal portion of lease liabilities (1,467)     (765)          
Dividend paid (3,853)     (2,752)       

Net cash used in financing activities (2,831)     (5,656)       

Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents (22,520)   16,344      
Effect of exchange rate change on cash and cash equivalents 710         (200)          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 57,150     41,006      
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 35,340     57,150      

The comparative figures for Trade receivables, Other receivables and deposits as at 31 December 2019 had been 
reclassified due to the net GST recoverable of $465,000 that was previously classified as Trade receivables had been 
reclassified to Other receivables and deposits to provide a more meaningful comparison.

Additions to property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment

Group

Page 8 of 10
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APPENDIX E: UNAUDITED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE 
GROUP FOR FY2020

SEGMENTED RESULTS 31 DECEMBER 2019

 Chartering 

 Shipbuilding and 

ship repairs and 

maintenance 

 Discontinued 

Operation 

 Adjustments & 

Eliminations Group

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue
Sales to external customers 27,920                  108,417                -                       -                       136,337                
Inter-segment sales 326                       26,700                  -                       (27,026)                -                       
Total revenue 28,246                  135,117                -                       (27,026)                136,337                

Results
Interest income 424                       781                       -                       (224)                     981                       
Dividend income 6,000                    -                       (6,000)                  -                       
Depreciation (8,007)                  (1,649)                  -                       (390)                     (10,046)                
Impairment of property, plant & 
equipment and inventory -                       (530)                     -                       -                       (530)                     

Financial expenses (311)                     (41)                       -                       224                       (128)                     
Other non-cash expenses (141)                     (1,830)                  -                       1,839                    (132)                     
Segment profit / (loss) 13,942                  13,240                  -                       (7,221)                  19,961                  

Assets and liabilities
Additions to non-current assets 28,746                  4,190                    -                       (10,647)                22,289                  
Goodwill -                       78                         -                       -                       78                         
Segment assets 127,935                118,375                367                       (16,205)                230,472                

Segment liabilities 16,618                  50,816                  -                       (4,656)                  62,778                  

GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Singapore 3,723                    4,395                    2,502                    17,918                  6,225                    22,313                  
Rest of South East Asia 17,855                  23,525                  42                         75                         17,897                  23,600                  
Africa 96                         -                       62,142                  76,914                  62,238                  76,914                  
Taiwan -                       -                       15,543                  782                       15,543                  782                       
Europe -                       -                       5,805                    -                       5,805                    -                       
Others -                       -                       11,709                  12,728                  11,709                  12,728                  

21,674                  27,920                  97,743                  108,417                119,417                136,337                

 Chartering 
 Shipbuilding and ship repairs and 

maintenance  Total 

Revenue
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APPENDIX F: VALUATION REPORT EXTRACTS
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